
NEVADA STATE BOARD  

of 
DENTAL EXAMINERS 

 

 

 

Board Teleconference Meeting 

 

October 8, 2020 

7:00 p.m. 

 
 

PUBLIC BOOK  



Agenda Item (4)(a)(1)

Draft Minutes:
CE Committee Meeting - 08/25/2020

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 2



Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 1 

1 
2 
3 

PUBLIC MEETING NOTICE & AGENDA FOR THE 4 
CONTINUING EDUCATION COMMITTEE  5 
(Ron Lemon, DMD, (Chair); Elizabeth Park, DDS; Kevin Moore, DDS)6 

7 
Meeting Date & Time 8 9 

Tuesday, August 25, 2020 10 
6:00 p.m. 11 

12 
Video and Teleconferencing was available for this meeting 13 

14 
DRAFT MINUTES 15 

16 
PUBLIC NOTICE:17 18 

**Pursuant to the Governor’s Executive Order 011, there will be no physical location for this meeting** 19 
20 

The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners may hold board meetings via video conference or telephone conference call.  21 
In the event that there are technical difficulties with Zoom, please use the teleconference number (702) 486-5260 / 22 

Collaboration Code 67044 23 24 
Public Comment time is available after roll call (beginning of meeting) and prior to adjournment (end of meeting). Public Comment is limited 25 
to three (3) minutes for each individual. You may provide the Board with written comment to be added to the record.  26 27 
Persons wishing to comment may appear at the scheduled meeting/hearing or may address their comments, data, views, arguments in 28 
written form to: Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners, 6010 S. Rainbow Blvd, A-1, Las Vegas, Nevada 89118; FAX number (702) 486-7046; 29 
e-mail address nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov .  Written submissions should be received by the Board on or before Monday, August 24, 2020 at 3:00 30 
p.m. in order to make copies available to members and the public.31 32 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners may 1) address agenda items out of sequence to accommodate persons appearing before 33 
the Board or to aid the efficiency or effectiveness of the meeting; 2) combine items for consideration by the public body; 3) pull or remove 34 
items from the agenda at any time.  The Board may convene in closed session to consider the character, alleged misconduct, professional 35 
competence or physical or mental health of a person.  See NRS 241.030.  Prior to the commencement and conclusion of a contested case 36 
or a quasi-judicial proceeding that may affect the due process rights of an individual the board may refuse to consider public comment.  37 
See NRS 233B.126.  38 39 
Persons/facilities who want to be on the mailing list must submit a written request every six (6) months to the Nevada State Board of Dental 40 
Examiners at the address listed in the previous paragraph.  With regard to any board meeting or telephone conference, it is possible that an 41 
amended agenda will be published adding new items to the original agenda. Amended Nevada notices will be posted in compliance with 42 
the Open Meeting Law.  43 
We are pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who are disabled and wish to attend the meeting.  If 44 
special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the Board office, at (702) 486-7044, no later than 48 hours prior to the 45 
meeting.  Requests for special arrangements made after this time frame cannot be guaranteed. 46 
Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2) you may contact the Board office at (702) 486-7044, to request supporting materials for the public body or you 47 
may download the supporting materials for the public body from the Board’s website at http://dental.nv.gov.  In addition, the supporting 48 
materials for the public body are available at the Board’s office located at 6010 S Rainbow Blvd, Ste. A-1, Las Vegas, Nevada.49 

50 
Note:  Asterisks (*) “For Possible Action” denotes items on which the Board may take action. 51 
Note:  Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or tabled.52 

53 
54 

/// 55 
56 

/// 57 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 3

mailto:nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov
http://dental.nv.gov/


 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 2 
 

 58 
  1. Call to Order 59 

- Roll call/Quorum 60 
 61 
Committee Member Lemon called the meeting to order at approximately 6:00 p.m., and Executive 62 
Director, Mr. Frank DiMaggio conducted the following roll call:  63 
 64 

Dr. Ron Lemon --------------- PRESENT   
Dr. Elizabeth Park ----------- PRESENT 
Dr. D. Kevin Moore --------- PRESENT 

 65 
Executive Staff: Phil Su, General Counsel; Frank DiMaggio, Executive Director; Sandra Spilsbury, Site 66 
Inspection-CE Coordinator.  67 
 68 
  2. Public Comment: The public comment period is limited to matters specifically noticed on the agenda. No action may 69 

be taken upon the matter raised during public comment unless the matter itself has been specifically included on the 70 
agenda as an action item. Comments by the public may be limited to three minutes as a reasonable time, place and 71 
manner restriction, but may not be limited based upon viewpoint. The Chairperson may allow additional time at his/her 72 
discretion. 73 

 74 
Committee Member Lemon stated that the Committee was in receipt of a high volume of public 75 
comment for the record. He asked that the public please limit this portion of public comment to those 76 
that have new public comment regarding any of the agenda items or for anyone that had not submitted 77 
any public comment for the record.   78 
 79 
Charles Buchannan, a fourth-year dental student at UNLV School of Dental Medicine, commented on 80 
agenda items (5)(c)(d) and (e).  He asked the Committee consider extending the exam period beyond 81 
the December 31, 2020 as it would impact current dental students of the class of 2021, as they have 82 
begun taking portions of the WREB and ADEX exams in 2020, but will not be taking the operative portion 83 
until spring of 2021.   84 
 85 
Dr. Bill Pappas, a current Nevada licensed dentist and President of ADEX, noted that he was present to 86 
answer any questions the committee may have regarding ADEX.   87 
 88 
Dr. Pooja Mehta, DDS stated that she was a class of 2020 dental graduate, and stated that she was 89 
commenting on agenda items (5)(c)(d) and (5)(e), and spoke in favor of acceptance of the 90 
acceptance of both the WREB and ADEX alternative exams. She spoke on her personal experience with 91 
taking the exams during COVID-19 and asked that the Board take into consideration the unique 92 
difficulties students are facing in 2020.   93 
 94 
Antonio Ventura stated that he was the immediate past president for the Southern Nevada Dental 95 
Hygienists Association (SNHDA) and a committee member for the Legislative Committee for the Nevada 96 
Dental Hygienists Association (NDHA).  He read written testimony as it changed slightly from the testimony 97 
he originally submitted in writing.  He stated that the NDHA was in support of the OSCE exam through 98 
WREB as an alternate exam for 2020 CSN and TMCC dental hygiene graduates.  Further, they supported 99 
the elimination of patient based exams for candidates who are graduates of the Commission on Dental 100 
Accredited Dental Hygiene programs.   101 
 102 
Tiffany Richardson stated that she was a member of the CSN Dental Hygiene graduating class of 2020 103 
and added that she was in full support of all ADEX and WREB alternate pathways to licensure; as it would 104 
allow them to adapt to the unique COVID-19 circumstances.  She stated that the current statutes do not 105 
stipulate the use of a patient based clinical exam.  She spoke on the cons of using patient based exams, 106 
and spoke of the benefits of accepting exam alternatives, and how it would greatly benefit the 107 
community to license more dental hygienists to serve the citizens of Nevada.    108 
 109 
Kimberly Grover stated that she was the CSN Student American Dental Hygiene Association President 110 
and was still a student trying to receive a license during the pandemic.  She stated that due to the 111 
multiple delays in meeting the requirements, and a new dental hygiene class and dental assisting classes 112 
starting in the clinic facility cannot support all the needs of the students.  She stated that the schedule is 113 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 4



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 3 
 

continually getting extended in unattainable timeline to take a live patient clinic board scheduled test in 114 
November.  She noted that students and patients are faced with the fear of becoming exposed to 115 
COVID-19.  She spoke in favor of an alternative to the patient based clinical exam that would be safe for 116 
both students and patients, which was the proposed alternative exams, which has been approved in 117 
over 28 states. She felt that both were fair and appropriate ways to test students’ standardized skills.  She 118 
spoke in favor of the board approving the ADEX and WREB alternative exams.  119 
 120 
Benjamin Abrahams commented that he was in favor of agenda (5)(d), and noted that he had 121 
completed portions of the ADEX exam on live patients and another section of the exam was completed 122 
on the CompeDont and attested to the fact that both exam sections were very similar to each other, 123 
and the he did not see a significant difference in testing on a live patient versus a manikin.  He hoped 124 
that the Board would strongly consider approving the alternate exam option from ADEX.   125 
 126 
Morgan Heath commented on agenda item (5)(c)(d) and (e).  She stated that she was a CSN Class of 127 
2020 Dental Hygiene student, and stated that on behalf of the class of 2020 and 2021, she supported the 128 
approval of both the WREB and ADEX alternate exams for full licensure.  She noted that both graduating 129 
classes of 2020 and 2021 were greatly affected by the pandemic.  She noted that the option of a 130 
patient-less based exam would ease the concern of interstate travel of patients and students and the 131 
risks associated with it during the pandemic.  She advocated for the Board to approve and accept the 132 
alternate exams from WREB and ADEX.   133 
 134 
Christine Ho commented that she was addressing (5)(c)(d) and (5)(e).  She noted that she was currently 135 
licensed in California and was in full support of approving the manikin based WREB and ADEX exams.  She 136 
noted that she recently completed the manikin based exams and after practicing for years in another 137 
state, she confidently spoke of the competence she found the manikin based exams offered.  She 138 
vouched that the patient-less based exams were efficient and more than adequate in testing the clinical 139 
skill levels of dentists and dental hygienists from the Class of 2020 seeking licensure.  She spoke in detail 140 
regarding the exam sections and how they compared to a live patient exam.   141 
 142 
 143 
 *3. Chairman’s Report: Ron Lemon, DMD (For Possible Action)  144 
 145 
     *a.  Request to remove agenda item(s) (For Possible Action) 146 
 147 
There were no requests made to remove agenda items.  148 
 149 
     *b.  Approve Agenda (For Possible Action) 150 
 151 
Committee Member Lemon called for a motion.   152 
 153 
MOTION: Committee Member Moore moved to approve the agenda. Committee Member Lemon 154 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  155 
 156 
 157 
  4.     Old Business: (Informational Purposes Only) 158 
 159 
                          a. Consideration and recommendation whether training completed during Oral &  160 
                       Maxillofacial Surgery (OMS) Residency satisfies the training requirements pursuant to NAC  161 
                       631.257(1) (Informational Purposes Only) 162 
 163 
Committee Member Moore stated there appeared to be a bit of info in the regulations already 164 
regarding the training requirements and it discussed having different qualifications.  He stated upon 165 
doing some research of the different programs, there did not appear to be 100% consistency in the OMS 166 
programs that include dermal fillers in the curriculum.   167 
 168 
Committee Member Lemon stated that in looking at the CODA documents for certifying OMS programs, 169 
there was no mention of requirements for standards for dermal or soft tissue fillers.  He concurred with 170 
Committee Member Moore that if a licensee is able to provide proof that their particular program satisfies 171 
the requirements of NAC 631.257, then that would be acceptable.    172 
 173 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 5



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 4 
 

 174 
There was discussion regarding Board approved programs and the criteria that the programs have to 175 
meet in order to be approved.  Ms. Sandra Spilsbury noted that there were currently 4 or 5 approved CE 176 
courses.  It was noted that this was discussion was for informational purposes only.   177 
 178 

MOTION:  Committee Member Moore moved to place this agenda item on the next meeting as 179 
an action item to make a recommendation to the Board.  Committee Member Lemon 180 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  181 

 182 
  *5.       New Business: (For Possible Action) 183 
 184 
           *a. Consideration of approval/rejection of retroactive approval requested by the Pacific  185 
                         Training Institute for Facial Aesthetics for their Level 1, 2, & 4 (total 72-unit program)  186 
                         approved by the Board on April 30, 2020  (For Possible Action) 187 
 188 
Committee Member Lemon asked Ms. Sandra Spilsbury to go over the history of this agenda item.    189 
 190 
Ms. Spilsbury explained that the Pacific Training Institute for Facial Aesthetics (PTIFA) had originally 191 
submitted their program in September 2019 which was placed for consideration on the November 1, 2019 192 
Board meeting agenda; however, the November meeting was cancelled.   She noted further that the 193 
course was placed on the next meeting agenda of January 2020, however, the Board underwent an 194 
unprecedented transition period.  She added that the item was tabled in January so that the course 195 
could be reviewed by the CE Committee, which took place at the CE Committee meeting held in April.  196 
She noted that the CE Committee made the recommendation for approval of the course, which was 197 
presented for Board approval on April 30, 2020.  She further noted that the course was approved by the 198 
Board at its April 30, 2020 meeting.  Ms. Spilsbury noted that PTIFA was now requesting retroactive 199 
approval of their course.   200 
 201 
Committee Member Moore commented that this particular program was approved and passed, 202 
however, the Board possibly could have not accepted the program.  He stated that he did not see the 203 
wisdom in retroactively approving the course for those that completed the course prior to the Board 204 
approving the course program on April 30, 2020.  It was his opinion for the Committee not to approve the 205 
request for retroactive approval of the PTIFA course if taken prior to April 30, 2020. 206 
 207 
There was discussion on clarifying the request retroactive approval of the course due to the fact that the 208 
course was originally scheduled to go before the Board on November 1, 2019, but was delayed in being 209 
considered and potentially approved.  Committee Member Moore stated that it was premature for the 210 
PTIFA to have Nevada licensees complete the course prior to course being approved by the Board.   211 
 212 
Carly Olynyk with PTIFA gave a bit of perspective as to why they made the request for retroactive 213 
approval.  She noted that they had practitioners licensed in other states who are now practicing and 214 
licensed in Nevada that completed their course.  However, the practitioners would like to administer 215 
Botox and dermal fillers in Nevada, but because they took the course prior to it being approved in 216 
Nevada, they are unable to administer in Nevada.   217 
 218 
Mr. DiMaggio clarified for the Committee that the request submitted by PTIFA was asking for retroactive 219 
approval dating back to March of 2017.  220 
 221 
Committee Member Moore expressed his opinion that it would be irresponsible for CE course programs of 222 
any sort which were taken prior to obtaining approval from the Board, to assume that the Board will 223 
approve their course retroactively.  224 
 225 
Carly with PTIFA stated that they have never advertised that their course would be accepted in Nevada 226 
prior to the course being approved.  She clarified that they have simply had previous students take their 227 
course, which is offered in British Columbia, prior to it being approved in Nevada and were asking if the 228 
Board would consider retroactively approving the course.   229 
It was clarified for the Committee that if PTIFA was going to be offering their course in Nevada, they 230 
would need to have a licensed Nevada dentist instruct the course.  However, Ms. Spilsbury noted that the 231 
PTIFA course was currently offered in British Columbia, thus requiring for participants to travel to British 232 
Columbia to attend he course.   233 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 6



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 5 
 

 234 
Committee Member Park expressed that she was in agreement with Dr. Moore that the course should not 235 
be approved for retroactive approval.   236 
 237 

MOTION: Committee Member Moore moved to not approve the retroactive request from PTIFA.  238 
Committee Member Park seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  239 

 240 
                  *b. Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board of Temporary approval  241 
                        and acceptance of the Western Regional Examining Board’s (WREB)  Objective Structured  242 
                        Clinical Examination (OSCE) exam for dental hygiene licensure if completed during the  243 
                        period of May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 – NRS 631.300 (For Possible Action) 244 
 245 
Committee Member Moore inquired how this agenda item reflected the temporary license application 246 
that was already in place.  Mr. DiMaggio stated that the Board approved temporary license for dentists 247 
and dental hygienists, they issued a memorandum regarding same, and also created applications for a 248 
temporary license, which created a pathway to licensure for the class of 2020 graduates. He noted that 249 
the temporary license would be valid until the end of the pandemic as declared by Governor Sisolak.  250 
Committee Member Moore inquired if that temporary license option could extend through 2021, to which 251 
Mr. DiMaggio responded affirmatively.    252 
 253 

MOTION:  Committee Member Moore made the motion that the Board already offers a temporary 254 
license to both dentists and dental hygienists, and therefore did believe there was further 255 
action to take on this agenda item.  Discussion: Mr. DiMaggio clarified for Committee 256 
Member Moore that while he believed Committee Member Moore covered the item, it 257 
was not clear what his motion was.  Committee Member Lemon stated that this was the 258 
beginning of eliminating patients from a board examination.  He noted that there was a 259 
trend nationally to eliminate live patient exams.  Dr. Sharon Osborne from WREB stated 260 
that she was present.  Committee Member Moore stated that the committee received 261 
numerous amounts of comments that many complained that the exam is biased and not 262 
standardized.  He inquired if Ms. Osborne could elaborate on how moving to a manikin 263 
based exam would answer the concerns of students.   264 

 265 
Dr. Osborne stated that the patient based exam was standardized.  She added that while 266 
the patient based exam was not as standardized as the manikin based exam because 267 
they have much more control over the manikin.  However, the benefit of the patient 268 
based exam was that it makes the practice of dentistry much more realistic than any 269 
manikin or selective response exam can be.  She noted that there will always be pros and 270 
cons to different types of exams.   271 
 272 
Committee Member Moore inquired what further competency do the exams really show if 273 
they are manikin based.  Dr. Osborne stated that there are students that have been 274 
deemed competent to graduate the program, however, that there are a small 275 
percentage of candidates who fail the exam multiple times.  She added that those were 276 
the candidates that the patient based exams were screening out and that in an ideal 277 
world, schools would only pass students who were ready to go out and competently 278 
practice, however, that is not the case.    279 
 280 
Committee Member Lemon stated that he was in favor of moving towards a patient-less 281 
exams.  He stated that in his career as an instructor, he has seen many of their top students 282 
fail the exams, while many of the weaker students pass the exams, due to lack of 283 
consistency in the exams.  He stated that simulated exams are consistent from one to 284 
another.   285 
 286 
It was addressed that WREB’s patient-less exam was created rather quickly in response to 287 
the pandemic.  Lengthy discussion ensued regarding the competency concerns of a 288 
patient-less exam, and how would the exam entities evaluate particular sections of the 289 
exam.  There was discussion regarding concerns of undertrained dentists and dental 290 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 7



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 6 
 

hygienists.  Committee Member Lemon noted similar concerns when Hurricane Katrina hit, 291 
and many students were unable to complete their training; however, they were offered 292 
free continuing education courses to assist them in completing their training.  He stated 293 
that while it was not an ideal option, it was necessary given the circumstances.  294 
 295 
Committee Member Moore stated that he would like to make the motion to table agenda 296 
item (5)(b) until the pandemic is over, due to the fact that they do not know when the 297 
pandemic will be over, and because they have a temporary license option that was 298 
already approved by the Board.  Committee Member Park seconded the motion.  299 
Committee Member Lemon opposed the motion; all others in favor of the motion.  Motion 300 
passed.  301 

  302 
 303 
          *c. Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board of Temporary approval     304 
                         and acceptance of the use of manikins by American Board of Dental Examiners’ (ADEX) for  305 
                         the Dental Periodontal Scaling Exercise portion of the ADEX dental exam for dental  306 
                         licensure and for the ADEX dental hygiene clinical examination for dental hygiene  307 
                         licensure if completed during the period of May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 – NRS  308 
                         631.240 and NRS 631.300 (For Possible Action) 309 
 310 
Committee Member Lemon invited Dr. Bill Pappas to speak regarding the ADEX exam.  Dr. Pappas stated 311 
that currently 38 states have approved the ADEX CompeDont exam, which is the dental simulated exam 312 
for restorative.  He added that 18 of the 38 states have accepted the CompeDont beyond the 313 
pandemic.  Dr. Pappas noted that ADEX was the only testing agency that has a simulated tooth that has 314 
caries, affected dentin, enamel, and that no one else offers it.   He spoke on the advantages that the 315 
ADEX exam offers with the use of their CompeDont.  Dr. Pappas addressed Committee Member Park’s 316 
concern of students being tested on anesthesia.  He clarified that candidates are only tested on their 317 
ability to administer local anesthesia and not general anesthesia, which specifically relates to the dental 318 
hygiene exam.   Dr. Pappas discussed the exam section in length and how they test candidates in the 319 
different areas, and noted how their patient-less exam was not created specifically due to the 320 
pandemic, and that the CompeDont has been in development for three (3) years.  He noted that the 321 
manikin for dental and dental hygiene periodontics, and dental hygiene scaling was developed in 322 
response to the pandemic, but did not see ADEX extending it permanently beyond the pandemic.   323 
Committee Member Moore asked Mr. Su if there was anything in the statutes or regulations that state the 324 
exam has to be a live patient based exam.  Mr. Su stated that the laws says a ‘clinical exam approved 325 
by the Board’.   Committee Member Moore inquired if the laws clearly state that it must be a patient 326 
based exam.  Mr. Su responded that ultimately it would be at the discretion of the Board to determine if 327 
they would like to accept only a live patient exam or a patient-less exam.   328 
 329 

MOTION:  Committee Member Park made the motion to recommend that the language is clear 330 
that the Board can accept the alternate exam.  Committee Member Lemon seconded 331 
the motion.  Discussion: Committee Member Moore asked that if this motion passed how 332 
would it be different than agenda item (5)(b).  Committee Member Park asked if it was 333 
required that the OSCE portion be accepted by the Nevada statutes.  Dr. Pappas stated 334 
that the OSCE exam is listed in the statute, under the dental simulated clinical 335 
examination – which was the ADEX computer based examination.   Committee Member 336 
Park clarified that she was referring to NRS 631.300, and whether or not it was clear in the 337 
statute.  Dr. Pappas stated that it was in the language, in the sense that the Board had 338 
the discretion to approve the ADEX or WREB exams.  Mr. Su referred the Committee to 339 
NAC 631.090, and read the language into the record.  He states that the language of the 340 
NRS 631.240 requires Board approval for ADEX exam, and just requires a certificate of 341 
presentation for the WREB exam.  There was discussion regarding accepting a patient-less 342 
based exam during the pandemic, and how it was believed that the statute was 343 
designed for the Board to determine the exam types they would accept for permanent 344 
license and not necessarily for a temporary licensure.   Mr. Su noted that the agenda item 345 
they are discussing is time limited.  Committee Member Moore inquired if agenda (5)(b) 346 
and (c) were the same.  Mr. Su that section (b) of NRS 631.240 states that the ADEX exam 347 
has to be approved by the Board, but requires that WREB exam applicants must provide 348 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 8



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 7 
 

a certificate from WREB showing that they have passed the WREB clinical examination.  349 
However, that upon reviewing NAC 631.090, it requires that the Board approve both the 350 
ADEX and WREB exams.  He noted that there was an inconsistency with the NAC and the 351 
NRS.  Committee Member Park reiterated her motion to accept the use of ADEX clinical 352 
exam for hygiene licensure during the period of May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 353 
pursuant to NRS 631.240 and NAC 631.300.  Committee Member Lemon seconded the 354 
motion.    355 
Discussion: Mr. DiMaggio clarified that the motion only approved the ADEX dental 356 
hygiene exam and did not the dental portion of the exam.  Committee Member Park 357 
stated that her motion covered the portion of the agenda item she was comfortable 358 
with.  Mr. DiMaggio noted that if the Committee did not make a motion regarding the 359 
dental portion of the agenda item, then the Committee would have to reconvene and 360 
revisit the agenda item.   361 
 362 
MOTION: Committee Member Lemon made the motion to recommend the approval of 363 
the acceptance of the use of manikins by ADEX for dental periodontal scaling portion of 364 
the ADEX exam for the period as stated.  Motion failed for lack of second.   365 
 366 
Committee Member Moore stated that he was having difficulty understanding the issue 367 
with the motion, and why Mr. DiMaggio was requesting for another motion.   Mr. 368 
DiMaggio explained that the agenda item noted both the dental and dental hygiene 369 
exams, however, that the motion made by Committee Member Park only addressed the 370 
dental hygiene portion of the exam and did not include or cover the dental exam 371 
portion of the agenda item.    372 
 373 
Committee Member Park indicated that she read the statute and made her motion 374 
based on the statute, and not necessarily on the agenda item as written.  Mr. DiMaggio 375 
stated that in effort to clarify things for the record, the agenda item addressed the use of 376 
manikins as it applied to both dental licensure and dental hygiene licensure.   He 377 
explained that her motion excluded the manikin from the dental portion of the exam.  378 
Committee Member Park stated that she did not use the term ‘manikin’ because her 379 
motion was based on the statute, and therefore did not understand why her motion was 380 
creating an issue.  Mr. DiMaggio stated that he drafted the agenda items, and that the 381 
intent of the agenda items, especially 5c, was as he stated the use of manikins for both 382 
dental and dental hygiene exams; therefore, if the vote was for something other than 383 
what is listed on the agenda, then it could possibly be an open meeting law violation.  384 
Mr. Su concurred with Mr. DiMaggio’s statement.  Committee Member Park amended her 385 
motion to approve agenda item 5(c) in its entirety.  Committee Member Lemon 386 
seconded the motion.  Committee Member Lemon noted that they would need to 387 
withdraw the original motion in order to accept all of agenda item (5)(c). Mr. Su 388 
responded affirmatively, and stated that the current motion needed to move forward.  389 
All were in favor, motion passed.  390 

 391 
 392 
          *d. Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board of Temporary approval   393 
                        and acceptance of the restorative procedures in the American Board of Dental Examiners’  394 
                        (ADEX) exam for dental licensure to be completed on either a live patient or the  395 
                        CompeDont tooth during the period of May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 – NRS  396 
                        631.240 (For Possible Action) 397 
 398 
Committee Member Lemon inquired if the Committee would like to quickly move forward with this 399 
agenda item as it was similar to the previous agenda item, or if the Committee would like to table this 400 
item for a future meeting.  He called for a motion.   401 
 402 

MOTION:  Committee Member Moore made motion to accept (5)(d) in its entirety as stated on the 403 
agenda.  Committee Member Moore inquired what would transpire after the December 404 
31, 2020 date, if the approval would become null and void.  Mr. Phil Su clarified that the 405 
exam alternative option expired upon the date noted, unless the Board created a new 406 
agenda item at a future meeting to extend the time period.   Committee Member Lemon 407 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 9



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 8 
 

seconded the motion.  Committee Member Park opposed; all others were in favor of the 408 
motion.  Motion passed.  409 

 410 
*e. Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board of Temporary approval and 411 

acceptance of the alternatives to the current Western Regional Examining Board’s (WREB) 412 
exam for dental licensure, including WREB Dental Licensing Examination COVID-19 Options 413 
for 2020, if completed during the period of May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 – NRS 414 
631.240 (For Possible Action) 415 

 416 
*f. Consideration and possible recommendation of CE Broker Technical Proposal  417 
     (For Possible Action) 418 
 419 

Committee Member Lemon stated that due to time constraints, the Committee would need to table this 420 
item, and have another meeting scheduled.  He called for a motion to table agenda items (5)(e) and 421 
(5)(f).   422 
 423 

MOTION:  Committee Member Moore made the motion to table agenda items (5)(e) and (5)(f).  424 
Committee Member Park seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.   425 

 426 
 427 
 6. Public Comment:  This public comment period is for any matter that is within the jurisdiction of the public body.  No 428 

action may be taken upon the matter raised during public comment unless the matter itself has been specifically included 429 
on the agenda as an action item.  The Chairperson of the Board will impose a time limit of three (3) minutes.  The Chairperson 430 
may allow additional time at his/her discretion. 431 

 432 
Ryan Hunter, a dental student, took the manikin WREB boards and is curious how they expect him to 433 
practice in Nevada when the dentist that wants him to practice has not been licensed for 5 years, and 434 
therefore has no way to practice because of that provision in the temporary license.  He noted that they 435 
approved the ADEX exam for temporary licensure but they did not approve the WREB exam for 436 
temporary licensure.  Committee Member Moore stated that item was tabled, however, that the Board 437 
has the ultimate decision. He commented that he and many others have already waited a long time for 438 
the Board to make a decision.    439 
 440 
Randy Wells commented that there were many supporters for the WREB and ADEX manikin based exams, 441 
and noted that if they looked at the current times they are in, it was hard for them to have a patient 442 
based exam to base licensure off of.  He stated that eventually they were going to have to start looking 443 
at patient-less based exams for the foreseeable future.  He commented that he took the WREB exam, 444 
and described what the exam entailed, and felt that the level of competence was apparent in all that 445 
they had to complete for the exam.  He asked that the Committee reconsider their decisions this 446 
evening, as it is hindering him from practicing in Nevada, and with all of the delays, it is inevitable that he 447 
will need to look at another state for licensure and employment, though he wishes to practice in Nevada.  448 
He stated that with all of the delays, the Board is hindering recent graduates from getting a license.  He 449 
stated that unless an amendment is made, then he cannot qualify for temporary licensure since his 450 
potential employer has not been licensed for 5 years.   451 
 452 
Charles Buchannan stated that he had a lot of feedback and the Board would need to return to him for  453 
comment.   454 
 455 
Kimberly, a CSN dental hygiene student, stated that the timeline of 90 days after the pandemic is lifted by 456 
the Governor did not work for them since they would not have time to screen a patient, and that the 457 
ADEX manikin exam that was just recommended for approval did not have any available exams offered 458 
after the deadline of December 31, 2020; that they would not be able to obtain a temporary license 459 
since they cannot graduate until December.  She noted that their only option was to take the WREB 460 
OSCE exam.  She implored the Committee members to please reconsider their decision, since if they do 461 
not, they will not be able to obtain a license.     462 
Pooja Mehta commented that she would like to support her dental colleagues and stated that the 463 
temporary license does not help them or potential employers, such as her, if the employer has not been 464 
licensed for 5 years.  She asked that the Committee meet again quickly to address the WREB exams as it 465 
would hinder students trying to obtain licensure.      466 
 467 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 10



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – CE Committee Meeting – August 25, 2020 Page 9 
 

Stephanie, a dental hygiene student of the class of 2020, stated that the temporary license as it stands 468 
requires them to get a clinical exam within 90 days of the end of the State of Emergency.  She stated that 469 
the logistics behind that do not work very well, since the exams are only given one time per year, per 470 
location; and that the ability to get in within 90 days is difficult.  She noted that they were originally 471 
planning to sign up in January for the exam offered in July, just to give the Committee Members an idea 472 
of the timeline and the issues they’ll most likely face with the 90 day requirement they’ve placed on the 473 
temporary licenses.   She stated that she supported the Board accepting the OSCE exam for both the 474 
WREB and ADEX.  She went on to discuss the available portions of the WREB and ADEX exams and their 475 
timelines.    476 
 477 
Kent Horsley commented that he agreed with his other colleagues, that the stipulation of requiring a 478 
licensed dentist of 5 years in order to supervise temporary license holders is creating a lot issues for 479 
students graduating this year.   He noted that students complete their programs with a letter of 480 
completion from the school and spoke about the concern the Committee has with schools graduating 481 
students who may not be competent and ready to be out in practice.   He spoke about the exams and 482 
the hardships that graduates are and will be facing with the high standards the Board is setting, and the 483 
issues the graduates are facing.   484 
 485 
Dr. Aimee Abittan stated that she is a practicing dentist in Nevada, and spoke in favor of a patient-less 486 
based exam for permanent licensure, and that it should be considered as an ethical issue.  She stated 487 
that she would like to see the members of the committee do research into why it is being requested – the 488 
acceptance of patient-less exams, especially in the current situation in trying to find patient based 489 
exams.  She commented that the temporary licensure that is being offered is cumbersome and difficult to 490 
satisfy as far as finding someone who will be able to supervise 24/7 while practicing.  491 
 492 
Ben Abrahams, a dental student of the graduating class of 2020, asked for clarification on the agenda 493 
item (5)(d), if an applicant completes the exams during May 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020, will they be 494 
granted full unrestricted licensure or temporary licensure.  His concern with temporary licensure is how 495 
cumbersome it is finding a dentist that meets the temporary license requirement, and noted that he has 496 
been searching for a dentist that meets the requirements for some time and has not been successful.  He 497 
urged the Board to accept ADEX and WREB manikin based exams during this time for full licensure.     498 
 499 
Charles Buchannan he stated that he understood that there was period where the Board did not have a 500 
quorum of its members, and noted that he would try to be as respectful as possible with his comments.  501 
He stated that the information regarding both ADEX and WREB had been available since April, and the 502 
information has been accessible for several months.  He did not understand that why after all the months 503 
during the pandemic, the Board is still unclear on the exam matters, since the Board did not need a 504 
quorum to research and review the information about the WREB and ADEX exams.  He asked how much 505 
more time the Board needed to review the information, since the graduates of 2020 have run out of their 506 
time and their livelihoods were at the mercy of the Board.     507 
 508 
 7. Announcements 509 
 510 
No announcements were made.   511 
 512 
*8. Adjournment (For Possible Action) 513 
 514 
Committee Member Lemon called for a motion to adjourn.  515 
 516 
MOTION: Committee Member Moore moved to adjourn the meeting at approximately 7:54 p.m. 517 
Committee Member Lemon seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  518 
 519 

Respectfully Submitted:  520 
 521 

______________________________________ 522 
Frank DiMaggio, Executive Director 523 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 11



Agenda Item (4)(a)(2)

Draft Minutes:
IC Committee Meeting - 08/26/2020

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 12



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – IC Committee Meeting – August 26, 2020 Page 1 
 

 1 
 2 
 3 

NOTICE OF AGENDA & TELECONFERENCE MEETING FOR THE  4 
INFECTION CONTROL COMMITTEE  5 

(Elizabeth Park DDS, (Chair); Ron Lemon DMD; Caryn Solie, RDH) 6 
 7 

Meeting Date & Time 8 
 9 

Wednesday, August 26, 2020  10 
6:00 p.m.  11 

 12 
Zoom Video and Teleconferencing was available for this meeting 13 

 14 
DRAFT MINUTES 15 

 16 
PUBLIC NOTICE:  17 

 18 
**Pursuant to the Governor’s Executive Order 011, there will be no physical location for this meeting** 19 

 20 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners may hold board meetings via video conference or telephone conference call.  21 

In the event that there are technical difficulties with Zoom, please use the teleconference number (702) 486-5260 / 22 
Collaboration Code 67044 23 

 24 
Public Comment time is available after roll call (beginning of meeting) and prior to adjournment (end of meeting).  Public Comment is limited to three 25 
(3) minutes for each individual. You may provide the Board with written comment to be added to the record.   26 
 27 
Persons wishing to comment may appear at the scheduled meeting/hearing or may address their comments, data, views, arguments in written form 28 
to: Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners, 6010 S. Rainbow Blvd, A-1, Las Vegas, Nevada 89118; FAX number (702) 486-7046; e-mail address 29 
nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov .  Written submissions should be received by the Board on or before Tuesday, August 25, 2020 at 4:00 p.m. in order to make 30 
copies available to members and the public.   31 
 32 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners may 1) address agenda items out of sequence to accommodate persons appearing before the Board 33 
or to aid the efficiency or effectiveness of the meeting; 2) combine items for consideration by the public body; 3) pull or remove items from the 34 
agenda at any time.  The Board may convene in closed session to consider the character, alleged misconduct, professional competence or physical 35 
or mental health of a person.  See NRS 241.030.  Prior to the commencement and conclusion of a contested case or a quasi-judicial proceeding that 36 
may affect the due process rights of an individual the board may refuse to consider public comment.  See NRS 233B.126.   37 
 38 
Persons/facilities who want to be on the mailing list must submit a written request every six (6) months to the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners at 39 
the address listed in the previous paragraph.  With regard to any board meeting or telephone conference, it is possible that an amended agenda will 40 
be published adding new items to the original agenda. Amended Nevada notices will be posted in compliance with the Open Meeting Law.   41 
We are pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who are disabled and wish to attend the meeting.  If special 42 
arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the Board office, at (702) 486-7044, no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Requests for 43 
special arrangements made after this time frame cannot be guaranteed. 44 
Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2) you may contact the Board office at (702) 486-7044, to request supporting materials for the public body or you may 45 
download the supporting materials for the public body from the Board’s website at http://dental.nv.gov.  In addition, the supporting materials for the 46 
public body are available at the Board’s office located at 6010 S Rainbow Blvd, Ste. A-1, Las Vegas, Nevada.47 

 48 
Note:  Asterisks (*) “For Possible Action” denotes items on which the Board may take action. 49 
Note:  Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or tabled.50 

 51 
     52 
/// 53 
 54 
/// 55 
 56 
/// 57 
 58 
/// 59 
 60 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 13

mailto:nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov
http://dental.nv.gov/


 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – IC Committee Meeting – August 26, 2020 Page 2 
 

1. Call to Order 61 
- Roll call/Quorum 62 

 63 
Committee Member Park called the meeting to order at approximately 6:01 p.m., and Mr. Frank 64 
DiMaggio conducted the following roll call:  65 
 66 

Dr. Elizabeth Park, DDS (Chair) Present 
Dr. Ronald Lemon, DMD Present 

Ms. Caryn Solie, RDH Present 
 67 
Executive Staff: Phil Su, General Counsel; Frank DiMaggio, Executive Director; Angelica Bejar, Public 68 
Information-Travel Administrator; Sandra Spilsbury, CE … Coordinator.  69 
 70 
  2. Public Comment:  The public comment period is limited to matters specifically noticed on the agenda.  No action may 71 

be taken upon the matter raised during public comment unless the matter itself has been specifically included on the 72 
agenda as an action item.  Comments by the public may be limited to three minutes as a reasonable time, place and 73 
manner restriction, but may not be limited based upon viewpoint.  The Chairperson may allow additional time at his/her 74 
discretion. 75 

 76 
Ms. Samantha Sturges, RDH commented that she was currently employed as a part-time IC Inspector for 77 
the Board, and that she was available to offer any feedback to the Committee.    78 
 79 
Dr. Aimee Abittan commented that Committee Member Park’s connection was choppy and stated that 80 
she should perhaps reconnect.   81 
 82 
The Committee experienced inappropriate interruptions during the meeting, which caused the 83 
Chairwoman to ask that committee take a brief recess.   84 
 85 
The Committee reconvened at 6:18 p.m. and roll call was re-established.  All Committee Members were 86 
present. 87 
 88   89 
 *3. Chairwoman’s Report: Elizabeth Park, DDS (For Possible Action)  90 
 91 
 *a.  Request to remove agenda item(s) (For Possible Action) 92 
 93 
 94 
 *b.  Approve Agenda (For Possible Action) 95 
 96 
 97 
*4. Consideration, discussion, and possible recommendation to the Board regarding Senior Smiles 98 

Program’s request for clarification if the Infection Control Inspection requirement for the Senior 99 
Smiles Program, approved by the Board on March 12, 2020, would be required if only utilizing single 100 
use instruments (For Possible Action) 101 

 102 
  103 
*5.     Consideration and Discussion to recommend Approval/Rejection of Public Health Dental Hygiene     104 
          Program to the Board (For Possible Action)               105 

 106 
       *a. Heavenly Smiles Mobile Dental Program (For Possible Action)  107 

 108 
 109 
*6.     Consideration and Discussion to recommend Approval/Rejection of part-time Infection Control 110 
          Inspector Employee to the Board (For Possible Action) 111 
 112 
                    *a. Stacia M Dimmitt, RDH  113 
        *b. Jennifer A Nightingale, RDH 114 
 115 
*7.      Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board regarding the infection control  116 

inspector employee application/process (For Possible Action) 117 
 118 
 119 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 14



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – IC Committee Meeting – August 26, 2020 Page 3 
 

*8.      Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board regarding calibration training (For       120 
Possible Action) 121 

 122 
 123 
*9.      Review, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board concerning the August 4, 2020    124 

CDC Guidance on Dental Settings (For Possible Action) 125 
 126 
 127 
*10.    Consideration, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board regarding of offices found to    128 

be non-compliant with Infection Control requirements (For Possible Action) 129 
 130 
 131 
*11.    Consideration, discussion and possible recommendations to the Board regarding the parameters to 132 

be set for non-compliant offices (For Possible Action) 133 
 134 
 135 
 12. Public Comment:  This public comment period is for any matter that is within the jurisdiction of the public body.  No 136 

action may be taken upon the matter raised during public comment unless the matter itself has been specifically included 137 
on the agenda as an action item.  The Chairperson of the Board will impose a time limit of three (3) minutes.  The Chairperson 138 
may allow additional time at his/her discretion. 139 

  140 
 141 
 13. Announcements 142 
 143 
 144 
*14. Adjournment (For Possible Action) 145 
 146 
Chairwoman Park offered her apologies, and called for the meeting be adjourned and rescheduled due 147 
to unfortunate interruptions by public participants.   148 
 149 
MOTION: Committee Member Park made the motion to adjourn the meeting at approximately 6:19 p.m.  150 
Committee Member Solie seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.   151 
 152 

  153 
Respectfully submitted by: 154 

 155 
________________________________________________ 156 

Frank DiMaggio, Executive Director 157 
 158 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 15



Agenda Item (6)(a)

Advisory Opinion: 
Pursuant to NAC 631.220(2), can a dental 

assistant administer a topical fluoride, 
specifically Silver Diamine Fluoride

- Dr. James Mann

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 16



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 17



Agenda item (6)(b)

NAC 631.257(1):
OMS Residency Training Requirements

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 18



 NAC 631.257  Administration of certain neuromodulators related 

to Clostridium botulinum and dermal or soft tissue fillers: Required training; 

submission of proof of completion of training and certain other information with 
application for renewal. (NRS 631.190, 631.330, 631.391)   

 

A holder of a license to practice dentistry who, pursuant to NRS 454.217, injects a 

neuromodulator that is derived from Clostridium botulinum or that is biosimilar to or 

the bioequivalent of such a neuromodulator or who, pursuant to NRS 629.086, injects 

a dermal or soft tissue filler, must: 

     1.  Successfully complete a didactic and hands-on course of study in the injection 

of such neuromodulators and fillers that: 

     (a) Is at least 24 total hours in length; 

     (b) Includes at least 4 hours of didactic instruction and at least 4 hours of hands-on 

instruction in each of the following subjects: 

          (1) The use of neuromodulators that are derived from Clostridium botulinum or 

that are biosimilar to or the bioequivalent of such neuromodulators in the treatment of 

temporomandibular joint disorder and myofascial pain syndrome; 

          (2) The use of neuromodulators that are derived from Clostridium botulinum or 

that are biosimilar to or the bioequivalent of such neuromodulators for dental and 

facial esthetics; and 

          (3) The use of dermal and soft tissue fillers for dental and facial esthetics; and 

     (c) Is approved by the Board. 

     2.  Include with the application for the renewal of his or her license: 

     (a) Proof acceptable to the Board that he or she has successfully completed the 

course of study required by subsection 1; and 

     (b) A statement certifying that each neuromodulator that has been or will be 

injected by the holder pursuant to NRS 454.217, and each dermal or soft tissue filler 

that has been or will be injected by the holder pursuant to NRS 629.086, is approved 

for use in dentistry by the United States Food and Drug Administration. 

     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R044-17, eff. 5-16-2018) 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 19

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec391
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-454.html#NRS454Sec217
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-629.html#NRS629Sec086
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-454.html#NRS454Sec217
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-629.html#NRS629Sec086


Agenda Item (7)(b)

Advisory Opinion: 
Pursuant to NAC 631.258(1)(b), is a dentist 

allowed to inject neuromodulators and dermal 
fillers in the head and neck region

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 20



From: Board of Dental Examiners
To: Angelica L. Bejar
Cc: Frank DiMaggio
Subject: FW: Request for an Advisory Opinion
Date: Wednesday, September 2, 2020 11:02:59 AM

From: Robert Talley [mailto:  
Sent: Wednesday, September 2, 2020 10:54 AM
To: Board of Dental Examiners
Subject: Request for an Advisory Opinion
 

 

September 2, 2020

 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd. Ste. 1
Las Vegas, NV 89118
 

The Nevada Dental Association is requesting an advisory opinion on NAC 631.258 1b which
states:

 1.  A dentist who is authorized, pursuant to NRS 454.217, to inject a neuromodulator that is
derived from Clostridium botulinum or that is biosimilar to or the bioequivalent of such a
neuromodulator or who is authorized, pursuant to NRS 629.086, to inject a dermal or soft
tissue filler, and who has satisfied the requirements of NAC 631.257 shall not:
     (a) Administer such an injection to a person other than a patient of record; or
     (b) Inject such a neuromodulator or filler at an injection site that is outside the oral cavity,
maxillofacial area or the adjacent and associated structures of the person.
 
Our question is this: Can a dentist with the proper training as required by the regulation inject
a neuromodulator derived from Clostridium botulinum, a biosimilar/ bioequivalent
neuromodulator or a dermal filler into an area outside of the oral cavity?
The regulation seems to say that injections would be allowed in the maxillofacial area and
associated structures which are outside the oral cavity.
Dentists have called the NSBDE office and have been told that they cannot inject outside the
oral cavity.
The Nevada Dental Association believes that the NSBDE should clarify that dentists are
allowed to inject these neuromodulators and dermal fillers in the head and neck region.
 
Robert H. Talley DDS
Executive Director
Nevada Dental Association

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 21

mailto:nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov
mailto:abejar@nsbde.nv.gov
mailto:fdimaggio@nsbde.nv.gov
file:///C:/Users/Boss/Documents/Legislative/2020%20Interim/NRS/NRS-454.html#NRS454Sec217
file:///C:/Users/Boss/Documents/Legislative/2020%20Interim/NRS/NRS-629.html#NRS629Sec086
file:///C:/Users/Boss/Documents/Legislative/2020%20Interim/Botox%20Regulations/NAC_%20CHAPTER%20631%20-%20DENTISTRY%20AND%20DENTAL%20HYGIENE.html#NAC631Sec257


Agenda Item (7)(d)

Advisory Opinion: 
If a Dental Healthcare Provider can instruct 

parent/guardian to apply single unit of fluoride 
varnish to their child's teeth through a 

synchronous teledentistry platform

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 22



Nevada Board of Dental Examiners 
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A͕ Ste͘ ϭ ͻ Las Vegas͕ NV ϴϵϭϭϴ 
(702) 486-ϳϬϰϰ ͻ ;ϴϬϬͿ DDS-EXAM ͻ Faǆ ;ϳϬϮͿ ϰϴϲ-7046 

 

REVISED 1/2014 

 

PETITION FOR ADVISORY OPINION 

Applicant/Licensee:  Date:  

Address:  Suite No.:  

City:  State:  Zip Code:  

Telephone: Fax:  Email:  
 
 

In the matter of the petition for an advisory opinion of NRS & NAC Chapter 631: 

This request is for clarification of the following statue, regulation, or order: 
(Identify the particular aspect thereof to which the request is made.) 
Note: If you require additional space you may attach separate pages to the petition form. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The substance and nature of this request is as follows: 
(S˖a˖e clearl˛ and conci˕el˛ pe˖i˖ioner͐˕ q˗e˕˖ion.) 
Note: If you require additional space you may attach separate pages to the petition form. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

(Please submit any additional supporting documentation with the petition form) 
 

Wherefore, applicant/licensee requests that the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners grant this 
petition and issue an advisory opinion in this matter. 

 

 Applicant/Licensee Signature 
 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 23

Antonina Capurro
Antonina Capurro

Antonina Capurro
NRS 631.215, NRS 631.287, and NRS 631.310

Antonina Capurro
Following a virtual oral health screening or limited dental exam, is it appropriate for a parent to paint a single unit dose of fluoride varnish to their child’s teeth if they are being supervised and instructed in real-time by a Nevada licensed dental practitioner (ie. dentist, dental hygienists, and/or dental hygienists that holds a public health endorsement) through a synchronous teledentistry platform.

Fluoride varnish applied in this way could be part of a virtual home visiting model that introduces children and their families to preventive oral health services, increases oral health literacy, reinforces the concept of the dental home, and improves daily oral hygiene practices. 

Attached is a project proposal that would utilize the virtual application of fluoride varnish. 



Antonina Capurro
August 14, 2020



Agenda Item 7(e)

Senior Smiles:
Request for Clarification 
regarding IC Inspection

Program previously approved  by Board March 12, 2020

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 24



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 25



Senior Smiles PHE Program Information 

Program previously approved by Board 
on 03/12/2020

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 26



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 27



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 28



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 29



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 30



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 31



Agenda Item 7(f)

PHE Program: 
Heavenly Smiles Mobile 

Dental Program

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 32



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 33



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 34



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 35



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 36



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 37



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 38



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 39



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 40



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 41



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 42



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 43



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 44



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 45



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 46



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 47



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 48



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 49



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 50



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 51



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 52



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 53



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 54



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 55



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 56



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 57



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 58



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 59



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 60



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 61



Agenda Item (7)(g)(1):

Application for part-time  IC Inspector:
Stacia Dimmitt, RDH

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 62



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 63



Agenda Item (7)(g)(2):

Application for part-time  IC Inspector:
Jennifer Nightingale, RDH

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 64



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 65



Proposed Draft/Changes to
IC Inspector Application

Agenda Item (7)(h):

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 66



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 67



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 68



Current Application for IC 
Inspector

Agenda Item (7)(h): 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 69



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 70



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 71



Agenda item (7)(i)(1):

08/04/2020 
CDC Dental Settings 

Guidelines

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 72



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 73



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 74



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 75



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 76



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 77



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 78



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 79



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 80



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 81



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 82



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 83



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 84



Agenda Item (7)(i)(2):

CDC Guidelines • August 28, 2020

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 85



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 86



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 87



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 88



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 89



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 90



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 91



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 92



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 93



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 94



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 95



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 96



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 97



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 98



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 99



Agenda item (7)(j)(1):

Dr. Kerry Davis - Approval of CE Courses
• Dental Records

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 100



 

Dental Records: Best Practices for Information Management and 
Retention 
Course Contents 
Course Author(s): Wilhemina Leeuw, MS, CDA 
 

Course Author(s): Wilhemina Leeuw, MS, CDA 

CE Credits: 2 Hour(s) 

Intended Audience: Dentists, Dental Hygienists, Dental Assistants, Office Managers, Dental 
Students, Dental Hygiene Students, Dental Assistant Students 

Date Course Online: 07/01/2017 

Last Revision Date: 08/18/2020 

Course Expiration Date: 08/17/2023 

Cost: Free 

Method: Self-instructional 

AGD Subject Code(s): 159 

 

5 / 5 

1 (Read Reviews) 

Write Review 

Introduction 
Dental records are a significant component of completing the patient’s standard of care. Dental 
records have evolved significantly due to federal laws and technological advancements. The record 
has transformed to an electronic record that must be effectively maintained, properly retained and 
ultimately protected on the behalf of the patient. 

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 

• The author reports no conflicts of interest associated with this course. 

ADA CERP Recognized Provider 

The Procter & Gamble Company is an ADA CERP Recognized Provider. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 101

https://www.dentalcare.com/en-us/professional-education/wilhemina-leeuw
https://www.dentalcare.com/en-us/professional-education/wilhemina-leeuw
https://www.dentalcare.com/en-us/professional-education/ce-courses/ce532#ReviewSection
https://www.dentalcare.com/en-us/professional-education/ce-courses/write-review?cid=%7bDEA9141C-4043-4018-AB45-E0282155E186%7d


ADA CERP is a service of the American Dental Association to assist dental professionals in 
identifying quality providers of continuing dental education. ADA CERP does not approve or endorse 
individual courses or instructors, nor does it imply acceptance of credit hours by boards of dentistry. 

Concerns or complaints about a dental CE provider may be directed to the provider or to ADA CERP 
at: 
http://www.ada.org/cerp 

 

Approved PACE Program Provider 

  

THE PROCTER & GAMBLE COMPANY 

Nationally Approved PACE Program Provider for FAGD/MAGD credit. 

Approval does not imply acceptance by any regulatory authority or AGD endorsement. 

8/1/2017 to 7/31/2021 

Provider ID# 211886 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 102

http://www.ada.org/375.aspx
http://www.ada.org/cerp


Agenda Item (7)(j)(2):

Dr. Kerry Davis - CE Course
• Risk Management

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 103



 

Academy – Dental Learning & OSHA Training (ADL) is an ADA CERP Recognized provider. ADA CERP is a service 

of the American Dental Association to assist dental professionals in identifying quality providers of continuing dental 

education. ADA CERP does not approve or endorse individual courses or instructors, nor does it imply acceptance of 

credit hours by boards of dentistry. Concerns or Complaints about a CE provider may be directed to the provider or to 

ADA CERP at www.ada.org/cerp. Conflict of Interest Disclosure: ADL does not accept promotional or commercial 

funding in association with its courses. In order to promote quality and scientific integrity, ADL's evidence-based 

course content is developed independent of commercial interests. Refund Policy: If not 100% satisfied with your 

courses, contact our office by telephone (800) 522-1207 or email, info@dentallearning.org for a full refund. 

Dental Board of California Registered Provider (RP5631). Click here for our approval certificate. 
 

02-5631-17030 (Video): Risk Management - Dental Recordkeeping and 
Documentation 

Course Abstract: 

Contact Hours (CE): The Academy of Dental Learning and OSHA Training, LLC, designates this 
activity for 2 continuing education credits (2 CEs). 
Cost: $30.00 
Questions? Contact Us: Phone: 800-522-1207, Fax: 800-886-3009, or Email: 
cesupport@dentallearning.org 
Published: June 2011 
Revised: December 2017 
Expires:December 2020 
Format: Video Lecture - 101 minutes 
Course Instructor: Philip Barbell, DDS 
No conflicts of interest are reported by the author or by educational planning committee members. 

Educational Objectives 
• Define the dental record. 
• Describe how to change the dental record. 
• List items in the dental record. 
• Describe how HIPPA, confidentiality and security effect handling of the dental record. 

Course Description 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 104

http://www.ada.org/cerp
mailto:info@dentallearning.org
https://www.dentallearning.org/approval-certificate.jpg


Dental Record Keeping is an important cornerstone of any modern dental practice. The dental 
professional must be precise and consistent with the recording evaluations, diagnoses, treatment 
progress notes, patient concerns, and confidentiality on the patient’s permanent record. This 4 part 
video series, with author and lecturer, Philip R. Barbell, DDS, gives a comprehensive overview of all 
aspects of dental record keeping. Dr. Barbell covers crucial elements of the permanent dental record 
and teaches how to record content in a fashion which eliminates error and exposure to liability. The 
course reviews how to manage and prevent malpractice situations by keeping accurate records. The 
ownership of the dental record is also discussed and how to make changes without compromising 
dental record integrity in the event of litigation. This course is about the creation of best practice 
methods to create complete, concise, and accurate records for your office. Additionally, HIPAA and 
issues surrounding confidentiality are covered in detail. 

This course in Dental Record Keeping is an excellent review for seasoned professionals and suitable 
for training those new to a dental office practice environment. 

Course Lecturer: 
Philip R. Barbell, DDS, FAGD, FACD, FICD 

Dr. Barbell had been a practicing general dentist in New Jersey for 38 years. He is now Director of 
Risk Management for Dentist’s Advantage and serves on the board of the National Society of Dental 
Practitioners. 

He has been involved in organized dentistry at the local, state and national levels, having served as 
President of Southern Dental Society of New Jersey and New Jersey Dental Association. He has been 
involved in the insurance arena for his entire professional career and has served as either a board 
member or officer of several dental insurance entities. 

Dr. Barbell has been directly involved at the state and national level on dental association committees 
dealing with dental plans for over 25 years. He has also been involved in the dental liability area for 
over 25 years, having served for 11 years as President and Chairman of the Board of a national dentist 
owned and controlled malpractice insurance company. Dr. Barbell is a member of Southern Dental 
Society of New Jersey, New Jersey Dental Association and the American Dental Association. He is 
also a Fellow of the Academy of General Dentistry, the American College of Dentists and the 
International College of Dentists. 

How to Take This Course 
Click on the logo below to open the course video and study materials. Study the course then return to 
this page and click to Take the Exam. Upon successful completion of the exam you will be asked to 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 105



register and pay over a secure connection. Your exam will grade automatically and your certificate 
will display for you to save and/or print for your records. 

Contact Hours: 2.00 
Price: $30.00 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 106



Agenda item (7)(j)(3):

Dr. Kerry Davis - CE Course
• Pain Control, Opioid Prescribing, & 

Substance Abuse Prevention

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 107



PAIN CONTROL, OPIOID PRESCRIBING, AND 

SUBSTANCE ABUSE PREVENTION 

 

Instructor:  Harold Crossley, DDS, MS, PhD 

Join us from the convenience of your individual home or office for 
this LIVE interactive course Saturday, Oct 31, 2020 

This program will include the practical pharmacologic management of post-operative 
dental pain and appropriate opioid prescribing in adults and children. For centuries, 
opioids have been used to control pain and suffering, but at what cost to us, our 
families, and our dental practices? What is the new FDA warning about codeine and 
tramadol in children? Why are NSAIDs more appropriate than opioids for treating post-
operative dental pain? What are prescription drug monitoring programs?   These 
questions and more will be answered in this LIVE 3-hour virtual course. 

At the conclusion of this course, the attendees will know: 

• How to minimize prescribing opioids for controlling post-operative dental pain. 
• How to combine over-the-counter (OTC) analgesics to maximize their effects. 
• The usefulness of their state’s prescription drug monitoring program. 
• The progressive nature of addictive disease. 

$295 / Dentist             $50 / Auxiliary      3 CE Hours 

Saturday, Oct 31, 2020 

Start Time:   9am Mountain (11am Eastern, 10am Central, 8am Pacific) 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 108

https://www.pccdental.com/harold-crossley-dds.php
https://www.pccdental.com/products/product/dentist-substance-abuse-oct-31-2020.php


End Time:   Noon Mountain (2pm Eastern, 1pm Central, 11am Pacific) 

Online Registration closes Friday, Oct 30 @ noon 

Dentist   Auxiliary 

COMMENTS FROM OTHER LIVE DIGITAL COURSES 
Well done, Enjoyed convenience of virtual meeting. The ability to ask 
questions and have them answered in real time was excellent. 

 

I think the professionals answering chat really added to the quality of the 
course, it makes a "zoom classroom" much more interactive and valuable. 

 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 109

https://www.pccdental.com/products/product/dentist-substance-abuse-oct-31-2020.php
https://www.pccdental.com/products/product/auxiliary-substance-abuse-oct-31-2020.php


Practical Clinical Courses is an ADA recognized provider.  ADA CERP is a service of 
the American Dental Association to assist dental professionals. in identifying quality 
providers of continuing dental education.  ADA CERP does not approve or endorse 
individual courses or instructors, nor does it imply acceptance of credit hours by boards 
of dentistry. 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 110



Agenda Item (7)(k)

WREB:
Interim Clinical Dental Exam

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 111



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 112



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 113



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 114



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 115



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 116



WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination: 

COVID-19 Performance-Based Simulation Examination 

Psychometric Overview 

May 6, 2020 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 117



ii 

WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination: 

COVID-19 Performance-Based Simulation Examination 

Psychometric Overview 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page 

List of Tables .....................................................................................................................  iii 

List of Figures ....................................................................................................................  iv 

Introduction ………...........................................................................................................   1 

Background and Overview of the Interim Examination ...............................................   1 

Existing Examination Sections ........................................................................................   2 

Comprehensive Treatment Planning (CTP) Section ...............................................  2 

Endodontics Simulation Section .............................................................................  3 

Prosthodontics Simulation Section .........................................................................  3 

Periodontics Patient-based Section .........................................................................  4 

Operative Simulation Section: Development and Field Testing ...................................   5 

Interim Social Distancing and Infection Prevention Protocol .......................................   6 

Administration and Security .............................................................................................  7 

Operative Simulation Test Specifications and Grading Criteria ..................................   9 

Scoring and Results Reporting .........................................................................................  13 

Examiner Training and Calibration ................................................................................  14 

Field Testing of the Operative Simulation Section Overview ........................................ 16 

Initial Field Test Results: Faculty-graded ....................................................................... 16 

Treatment Times ................................................................................................................ 17 

Field-Test Candidate Survey Results ............................................................................... 18 

Field-Test Grading Session Overview .............................................................................. 23 

Field-Test Examiner Performance ................................................................................... 23 

Field-Test Examiner Survey Results ................................................................................ 25 

Field-Test Results: Candidate Performance and Test Quality ...................................... 29 

References ...........................................................................................................................  34 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 118



iii 

LIST OF TABLES 

 Page 

 Table 1 Simulated Operative Section Procedure Options with CDT Codes ................. 10 

Table 2a  Operative Simulation Scoring Criteria and Weighting: Preparation ................ 13 

Table 2b  Operative Simulation Scoring Criteria and Weighting: Finish ......................... 13 

Table 3  Operative Simulation Treatment Times in Minutes by Field Test Site............. 18 

Table 4  Percentages of Examiner Agreement, Harshness, and Lenience: 

Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test ................... 24 

Table 5  Many-Faceted Rasch Model Examiner Severity Analysis Indicators 

in Logits: Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation 

Field Test .......................................................................................................... 25 

Table 6  Operative Simulation Grading Session Field-Test Examiner 

Survey Questions 1 to 5 with Responses.......................................................... 26 

Table 7  Grading Criteria and Section Scores for Standard Operative Section 

and Operative Simulation Field Test: Means and Standard Deviations 

of Raw Unweighted Class II Median Criterion Scores, Raw and Final 

Scores, with t-Tests........................................................................................... 30 

Table 8     Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test: 

Many-Faceted Rasch Model Criterion Analysis Indicators in Logits .............. 31 

Table 9     Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test: 

Overall Test Summary Statistics ...................................................................... 32 

Table 10   Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test: 

Passing Percentages .......................................................................................... 33 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 119



iv 

LIST OF FIGURES 

 Page 

Figure 1 Scoring criteria definitions for the 

Simulation Class II Composite Preparation, 2020 ........................................ 11 

Figure 2 Scoring criteria definitions for the 

Simulation Class II Amalgam Preparation, 2020 .......................................... 11 

Figure 3 Scoring criteria definitions for the 

Simulation Class III (Composite) Preparation, 2020 .................................... 12 

Figure 4 Scoring criteria definitions for the 

Simulation Class II and Class III Finishes, 2020 .......................................... 12 

Figure 5a Proportion of Yes or No responses to Field-Test Question 1 ....................... 19 

Figure 5b Proportion of Yes or No responses to Field-Test Question 2 ....................... 19 

Figure 5c Proportion of Yes or No responses to Field-Test Question 3 ....................... 19 

Figure 6 Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 4 ............. 20 

Figure 7a Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 5 ............. 21 

Figure 7b Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 6 ............. 21 

Figure 8 Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 7 ............. 22 

Figure 9 Proportion of different responses to Examiner Survey Question 6 ............. 27 

Figure 10 Proportion of different responses to Examiner Survey Question 7 ............. 27 

Figure 11 Proportion of different responses to Examiner Survey Question 8 ............. 28 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 120



1 

WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination: 

COVID-19 Performance-Based Simulation Examination 

Psychometric Overview 

Introduction 

Results from standardized assessments are one source of evidence used by licensing bodies 

to make decisions about a candidate's readiness for practice. Licensing examinations must be 

developed and administered in a valid, reliable, and legally defensible manner. The purpose of this 

report is to provide test users with an overview of descriptive and technical documentation 

regarding the nature and quality of the WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination to support 

inferences based on examination results. 

WREB examinations are developed, administered, and scored in accordance with the 

Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing (AERA, APA, NCME; 2014) and Guidance 

for Clinical Licensure Examinations in Dentistry (AADB, 2005). An overview and description of 

activities conducted to evaluate the technical quality of the WREB Interim Clinical Dental 

Examination, with a focus on the new Operative Simulation Section, are provided, including 

psychometric and statistical results of field-testing. Details of additional activities and research 

studies relevant to the Interim Clinical Dental Examination are also maintained and available for 

review by test users, test takers, and other stakeholders. 

Background and Overview of the Interim Examination 

WREB has been researching and evaluating the validity and viability of alternatives to 

patient-based assessment for several years. For example, simulations that could substitute for 

Operative Dentistry and Periodontics, the two patient-based sections of WREB’s standard dental 

examination, are currently in development and undergoing review. WREB had not planned to 

implement any of these assessment alternatives during the 2020 dental examination season. 

The advent of health risks due to the COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2) virus and the social-

distancing directives that have been in place since March of 2020 has put pressure on many state 

licensing boards to consider temporary alternatives to the traditional patient-based dental 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 121



2 

examination. Several state licensing boards have requested that WREB propose temporary 

examination alternatives that could be administered during the COVID-19 crisis. 

WREB has developed an interim alternative examination that includes existing simulation 

sections (i.e., Comprehensive Treatment Planning [CTP], Endodontics, and Prosthodontics) and a 

new, field-tested, restorative dentistry simulation that can serve as a temporary replacement for the 

patient-based Operative Section while the challenges posed by COVID-19 limit patient-based 

options. A brief overview of temporary changes to existing examination sections will be provided, 

followed by a more detailed description of the development and collection of validity evidence for 

the new Operative Simulation Section. 

Existing Examination Sections 

Comprehensive Treatment Planning (CTP) Section. WREB’s existing Comprehensive 

Treatment Planning (CTP) Section is a performance-based ASCE (Authentic Simulated Clinical 

Examination) which requires the candidate to construct responses (as opposed to an OSCE in 

which the candidate selects responses from options, locations, or choices provided). The CTP 

Section is open-ended and graded by independent, anonymous examiners. It reveals candidate 

thinking and requires candidates to perform tasks that dentists perform and to make decisions that 

dentists make, all without choices they can select or cues of any kind. The construction of 

appropriately sequenced treatment plans and item responses requires broad understanding of 

diagnostic, preventive, restorative, endodontic, periodontal, prosthodontic, oral surgical, 

radiological, pediatric dentistry, and patient-management procedures, as well as the relationships 

between these procedures and their clinical application under various patient conditions. The CTP 

examination can result in failure if a candidate commits a critical error, i.e., constructs a response 

that could result in life-threatening harm, such as administering more than the upper limit of a safe 

dose of local anesthetic for the weight of a pediatric patient. The CTP Section has been 

administered to dental licensure candidates since 2014 and will be a required, unchanged section 

on the WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination. Details and results of technical analyses and 

candidate results for the CTP Section have been documented in annual technical reports (e.g., 

WREB, 2019a). 

Over 2,000 dental candidates have already completed the CTP examination for the 2020 

season, including 1,035 from dental schools in Nevada and its neighboring states (i.e., California, 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 122



3 
 
 

Oregon, Utah, and Arizona). For any candidates who have not yet challenged the CTP Section, 

Prometric testing centers are opening for testing in May 2020 and have established guidelines for 

social distancing and safety (https://www.prometric.com/corona-virus-update). 

 

Endodontics Simulation Section. WREB’s existing Endodontics Section is a performance-based 

clinical simulation examination. The candidate is required to perform two endodontic procedures 

on simulated teeth mounted in a segmented arch which is mounted in a manikin that is positioned 

to simulate working on a patient. Candidates must maintain the simulated patient position and 

adhere to Standard (Universal) Precautions throughout the examination. The anterior tooth 

procedure requires treatment of a maxillary central incisor simulated tooth, including access, 

instrumentation and obturation. The posterior tooth procedure requires access of a mandibular first 

molar simulated tooth. Access of the posterior tooth must enable grading examiners to identify all 

canal orifices. Like all WREB Dental Examination sections, the Endodontics Section is graded by 

independent, anonymous examiners. The Endodontics Section has been administered since 1985 

and will be a required section on the WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination. Details and 

results of technical analyses and candidate results for the Endodontics Section have been 

documented in annual technical reports (e.g., WREB, 2019a). 

The only changes to the Endodontics Section are specific COVID-19-related social 

distancing and infection prevention protocols that must be followed to ensure the safety of all 

individuals involved in the examination and examination-related activities. Besides adhering to 

the simulation protocol for patient position and Standard (Universal) Precautions, candidates also 

are required to follow any additional social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols imposed 

by the exam site. 

 

Prosthodontics Simulation Section. WREB’s existing Prosthodontics Section is a performance-

based clinical simulation examination. The candidate is required to perform two prosthodontic 

procedures (three preparations) on simulated teeth in a mounted articulator and manikin that is 

positioned to simulate working on a patient. Candidates must maintain the simulated patient 

position and adhere to Standard (Universal) Precautions throughout the examination. Candidates 

are required to prepare an anterior tooth for a full-coverage crown and prepare two abutments to 

support a posterior three-unit fixed partial denture prosthesis (i.e., bridge). The three-unit bridge 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 123



4 

must have a path of insertion that allows full seating of the restoration. Like all WREB Dental 

Examination sections, the Prosthodontics Section is graded by independent, anonymous 

examiners. The current version of the clinical Prosthodontics Section has been administered since 

2018 and is required by most states accepting the WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination. 

Details, technical analyses, and candidate results are documented in annual technical reports (e.g., 

WREB, 2019a). 

As with the Endodontics Section, the only changes to the Prosthodontics Section specific 

COVID-19-related social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols that must be followed to 

ensure the safety of all individuals involved in the examination and examination-related activities. 

Besides adhering to the simulation protocol and Standard (Universal) Precautions, candidates also 

are required to follow any additional social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols imposed 

by the exam site. 

Periodontics Patient-Based Section. WREB subject matter experts (SMEs) on the Operative and 

Periodontics Examinations Committee have recommended that due to COVID-19 the patient-

based Periodontics Section of the Clinical Dental Examination be waived for 2020 since WREB 

is unable to demonstrate that a valid replacement is viable. The following evidence supports the 

decision to recommend temporary waiver or postponement of the Periodontics Section: a) critical 

aspects of periodontal diagnosis and treatment decision-making are covered throughout the CTP 

examination, b) the patient-based Periodontics section is the least discriminating section of the 

Dental Examination due to the very high rate of examination success, and c) recent practice 

analyses conducted jointly by WREB and CRDTS (WREB, 2019b; WREB, 2020) found that while 

the practices assessed on WREB’s Dental patient-based Periodontics Section and Dental Hygiene 

Examination continue to be rated as frequently performed and important, these practices are most 

frequently performed by dental hygienists and rarely or never performed by dentists. Still, the 

ability of dental candidates to demonstrate competence on a valid, clinical examination of 

Periodontics continues to be valued by many states, and the patient-based Periodontics Section of 

WREB’s standard patient-based Dental Examination will be available again when it can be 

administered safely. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 124



5 

Operative Simulation Section: Development and Field Testing 

WREB has field-tested an alternative, performance-based restorative dentistry simulation 

(i.e., Operative Simulation Section) that could be required temporarily in lieu of the traditional 

patient-based Operative Section. The validation process for the simulated examination included 

the field-testing of social distancing for both candidates and examiners. The pre-planning and 

guidelines practiced with the social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols employed in the 

Operative Simulation Section field tests are described later and will be applied to other simulation 

sections (i.e., Endodontics and Prosthodontics) of the WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination. 

In the Operative Simulation Section, each candidate is required to successfully perform 

both preparation and finish of a conventional Class II restoration on a molar and a Class III 

restoration on a central incisor. All procedures are performed, like they are for the Endodontics 

and Prosthodontics sections, on simulated teeth, mounted in arches on a manikin with proper 

operational posture, appropriate employment of Standard (Universal) Precautions including 

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), and with rubber-dam isolation. Results are assessed using 

established Operative Section scoring criteria. Certain critical errors are preserved, and the passing 

cut-point remains unchanged. The simulation involves social distancing for both candidates and 

examiners and uses materials (simulation teeth and arches) which are readily available and with 

which candidates and their programs are already familiar. 

WREB maintains the position that any clinical restorative simulation testing, at this time, 

remains limited with respect to fidelity, which is a critical type of validity evidence. Even with a 

simulated tooth that attempts to replicate the hardness, texture, disease process, and internal 

anatomy of human teeth, the simulation does not fully replace the spontaneous judgments, patient 

management skill, and cognitive-motor coordination involved in treating a live human patient who 

exhibits an authentic response to local anesthesia, unpredictable movements, and has the ability to 

feel pain and discomfort. The alternative Operative Simulation Section that WREB is offering for 

2020 is intended to be a provisional solution for COVID-19 only and is intended neither to replace 

WREB's patient-based Operative Section in 2020 for states that continue to require it nor to be the 

simulation WREB may offer in the future when the validity of a more realistic and involved 

simulation can be demonstrated. 

The following sections will describe several aspects of the Operative Simulation Section, 

including a) administration procedures reflecting the additional precautions required to minimize 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 125



6 

exposure to the COVID-19 virus, b) restorative content assessed, c) grading and scoring, d) 

examiner preparation and evaluation, and e) the results of field-testing conducted in early 2020.  

Interim Social Distancing and Infection Prevention Protocol 

Preventing infection by COVID-19 that may arise from airborne transmission or contact 

with potentially virulent surfaces is critical to ensuring the safety of candidates, dental school 

personnel, examiners and agency personnel during examination and examination-related activities. 

Field-testing for the Operative Simulation Section included broad attention to ensuring that a) 

individuals participating in the examination were sufficiently distant from each other at all times, 

b) individuals used appropriate PPE, and c) materials and areas remained clean and disinfected.

Social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols were field tested for the Operative Simulation 

Section and will be implemented for all clinical sections of the WREB Interim Clinical Dental 

Examination. These protocols include but are not limited to the following examination features: 

 Limits on numbers of personnel and candidates assigned to the examination at one time

and in one location

 Distribution, required completion, and collection/review of a self-assessment survey

instrument immediately prior to the examination (e.g.,  regarding symptoms, recent contact

with suspected or known patient with COVID-19, and recent travel)

 Required capture and logging of each participant’s temperature

 Assignment of separated arrival times

 Set-up, preparation, and monitoring for entry to the facility and examination area (e.g.,

survey completion and approval, donning face mask and eye protection, temperature

capture, hand sanitization, etc.)

 Installation of floor and location markings throughout examination areas to ensure

adherence to social distancing

 Location of assigned simulation stations that conform to social distancing guidelines

 Pre-provision of supplies and examination materials at simulation stations to reduce

unnecessary movement

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 126



7 
 
 

 Specific instructions regarding how to move around laboratory when necessary, how to 

turn in materials, and how to leave space and building upon completion without 

congregating 

 Monitoring of social distancing, use of PPE, and contact with objects and surfaces 

throughout the simulation 

 Appropriate cleaning and disinfection of all simulation stations and involved surfaces 

immediately before and following every simulation session 

 

The features described reflect protocols that were in place for the March 30 – April 2 field-

tests. These examination protocols may be augmented according to updates for infection 

prevention from the Center for Disease Control (CDC) or more stringent school-specific 

requirements. In any case the protocols employed will reflect or exceed CDC guidelines. If the test 

site has stricter guidelines than the CDC, then the protocol employed will reflect the test site 

requirements. For example, the CDC guidelines for social distancing stipulated maintaining a 

minimum distance of at least six feet from other individuals; one of the field-test sites required a 

minimum distance of ten feet, which was implemented throughout the field test. 

WREB will coordinate with each site hosting an examination to develop a document 

communicating the social-distancing and infection-prevention protocol  for that examination site. 

Prior to the exam this document will be provided to candidates, on-site examiners, and any other 

individuals who will be involved in examination. Candidates will be expected to conform to the 

social distancing and infection prevention protocol and may risk dismissal and failure of the 

examination for gross, willful, or repeated protocol violation. 

Scoring sessions where grading examiners evaluate candidate performance on the 

submitted arches also will be subject to social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols. 

Similar safety features, including self-assessment and screening, number of grading examiners per 

room and building, social distancing, surface and material disinfection, and specific instruction 

regarding safe entry, movement, task performance, and exit of the facility will be provided. 

 

Administration and Security 

Time allocated for the simulation is three and one-half (3.5) hours. Candidates are allowed 

an additional 30 minutes to set up before the session begins.  

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 127



8 

At the exam site, candidates must provide two valid, non-expired forms of personal 

identification. Admittance to the exam does not imply that the identification presented was valid. 

If it is determined that a candidate’s identification is fraudulent or otherwise invalid, WREB will 

report to the appropriate governing agencies or board. Any candidate or other individual who has 

misreported information or altered documentation in order to fraudulently attempt an examination, 

will be subject to dismissal and reporting. 

Candidates report to the assigned simulation area at the appointed time and must bring with 

them their personal handpieces, burs, and anything else needed to complete preparations or 

restorations on the simulated teeth, including the ModuPRO® One opposing arch or equivalent 

needed to complete the simulation. 

Candidates may bring the Operative Simulation Candidate Guide and Dental Exam 

Candidate Guide into the simulation lab for reference. Notes, textbooks, or other informational 

material must not be brought into the simulation lab. No magnification other than loupes is 

allowed. All electronic devices, including cell phones and smart watches, are prohibited in the 

simulation lab. Unique markings are applied to each arch to prevent manipulation and reinforce 

examination security. 

Assistants are not permitted for the Operative Simulation Section. Candidates may not 

assist each other. This includes critiquing another candidate’s work or discussion of treatment. All 

candidates are expected to pass the examination on their own merit without assistance. 

WREB provides the maxillary arches containing the teeth needed for preparation and 

restoration. The candidate provides everything needed that is not provided by the test site (school), 

including a suitable opposing arch. Following preparation, the arch containing the prepared teeth 

is submitted for grading and a second arch is provided with teeth already prepared for restoration. 

When placement of the finish restorations is completed, the second arch is submitted for finish 

grading. 

Candidates are to work independently, observe Standard (Universal) Precautions, and work 

in a manner that simulates performing procedures on a patient throughout the simulation. Any 

unprofessional, unethical, or inappropriate behavior could result in immediate dismissal and failure 

of the Operative Simulation. If, after receiving notice of a violation, a candidate repeatedly violates 

simulation protocol, Standard (Universal) Precautions, or the social distancing and infection 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 128



9 

prevention protocol for the exam site, they will be dismissed from the simulation and will fail the 

Operative Simulation Section. 

Additional details of administration procedures and security guidelines are included in the 

Operative Simulation Candidate Guide, Dental Exam Candidate Guide, Operative Simulation 

Examiner Manual, and Dental Exam Examiner Manual. 

Operative Simulation Test Specifications and Grading Criteria 

The Operative Simulation Section consists of one extended examination session during 

which two (2) operative (restorative) procedures are performed on simulated teeth. The procedures 

are: 

1. Preparation and restoration of a conventional Class II (MO) in tooth 14.

 The candidate may choose the restorative material (amalgam or composite).

 The preparation can but need not cross the tooth’s oblique ridge.

2. Preparation and restoration of a Class III (ML) in tooth 9 with composite.

The procedures are performed on simulated teeth mounted in a manikin positioned to 

simulate working on a patient. The simulated tooth has the same anatomy and polymers as the 

teeth that are required for the Prosthodontics Simulation Section. Vendor supply is available for 

both testing and candidate practice despite current factory closures. The teeth have no artificial 

decay that could introduce testing variables not encountered in candidates’ current curriculum 

and training. Additional field testing and candidate clinical experience will be necessary for 

reliable implementation with artificial decay. 

No modification requests are needed, which  supports social distancing and infection 

prevention measures by reducing the handling of materials and number of examiners required to 

be onsite. Candidates are asked to prepare the teeth as they ideally would for minimal caries 

requiring restoration and so that their preparations satisfy WREB criteria for a score of “5” and 

then stop. The Class II preparation design must be conventional and include a pulpal floor. Both 

preparation and restoration (placement of the restorative material) must be accomplished with a 

rubber dam. When treatment is completed the arch containing the prepared or restored teeth is 

submitted for grading. Occlusion is not functionally evaluated. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 129



10 

Current dental terminology (CDT) codes that reflect the range of procedures that may be 

attempted are listed in Table 1. 

Table 1. Simulated Operative Section Procedure Options with CDT Codes 

Operative Section Restorative Procedure CDT Code(s) 

Direct posterior Class II amalgam restoration 

(MO, DO or MOD) 

D2150, D2160 

Direct posterior Class II composite restoration 

(MO, DO or MOD) 

D2392, D2393 

Direct anterior Class III composite restoration 

(ML, DL, MF, DF) 

D2331, D2332 

WREB examines candidates with varying educational backgrounds and schools may teach 

different preparation and restoration techniques. WREB does not look for one specific technique 

and scores performance according to the Operative Simulation scoring criteria described later in 

this section. 

The scoring criteria are based on the scoring criteria employed for the conventional patient-

based Operative examination section, with minor revisions, reviewed and approved by the SMEs 

on the Operative examination committee. The preparation criteria are Outline and Extension, 

Internal Form, and Operative Environment. The finish criteria are Anatomical Form, Margins, and 

Finish, Function and Damage. Each grading criterion is defined at five levels of performance for 

each procedure, with a grade of "3" representing minimal competence. A grade of "5" is defined 

generally to represent optimal performance, with grades of 4, 3, 2, and 1 corresponding to 

appropriate, acceptable, inadequate, and unacceptable performance, respectively. The 

performance level definitions for each type of preparation (i.e., Class II amalgam, Class II 

composite, and Class III composite) and for the restoration finish are published in the candidate 

guide and provided in Figures 1 through 4. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 130



11 

   Figure 1. Scoring criteria definitions for the Simulation Class II Composite Preparation, 2020. 

   Figure 2. Scoring criteria definitions for the Simulation Class II Amalgam Preparation, 2020. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 131



12 

 Figure 3. Scoring criteria definitions for the Simulation Class III (Composite) Preparation, 2020. 

 Figure 4. Scoring criteria definitions for the Simulation Class II and Class III Finishes, 2020. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 132



13 

Scoring and Results Reporting 

Performance for each preparation and finish, is graded by three independent and 

anonymous examiners who are calibrated to the scoring criteria prior to every examination. Each 

preparation or finish is scored on the applicable criteria according to rating scales presented above. 

Examiners are trained to assign a particular grade on the scale only when all aspects of 

performance described for that level have been demonstrated. For example, if performance on the 

criterion under review meets most aspects of the definition for a grade of “3” but does not quite 

meet the standard for even one aspect of the definition, then the grade assigned will be a “2,” at 

most. This holds for all six criteria per restoration. 

The median of the three examiner grades is computed for each criterion and is weighted to 

reflect the level of criticality relevant to minimally competent treatment, e.g., Outline and 

Extension accounts for 46% of the preparation score and Operative Environment accounts for only 

15%. The criterion weights are provided in Tables 2a and 2b. 

Tables 2a and 2b. Operative Simulation Scoring Criteria and Weighting: Preparation, Finish 

Preparation Criteria 

 and Weighting 

Finish Criteria 

and Weighting 

Outline & Extension 46% Anatomical Form 36.5% 

Internal Form 39% Margins 36.5% 

Operative Environment 15% Finish, Function & Damage 27% 

The mean of the preparation and finish scores is the restoration procedure score. The mean 

of the two procedure scores, after any applicable penalties or deductions, is the final Operative 

Simulation Section score. 

The passing cut score on the Operative Simulation Section is 3.00, which reflects 

minimally competent performance within the five-point rating scale for all criterion grades that 

contribute to the final section score. Each performance level definition for a score of 3.00 on a 

criterion has been worded to describe performance that would be deemed minimally competent 

via consensus of the subject matter experts on the Operative section examination committee. While 

methods of standard setting applied to selected-response assessment often rely on SMEs evaluating 

each test question based on how each SME believes a minimally competent examinee would 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 133



14 

perform, standard setting for many performance-based assessments involves defining minimum 

expectations that can be observed directly in the candidate’s performance. The performance level 

definitions (Figures 1 through 4), as developed by the examination committee, are critical to 

guiding examiner grading. The definitions are used to describe examples of clinical performance 

reviewed during examiner training and calibration, which provides performance benchmarks to 

facilitate examiner adherence to the criteria and a high degree of examiner agreement. 

While limitations on travel and group activity size due to COVID-19 remain in effect, the 

grading of candidate performance will take place in grading sessions after the examination. While 

this reduces the number of examiners traveling to and grading at the examination site, it also 

prevents candidates from receiving onsite results immediately. Candidates and state licensing 

boards will receive results as soon as possible after grading sessions are held. Results reports will 

indicate clearly whether the Operative Examination was a simulation or involved the treatment of 

a patient. As with all WREB examinations, results of all examination attempts, regardless of pass 

or fail outcome, will be available to state licensing boards. 

Examiner Training and Calibration 

Most examiners are members or designees of their state boards. A small proportion (e.g., 

approximately twenty percent of examiners in 2019) are dental educators. All examiners must be 

actively licensed and in good standing, with no license restrictions, and submit proof of license 

renewal annually. Under social distancing restrictions, the only examiners that may be present at 

the Operative Simulation Section may be the Chief Examiner and one or more Floor Examiners, 

depending on the layout and size of the examination environment. There will not be any grading 

examiners at the examination site unless social distancing and travel guidelines have been eased 

enough to allow this. Under the current restrictions, grading examiners will grade candidate 

performance in grading sessions, separate from the examination environment. Grading examiners 

still will need to complete examiner self-assessments and calibration testing prior to grading. 

Clinical examination scores are dependent upon the judgments of grading examiners. A 

high degree of examiner agreement is critical to assessing candidate ability in a reliable and fair 

manner. As with the conventional Operative Examination, scoring judgments on the Operative 

Simulation Section are made by three independent examiners. The median of the three grades 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 134



15 
 
 

assigned contributes to the candidate’s score. The median is more robust to extreme grades 

assigned than the mean (i.e., conventional average). 

Having multiple examiners helps to moderate the effects of varying levels of examiner 

severity; however, it is essential that all examiners are trained and calibrated to an acceptable level 

of agreement with respect to the scoring criteria for the examinations in which they participate. 

Examiners must participate in orientation and calibration sessions that take place before every 

examination or grading session. During calibration, examiners take assessments (tests) in which 

they grade examples of clinical performance according to the grading criteria. Their judgments are 

compared to scores that have been previously selected by the examination committees as 

representative of the defined levels in the criteria. The examiner team completes calibration tests 

until they each have demonstrated that they understand and can consistently apply WREB criteria 

in their assessments. All calibration tests are reviewed regularly for content and psychometric 

quality by WREB examination committees. 

Examiners receive feedback on their performance after each examination. Examiners with 

low percentages of agreement, high percentages of harshness or lenience, or erratic grading 

patterns are counseled, remediated, and monitored to ensure increased understanding of criteria 

definitions. Continued lack of agreement results in dismissal from the examination pool. 

The two main approaches employed to evaluate examiner performance include a review of 

examiner agreement which reflects the degree of exact and adjacent agreement and an estimation 

of examiner severity employing a probabilistic statistical model which is designed to account for 

and quantify potential sources of construct-irrelevant variance such as rater bias and error. With 

three examiners there are multiple ways to define and track examiner agreement. WREB uses a 

conservative computation of exact and adjacent agreement which involves comparing each 

examiner rating, i.e., each individual grade assigned to a particular criterion, to the mean of the 

other two raters’ grades assigned for the same criterion, within the same examination attempt. 

Examiner ratings that may be adjacent to the rating of another rater may still be categorized as 

harsh or lenient since agreement is defined as the rating falling within one scale point of the mean 

of the other two ratings. Examiner severity is estimated using the Many-faceted Rasch Model 

(Linacre, 1994; Rasch, 1960/1980) and allows examiner performance to be compared to the 

performance of all other examiners within the examiner pool along a continuum of harshness to 

lenience and provides statistical information regarding rater errors such as erratic grading or 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 135



16 

grading that shows too little discernment among performance levels (e.g., assigning all or mostly 

“3”s). Additional details regarding methods and results of examiner evaluation are provided in the 

WREB Dental Examination Technical Report (WREB, 2019a) 

Field Testing of the Operative Simulation Section: Overview 

Two Operative Simulation field-tests were planned and conducted between March and 

May of 2020. A total of 79 dental students from two dental schools participated; three students 

attempted the examination twice resulting total of 82 attempts. These students planned in advance 

to challenge the field test examination twice. 

The planning of the field tests included the review and revision of the Operative scoring 

criteria, creating a candidate guide for field test candidates, coordinating with each school to 

produce social distancing and infection prevention protocols, and developing examiner training 

and calibration materials. 

One field test was conducted on March 30, 2020 at the University of Oklahoma with 20 

dental students. A second field test was held on April 1 and 2, 2020 at the University of Utah with 

59 dental students. WREB has already been conducting conventional clinical dental examinations 

at these two schools and their campuses were reasonably accessible to WREB’s dental consultants, 

given the limitations and recommendations regarding travel due to COVID-19. Oklahoma and 

Utah are the states of residence of WREB’s two consulting SME dentists, who oversee 

examination development and administration. The field test conducted at the University of 

Oklahoma used a simulated tooth constructed of a harder material which generated student 

concerns reflected in the post-examination candidate survey comments. The second field test, 

conducted at University of Utah, employed the final choice of material which did not elicit these 

concerns. 

Initial Field Test Results: Faculty-graded 

The performance of the 20 field test candidates who attempted the Operative Simulation at 

the University of Oklahoma were initially graded by their faculty to partially fulfill program 

competency requirements. The 20 scores based on the University of Oklahoma faculty grading 

ranged from 2.94 to 4.37, with a mean score of 3.72 (SD = 0.41). Candidate scores (N = 57) from 

the same university taking the WREB Operative section during the 2019 season ranged from 3.13 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 136



17 

to 4.87, with a mean score of 3.90 (SD = 0.40). The field test results were not as high as the 

examination results from 2019, but an independent samples t-test conducted to compare the results 

indicated that the difference is not significant, with a value of t (df = 75; α = 0.05) = 1.67 and mean 

difference of 0.17 (p = 0.10; 95% CI: -0.03, 0.38). The comparison is based on a small sample but 

provides an initial indication of comparability. There was also no notable difference between mean 

scores of the anterior tooth (3.73, SD = 0.51) and the posterior tooth (3.71, SD = 0.44) for the 

faculty-graded teeth. 

After the examination and the grading conducted by faculty, some of the teeth that had 

been treated by the candidates at the University of Oklahoma field test were modified to reflect 

specific descriptors in the scoring criteria. These modified teeth and examples of candidate 

performance were then used in developing examiner training materials. The resulting preparations 

and finished restorations were photographed and used as exemplars in examiner training and 

calibration testing. The modified teeth will be graded along with the field-test performances from 

the other field test examination site, but will also be analyzed separately, as they do not represent 

the candidates’ original performance. 

Treatment Times 

Candidates were allowed up to four hours to complete the Operative Simulation Field Test. 

The time spent preparing the preparations and the finishes was recorded for each field-test attempt 

to determine if the initial time allotted was sufficient. The average total time used for the 82 field 

test attempts was 2 hours, 10 minutes (130 minutes). The least amount of time needed was 1 hour, 

22 minutes and the longest amount of time needed was 3 hours, 52 minutes. All but four candidates 

(4.8%) completed their procedures in less than 3 hours and 30 minutes. The University of 

Oklahoma site used more treatment time due to additional time needed for set-up between the 

preparation and finish procedures. The need for this additional time was eliminated with the use 

of a single tooth material for the second field test. The time allotted for the examination going 

forward was reduced to 3 hours and 30 minutes. Table 3 shows the treatment times per field test 

site. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 137



18 
 
 

 

 

Table 3. Operative Simulation Treatment Times in Minutes by Field Test Site. 

Field Test Site N 

Attempts 

Minimum 

Treatment Time 

Maximum 

Treatment Time 

Mean  

Treatment Time (SD) 

Univ. of Oklahoma 20 106 min 232 min 174 min (37.5) 

Univ. of Utah 62 82 min 190 min 116 min (20.7) 

Total 82 82 min 232 min 130 min (35.6) 

 

 

Field-Test Candidate Survey Results 

Students who participated in one of the two Operative Simulation field tests were sent a 

link to an online survey. The response rate was 53% (42 out of 79 individual field-test candidates); 

with a slightly higher response rate for University of Oklahoma participants (65%) than University 

of Utah participants (49%). Survey responses assisted the development of the examination by 

prompting improvements to the Candidate Guide and examination schedule and by supporting the 

final determination of simulated tooth material.  

There were seven main questions and all questions offered the option to provide comments. 

There was a section for additional comments or suggestions at the end. Results for the seven 

questions are listed below, with a summary of responses and examples of comments. 

The first three questions asked about the Candidate Guide, time allotted and whether the 

field-test candidate had any difficulty with any part of the simulation: 

 

1. Did the Candidate Guide explain the procedures adequately? 

2. Did you have sufficient time to complete the exam? 

3. Did you have difficulty with any part of the simulation? 

 

Only three of the 42 field-test candidates (93%) responded “No” to Question 1 (Figure 5a) 

regarding the Candidate Guide. All three noted that the guide could be more clear regarding the 

depth and extension of the preparation without needing to request extensions and wording to make 

this clear has been added to the Candidate Guide. All 42 field-test candidates responded that they 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 138



19 

had sufficient time to complete the examination (Figure 5b). Eight of the 42 respondents (19%) 

expressed difficulty with part of the simulation (Figure 5c). In the optional comments, most of 

these concerns were about the difficulty of adjacent teeth having differing degrees of hardness; all 

were from field-test candidates at the University of Oklahoma, where a different tooth material 

was tested. The material that was employed at the second field test did not elicit these concerns 

and is the final choice of material planned for the Operative Simulation Section. 

Figures 5a, b, c. Proportion of Yes or No responses to Field-Test Survey Questions 1, 2 and 3. 

Question 4 asked about the level of challenge posed by the examination, overall. 

4. Overall, was the exam easy, moderate, or difficult?”

Most respondents (37 of 42 or 88%) answered “Moderate” to Question 4 (Figure 6). Most 

comments offered regarding Question 4 compared the simulated teeth to natural teeth, e.g., “Going 

back to cutting on typodonts is always a readjustment! But definitely a valid test of hand skills. 

Certain aspects are more difficult and certain aspects are less difficult compared to treating human 

patients” and “The teeth were much softer, so probably required more dexterity than doing it on 

an actual person but very doable.” 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 139



20 

Figure 6. Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 4. 

Questions 5 and 6 asked about the degree of challenge specifically regarding the 

preparation and the finish, respectively. Five response options were provided, ranging from Much 

Less Challenging to Much More Challenging. 

5. Thinking about performing the preparations on the simulated teeth compared to

performing them on human teeth: Do you feel preparing the simulated teeth was less

challenging or more challenging?

6. Thinking about placing and finishing the restorative material in the simulated teeth

compared to placing restorations in human teeth: Do you feel restoring the simulated

teeth was less challenging or more challenging?

Many field-test candidates responded “About the Same” or “More Challenging” to Questions 5 

and 6, with 93% (Question 5 regarding preparations) and 81% (Question 6 regarding placing and 

finishing) responding in one of these two categories (Figures 7a and 7b). The preparations were 

considered “More Challenging” by 28  of 42 (67%) and respondents’ comments were similar to 

those made about tooth material on Question 4, e.g., “Because simulated teeth are much softer, I 

feel it takes more skill, accuracy and care to complete the exam” and “You have to have a lot better 

hand skills on the typodont teeth due to the fact that they are softer. You have to really be good at 

placement and control of the burr. It also requires better restorative placement as it's easier to 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 140



21 
 
 

accidentally remove tooth while finishing and polishing.” An example comment from one of the 

eleven (26%) respondents who selected “About the Same” stated, “More challenging due to the 

lack of recent practice on teeth with this hardness, but less challenging due to known parameters 

and no need for modifications.” 

Nineteen of 42 (45%) respondents felt that the placing and finishing of the teeth was 

“About the Same” but only a few offered comments, e.g., “Less challenging due to no need for 

etching, more challenging from the difference in stability (possible loose screws, extremely tight 

contacts, no wedging ability).” The source of the loose screws was identified and remedied prior 

to the second field test. Most comments were associated with the fifteen (36%) responses of “More 

Challenging,” and involved the tooth material, e.g., “I felt placing the material was the same but 

polishing and removing flash was much more difficult on typodont teeth” and “Polishing 

composite on real teeth is MUCH easier than polishing on typodont teeth.” The few comments that 

accompanied the seven (17%) responses of “Less Challenging” reflected dryness and isolation, 

e.g., “Obviously, there isn’t any saliva, so keeping a dry field is simple” and “Better isolation.” 

 

 

Figures 7a, b. Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Questions 5 and 6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 141



22 

Question 7 asked about the ability to maintain social distancing at the examination. 

7. How difficult was it for you to maintain social distancing during the examination?

Most field-test candidates (39 of 42 or 93%) responded that it was “Easy” to maintain social 

distancing during the examination (Figure 8). All but one comment were associated with responses 

of “Easy.” Examples include “Really strict and functional rules in place. Wasn’t a problem at all” 

and “I was at least ten feet away from anyone else in the room at all times.” The other comment, 

associated with a response of Moderate, stated, “During the announcement portion of the exam, 

prior to the beginning, it was moderately difficult to maintain social distancing and adequately 

hear the announcements and questions.” Plans have been implemented for additional information 

to be provided early to candidates, allowing for questions by phone or email prior to the 

examination to reduce the need for multiple announcements and possible reasons to encourage 

crowding. 

Figure 8. Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 7. 

Field-test candidates could offer additional comments or suggestions at the end of the 

survey. Many comments were generally positive or expressed thanks, e.g., “Overall it was great!” 

and several expressed their interest that this type of restorative examination be an acceptable option 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 142



23 

going forward, e.g. “Replace patient exams with typodonts!” Some comments were concerned 

with the current situation related to COVID-19, e.g., “I think this is a great way to test in a safe 

environment given the circumstances of the class of 2020.” Most comments reinforced earlier 

comments regarding tooth material that, as noted above, will not apply, given the final choice of 

tooth material for the simulation examination. Suggestions regarding the schedule of treatment 

within the examination were offered by field-test candidates at the first field test; the timing in the 

second field-test was structured without interruption between the completion of preparations and 

finishes and is the final schedule planned for the examination. 

Field-Test Grading Session Overview 

Seven examiners participated in the April 30 – May 1 Operative Simulation field-test 

grading session, completing calibration exercises and tests prior to grading. Social distancing and 

infection prevention measures were followed, to ensure the safety of examiners and staff while 

using electronic scoring equipment and handling arches during grading. 

On the first day, five examiners were able to complete the grading of all 82 attempts on the 

Operative Simulation field tests, with three sets of grades per attempt. On the second day, two 

additional examiners regraded the attempts, resulting in a total of four sets of grades per attempt. 

Candidate results and examiner performance were analyzed for the first day, which reflects 

conventional grading procedures, i.e., three examiners per attempt, as well as with the additional 

sets of grades from the second day combined, to obtain additional information, statistics and 

feedback regarding e.g., the effectiveness of calibration, the generalizability of grading criteria, 

and the performance of field-test candidates. 

Field-Test Examiner Performance 

Field-test examiner performance was evaluated via two approaches: examiner agreement 

statistics and examiner severity estimation. Examiner agreement was computed on the examiner 

team that completed grading on the first day. Examiner severity was conducted with and without 

the additional grades assigned on the second day. An overview of methods are described above on 

page 15 and in additional detail in technical reports, e.g., WREB Dental Examination Technical 

Report (WREB, 2019a). 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 143



24 
 
 

Percentages of  agreement were computed for the three sets of grades assigned on the first 

day of grading, as would be conducted for an actual examination after all three sets of grades per 

attempt have been assigned. Over the past ten years, percentages of agreement for the standard 

Operative Section have ranged from 88.4% to 89.9%, with comparatively balanced percentages of 

harshness and lenience. Examiner agreement over the years reflects examiner grading teams that 

have been selected for each examination based on their past examiner performance to ensure an 

optimal balance of examiner severity level. While nearly all examiners perform within 

recommended ranges of harshness and lenience percentages, to assign all the examiners that have 

performed at one end of that continuum to a single examination could introduce a systematic bias. 

The examiners who participated in the field-test grading session were scheduled based on location 

and convenience, given the conditions posed by COVID-19. The field-test examiners also included 

two relatively new examiners, who would not be assigned to the same examination under 

conventional conditions. Despite these potential threats to optimal examiner team performance, 

examiner agreement statistics for the field-test grading session were comparable to percentages of 

agreement, harshness, and lenience for the standard Operative section in previous years. Table 4 

provides examiner agreement percentages for the standard Operative Section from the 2019 season 

and for the Operative Simulation field test grading session. 

 

Table 4. Percentages of Examiner Agreement, Harshness, and Lenience: Standard Operative 

Section and Operative Simulation Field Test 

 N Examiners % Harsh % Lenient % Agreement 

Standard Operative Section  

2019 Season 
110 5.5% 5.3% 89.2% 

Operative Simulation  

Field Test Day 1 
5 5.6% 5.7% 88.7% 

 

Examiner severity estimated with the many-faceted Rasch model, is reported in Table 5, 

which provides summaries of results in logit, i.e., log-odds, units. High negative logits reflect more 

lenience and high positive logits reflect more harshness. For the standard Operative Section 

examination, most examiners fall within one logit unit of the mean, i.e., between -1.00 and 1.00, 

and within recommended ranges with respect to infit and outfit mean-square fit statistics, i.e., 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 144



25 

between 0.50 and 1.50. Examiner severity estimates for the first day of the Operative Simulation 

field test and for all Operative Simulation field-test examiners reflect smaller ranges with no 

outlying values. Additional details of the Many-faceted Rasch Model analyses are provided later 

with the results of field-test candidate performance. 

Table 5. Many-Faceted Rasch Model Examiner Severity Analysis Indicators in Logits: Standard 

Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test (Number of examiners provided below 

each header) 

Indicator 
Standard Operative 

Section 2019 Season 
(NE = 110) 

Operative Simulation 
Field Test Day 1 

(NE = 5) 

Operative Simulation 
Field Test All 

(NE = 7) 

Severity Measure  
Logit (Range) 

-0.88 – 1.06 -0.41 – 0.44 -0.33 – 0.52

Standard Error 
(Range) 

0.05 – 0.16 0.05 – 0.07 0.05 – 0.07 

Severity Measure 
Logit Meana 

0.0 0.0 0.0 

Severity Measure 
Logit SD 

0.42 0.33 0.31 

Infit Mean-Square 
(Range) 

0.54 – 1.77 0.71 – 1.25 0.66 – 1.38 

Outfit Mean-Square 
(Range) 

0.52 – 1.72 0.72 – 1.22 0.66 – 1.32 

a  Mean of examiner severity parameters constrained at 0. 

Field-Test Examiner Survey Results 

The seven examiners who participated in the Operative Simulation field test grading 

session were sent a link to an online survey. The response rate was 100%. There were eight main 

questions and all questions offered the option to provide comments. There was a section for 

additional comments or suggestions at the end. Results for the eight questions are listed below, 

with a summary of responses and examples of comments. 

Examiners responded unanimously to the first five questions, which asked about materials, 

instrumentation provided, difficulty of the grading tasks, as well as their understanding of, and 

ability to follow, the social distancing protocol. Possible responses to the first five questions were 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 145



26 

Yes or No, except for Question 3, with possible responses of Easy, Moderate, or Difficult. The 

first five questions and the common responses are provided in Table 6. 

Table 6. Operative Simulation Grading Session Field-Test Examiner Survey Questions 1 to 5 

with Responses 

Questions 1 to 5 Unanimous Response 

1. Did the Candidate Guide and Examiner Manual adequately
explain the simulation and grading procedures?

Yes, 100% 

2. Were the social (physical) distancing instructions clear and
easy to understand?

Yes, 100% 

3. How difficult was it for you to maintain appropriate social
(physical) distancing while serving as an examiner?

Easy, 100% 

4. Did you have difficulty with any of the grading tasks? No, 100% 

5. Was the instrumentation provided for your use, everything
you needed?

Yes, 100% 

Optional comments associated with the first five questions were positive, e.g., regarding 

ability to maintain social distancing, (Question 3), “I felt very safe” and regarding grading tasks 

(Question 4), “Calibration was well orchestrated and provided the preparation necessary for us as 

examiners to perform efficiently and effectively. Nice job!” 

Question 6 asked the field-test examiners about how well the calibration exercises prepared 

them for grading. Figure 9 illustrates the percentages of each response. Five examiners (71%) 

responded “Very well.” One commented, “It was my first time actually grading so it was very 

helpful to me.” Two (29%) responded “Well enough” accompanied by the following two 

comments, “Too detailed which sometimes can create more issues than being useful” and “This 

was a new exam but we made do,” which suggest that continued review and refinement may be 

useful. The criteria has already been evaluated and edited based on examiner feedback. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 146



27 
 
 

 

Figure 9. Proportion of different responses to Examiner Survey Question 6. 

 

The grading criteria are nearly the same as the criteria used for the standard Operative 

Section, except for the removal of a few items, such as caries, pulp exposure and rubber dam 

isolation that do not apply for the Operative Simulation section. Question 7 asked the field-test 

examiners how well the modified criteria work for the simulation. Figure 10 shows the percentages 

of each response. Six examiners (86%) responded “Very well” or “Well enough,” evenly split 

between the two responses. One examiner responded “Unsure.” Only one comment was offered, 

“I think it’s easier to see mistakes on a manikin than in the mouth.” 

 

 

Figure 10. Proportion of different responses to Examiner Survey Question 7. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 147



28 

Question 8 asked field-test examiners whether they felt it was easier or more difficult to 

assess candidate performance with each candidate having received the same preparations. Figure 

11 shows the percentages of each response. Five examiners (71%) felt it was easier, with four of 

them responding “Definitely easier” and one, “Somewhat easier.”  Two examiners (29%) 

responded “About the same.” Comments included, “I would say that it levels the playing field and 

we still saw plenty of variation in performance for the finished restoration. Good simulation”, “It 

was more fair to the candidates!”, “Loved that part” and “As you see the same procedures over 

and over it becomes easy to compare and evaluate.” 

Figure 11. Proportion of different responses to Examiner Survey Question 8. 

The section at the end inviting other comments or suggestions elicited one generic positive 

comment and two substantive comments suggesting that the Operative Examination Committee 

should consider including a means of failing or deducting points for examiner-validated gross open 

contact, e.g., “Grading for open contact is somehow still passing the candidate which I think it 

needs to be one of the automatic failure situations.” Changes to criteria descriptors that will impact 

scoring and address the suggestions made in the comments have been prepared and recommended 

to the committee for implementation. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 148



29 
 
 

 

Field Test Results: Candidate Performance and Test Quality 

Table 7 provides basic descriptive statistics for the raw and weighted means of medians 

computed from the three sets of examiner grades for each criterion. Direct comparisons to the 

standard Operative Section, particularly regarding criterion scores, are limited due to three factors. 

One is that only 5.5% of procedures performed for the standard Operative Section in 2019 were 

Class III procedures. All field-test attempts on the Operative Simulation Section included a Class 

III procedure. Since 2018, most states are accepting the results of performance on one Class II 

procedure if competence is demonstrated, so many candidates are completing Class II procedures. 

Years of Operative Section data have shown that the Class III is slightly, but significantly, less 

challenging than any Class II procedure and therefore, if completed, must be in combination with 

a Class II procedure. The second limiting factor is that many arches completed in the first, smaller 

field test, were modified to create additional exemplars of grading criteria performance levels 

during the development calibration materials and some performance levels may not be distributed 

within the sample in a comparable manner. The third factor is that the field-test host schools, which 

were chosen for location and convenience, given the conditions posed by COVID-19 and their 

students may not be a representative sample of all potential candidates. 

Despite field-test limitations to direct comparison, three criteria and final scores (which 

include point deductions from penalties and loss of all points due to critical errors) were highly 

comparable. The slightly higher final score mean reflects a more negatively skewed distribution 

in the field test data; the passing percentage is actually somewhat lower for the field test than the 

standard Operative section in 2019. The significantly higher means of raw scores and some criteria 

for the field-tests may be related to the difference in procedure type in the comparison, particularly 

for Anatomical Form and Margins, which have traditionally scored significantly higher for the 

Class III procedure. Recent additions, since the field-test, to the criterion definitions for Internal 

Form related to grading examiner feedback are also expected to result in higher comparability. 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 149



30 
 
 

 

Table 7. Grading Criteria and Section Scores for Standard Operative Section and Operative 

Simulation Field Test: Means and Standard Deviations of Raw Unweighted Class II Median 

Criterion Scores, Raw and Final Scores, with t-Tests. Included are t values, probability values (p), 

effect size values (Cohen’s d) degrees of freedom (df), and alpha level (α), i.e., significance below 

0.05. Number of procedures noted as Np, number of attempts noted as N. 

 Standard 
Operative 

Section 2019 

Np = 2,553a 

Operative 
Simulation Field 

Test 2020 

Np = 164a 

 

t-tests  

df = 2,715; α = 0.05 

 
Mean SD Mean SD 

t 
value 

p 
value 

Cohen’s 
d b  

Outline and Extension 3.63 0.75 3.65 0.85 -0.27 0.79 0.02 

Internal Form 3.62 0.74 3.85 0.65 -3.90 <0.01 0.33 

Operative Environment 4.27 0.67 4.19 0.76  1.42 0.16 0.11 

Anatomical Form 3.60 0.70 3.99 0.81 -6.86 <0.01 0.52 

Margins 3.65 0.66 3.99 0.72 -6.32 <0.01 0.49 

Finish, Function, & Damage 3.94 0.59 3.88 0.85  1.23 0.22 0.08 

 N = 2,166 N = 82 df = 2,246 

Overall Raw Score 3.74 0.46 3.88 0.44 -2.76 0.01 0.31 

Overall Final Score 

(with Penalties) 
3.71 0.53 3.75 0.75 -0.69 0.49 0.06 

a Only 5.5% of procedures performed in 2019 were Class III; 50% of Field test Procedures were Class III 
b Generally accepted interpretations of Cohen’s d effect size values are small, d = 0.2, medium, d = 0.5 and large, d 
= 0.8 (Cohen, 1988) 

 

Table 8 provides field-test summary results from the many-faceted Rasch model (MFRM) 

analysis for graded criteria in logit, i.e., log-odds, values, with results from the 2019 standard 

Operative Section for reference. The MFRM analysis reported in Table 8 reflects the first day of 

grading, with complete sets of three grades per examination attempt. Mean-square fit statistics and 

discrimination parameter estimates are within suggested ranges. Since the criteria have multi-point 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 150



31 

rating scales they were also assessed for category functioning, as well, in accordance with 

Linacre’s (2002) rating scale guidelines to assess, e.g., that average parameter estimates of 

candidate ability increase with each category scale point. 

Table 8. Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test: Many-Faceted Rasch 

Model Criterion Analysis Indicators in Logits. 

Standard Operative 
Section 2019 

N = 2,166 

Operative Simulation 
Field Test 2020 

N = 82 

Criterion Measure Logit (Range) -0.78 – 0.39 -0.37 – 0.43

Standard Error (Range) 0.02 – 0.02 0.08 – 0.10 

Criterion Measure Logit Meana 0.0 0.0 

Criterion Measure Logit SD 0.50 0.25 

Many-Facet Point-Biserial rb (Range) 0.25 – 0.32 0.23 – 0.37 

2pl Discrimination Estimatec (Range) 0.92 – 1.08 0.76 – 1.10 

Infit Mean-Square (Range) 0.93 – 1.07 0.85 – 1.19 

Outfit Mean-Square (Range) 0.92 – 1.08 0.85 – 1.21 
a Mean of criterion parameters constrained at 0

b Correlation between observations and corresponding average observations, excluding current observation

c  Estimate of discrimination parameter, as calculated for two-parameter logistic IRT model; Rasch (c.f., one-
parameter IRT) model fit requires values close to 1.00 (i.e., between 0.5 to 1.5 logits) 

Table 9 provides summary statistics for overall test functioning, with 2019 standard 

Operative Section results for reference. The MFRM analysis reported in Table 9 also reflects the 

first day complete sets of three grades per examination attempt. Results are highly comparable, 

even with the large difference in sample size and limitations regarding comparisons noted earlier. 

The reliability estimate for the Operative Simulation Field Test is quite high for a performance-

based assessment, at 0.91, which likely reflects the uniformity of the simulated teeth, in addition 

to high levels of examiner agreement. An additional MFRM analysis was conducted including all 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 151



32 
 
 

examiner grades from both days of grading, yielding similar results and an even higher reliability 

estimate of 0.93, providing additional evidence of calibration effectiveness. (The Rasch person 

separation reliability estimate is the same or lower than Cronbach’s alpha coefficient estimates of 

internal consistency reliability [Cronbach, 1951]. Minimum and maximum scores are excluded, if 

applicable; note that in the Many-faceted Rasch Model analysis, minimum and maximum refers 

to all raw grades, not median grades). Final score statistics include zero scores, which result from 

validated critical errors. 

 

Table 9. Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test: Overall Test Summary 

Statistics 

Indicator 
Standard Operative 

Section 2019 
Operative Simulation 

Field Test 2020 

N Attempts 2,166 82 

Final Score Mean 3.71 3.75 

Final Score SD 0.53 0.75 

Minimum; Maximum 0.00; 5.00 0.00; 4.68 

Standard Error of Measurement (SEM) 0.21 0.23 

Conditional SEM at Passing Score 0.08 0.09 

 

Indicators below are reported in logits. 

Candidate Ability Estimate Mean 1.54 1.08 

Candidate Ability Estimate SD 0.87 0.80 

Candidate Ability Estimate Min.; Max. 
-2.02; 5.04 

(-5.59a; 5.04) 
-0.71; 2.89 

Person Separation Reliability Estimateb 0.85 0.91 
a If minimum score(s) included: Facets software flags minimums and maximums and estimates test statistics with and 
without extremes 

b Equivalent to alpha coefficient internal consistency reliability estimate (Cronbach, 1951), or lower than alpha, since 
minimum (zero) and maximum (perfect) scores are excluded 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 152



33 
 
 

The percentage of candidates that scored at or above the passing cut score on the Operative 

Simulation field tests was 92.7% (76 out of 82). The passing percentage for the second, larger field 

test was lower than that of the first, due to penalties, including two attempts with validated critical 

errors (e.g., treated the wrong tooth) that lost all points. Table 10 provides passing percentages for 

the two Operative Simulation field tests, with the 2019 standard Operative Section passing 

percentage for reference. 

 

Table 10. Standard Operative Section and Operative Simulation Field Test: Passing Percentages 

 
N Attempts 

Passing 

Count 

Failing 

Count 

Passing 

Percentage 

Standard Operative Section  

2019 Season 
2,166 2,079 87 96.0% 

Operative Simulation  

Field Test 2020 - Total 
82 76 6 92.7% 

Field Test First Site  

March 30, 2020 (U. of OK) 
20 19 1 95.0% 

Field Test Second Site  

April 1-2, 2020 (U. of UT) 
62 57 5 91.9% 

 

  

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 153



34 

REFERENCES 

American Association of Dental Boards (2005). Guidance for Clinical Licensure Examinations in 

Dentistry. Chicago, IL: AADB. 

American Educational Research Association, American Psychological Association, & National 

Council on Measurement in Education. (2014). Standards for Educational and 

Psychological Testing. Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association. 

Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: 
Lawrence Earlbaum Associates. 

Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika,16, 
297-334.

Linacre, J. M., Engelhard, G., Jr., Tatum, D. S., & Myford, C. M. (1994). Measurement with 

judges: Many-faceted conjoint measurement. International Journal of Educational 

Research, 21(6), 569-577. 

Linacre, J. M. (2002). Optimizing rating scale category effectiveness. Journal of Applied 
Measurement, 3(1), 85-106. 

Rasch, G. (1960/1980). Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests. 

Copenhagen: Danish Institute for Educational Research, 1960. Expanded edition, Chicago: 

The University of Chicago Press, 1980. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2019a). WREB 2018 Dental Examination Technical Report. 

Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2019b). WREB Practice Analysis for General Dentist. 

Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2020 report in progress). WREB Dental Hygiene Practice 

Analysis Report. Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 154



35 

Sharon E. Osborn Popp, Ph.D. 

WREB Testing Specialist/ Psychometrician 

Copyright 2020 
WREB - A National Dental and Dental Hygiene Testing Agency 

23460 N. 19th Avenue, Suite 210 - Phoenix, Arizona 85027 

phone:  602-209-5400 fax: 602-371-8131

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 155



WREB - Overview of 2021 Dental 
Examination & Results for 2020 YTD

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 156



WREB Dental  1 
 

WREB Dental Examination 2021  
 

WREB has understood the need for alternatives to patient-based examination. In 2020, in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, WREB developed and administered a non-patient dental 
examination for states seeking licensure options for recent graduates. WREB has recently 
announced its development and finalization of an operative dentistry simulation section that 
requires preparation of teeth with simulated caries and a periodontal manikin section. Both sections 
will be available in 2021 after field-testing and analyses to evaluate examination validity are 
completed this fall. All five Dental Examination sections available in 2021 are described below 
and followed by a brief overview of examination results for 2020 year-to-date. 

 

Comprehensive Treatment Planning (CTP) Section. CTP is a performance-based, examiner-
graded section that requires candidates to review three patient cases and create treatment plans, 
construct responses to questions, and perform tasks (e.g., write prescriptions). CTP requires broad 
understanding of diagnostic, preventive, restorative, endodontic, periodontal, prosthodontic, oral 
surgical, radiological, pediatric dentistry, and patient-management procedures. Failure can result 
if a candidate commits a critical error, i.e., constructs a response that could result in life-threatening 
harm, e.g., administering more than the upper limit of a safe dose of local anesthetic to a pediatric 
patient.   

 

Endodontics Simulation Section. The Endodontics Section is a performance-based, examiner-
graded clinical simulation examination. Candidates must perform two endodontic procedures on 
simulated teeth mounted in a segmented arch which is mounted in a manikin that is positioned to 
simulate working on a patient. The anterior tooth procedure requires treatment of a maxillary 
central incisor simulated tooth, including access, instrumentation and obturation. The posterior 
tooth procedure requires access of a mandibular first molar simulated tooth. Access of the posterior 
tooth must enable grading examiners to identify all canal orifices. 

 

Prosthodontic Simulation Section. The Prosthodontics Section is a performance-based, 
examiner-graded clinical simulation examination. Candidates complete two prosthodontic 
procedures (three preparations) on simulated teeth in a mounted articulator and manikin that is 
positioned to simulate working on a patient. Candidates are required to prepare an anterior tooth 
for a full-coverage crown and prepare two abutments to support a posterior three-unit fixed partial 
denture prosthesis (i.e., bridge). The three-unit bridge must have a path of insertion that allows full 
seating of the restoration. 

 

Periodontics Section. The Periodontics section will be available in either a patient-based form or 
simulation form. The patient-based form is unchanged. The simulation form will not involve 
qualifying a patient but will involve the removal of subgingival calculus on teeth in an assigned 
quadrant mounted in a manikin to simulate performing the procedure on a patient. Grading criteria 
and scoring for the removal of calculus are as published for performance of the same task on a 
patient. Candidates can choose to waive or to challenge either the patient-based form or simulation 
form of the Periodontics section depending on the requirements of the state where they intend to 
become licensed. As for other simulation sections, an onsite retake opportunity may be available 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 157



WREB Dental  2 
 

for the simulation form of the Periodontics section, absent a critical error, depending on candidate 
logistics and circumstances. 
 
Operative Dentistry Section. The Operative section will be available in either a patient-based 
form or simulation form. The patient-based form is unchanged. The simulation form involves 
performing a Class II (composite or amalgam) and a Class III composite restoration on a posterior 
tooth and anterior tooth, respectively. The teeth for preparation have a simulated caries, a DEJ, 
dentin, enamel, and a pulp chamber. The depth of the simulated caries will require candidates to 
modify their preparations. As in the past, most modifications will be initially reviewed by a Floor 
Examiner. Both preparation and restoration will be accomplished with full clinical simulation and 
with rubber-dam isolation. Candidates can choose to challenge either the patient-based form or 
simulation form of the Operative section depending on the requirements of the state where they 
intend to become licensed. As for other simulation sections, an onsite retake opportunity may be 
available for the simulation form of the Operative section, absent a critical error, depending on 
candidate logistics and circumstances. 

 

WREB Dental Examination Results 2020 Year-to-Date (YTD) 
 

WREB began administering an alternative dental clinical examination to dental licensure 
candidates in the spring of 2020 in response to limits on patient-based assessment options posed 
by the COVID-19 pandemic. The first entirely non-patient WREB Dental Examination was 
administered in early June of 2020. The examination season is not yet over until early November 
but twenty-two non-patient examinations have already been conducted in twelve states between 
early June and the end of August (1,635 exam attempts). The first six examinations of the season 
administered in six states between February and early March included patient-based sections (298 
exam attempts). 

A comparison of pass or fail outcomes on the Dental Examination between the 2019 season 
(32 examinations; 2,411 exam attempts) and the 2020 season, year-to-date (28 examinations, 2,198 
exam attempts) indicates no statistically significant difference in proportion passing between 2019 
(85.6% passing) and 2020 YTD (85.0% passing)1. Figure 1 displays passing percentages for 2019 
and 2020 YTD for each Dental exam section and for overall passing status. Section passing 
percentages are higher than overall passing percentages due to the requirement that all sections 
attempted must be passed to attain overall success on the Dental exam. 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 158



WREB Dental  3 
 

 
Figure 1. Dental passing percentages for 2019 (2,411 exam attempts) and for 2020 year to date 
(2,198 exam attempts by September 25, 2020). Note that section passing percentages are higher 
than the overall percentages because passing the Dental exam requires passing all sections 
attempted. 

 

Two exam sections show differences for 2020 that are greater than expected across seasons. 
The patient-based Periodontic section was included in only 15.3% of examination attempts making 
the impact of individual school performance a highly influential factor in comparison. The 
Operative Dentistry passing percentage is 96.0% for 2019 and 97.3% for 2020 YTD. The 
difference does not appear to be due to a significant difference in the level of challenge between 
the manikin and patient-based examination, but rather is due to an extremely large difference in 
the proportion of Class III procedures completed for the manikin Operative exam compared to 
previous exam seasons. The Class III procedure was optional until the introduction of the manikin 
exam in 2020, which requires completion of one Class II procedure and one Class III procedure. 
In 2019, only 5.5% of procedures completed were Class III, compared to 46.2% of procedures in 
2020 YTD, where 84.6% of all 2020 YTD attempts have been manikin-based. Figure 2a displays 
the percentage of procedure types completed in 2019 and 2020 YTD. Candidate performance on 
the Class III procedure has been slightly but consistently higher since 2008, when the Class III 
became a regular procedure option (i.e., an average of 4.3% higher mean scores per season on 
Class III than Class II). Figure 2b shows the mean procedure scores for the Class II and Class III 
composite procedures. The Class III mean is 4.8% higher in 2020 YTD, which is consistent with 
past results for the Class III procedure and provides evidence that the increase in Operative passing 
percentage from 96.0% to 97.3% is likely due to the abundance of Class III procedures performed 
rather than the introduction of the manikin version of the Operative section. 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 159



WREB Dental  4 
 

 
Figures 2a and 2b.  (a) Percentage of procedure types completed in 2019 and 2020 YTD. Class 
III procedures are optional in the patient-based exam (only 15.4% of 2020 YTD attempts were 
patient-based). Every attempt in the manikin exam (84.6% of 2020 YTD attempts) includes a 
Class II and Class III. (b) Mean (average) procedure score for Class II and Class III Composite 
procedures. Number of procedures is provided by “N =” for both graphs. 

 

In addition to comparability in candidate performance, the  non-patient dental examination 
is also showing comparability in examiner quality, exam site comparability, and technical 
indicators. Additional details of WREB Dental Examination content, results, and technical quality 
are available upon request. 

 

 
1  Results of chi-square analysis [Dental Pass/Fail and 2019/2020 YTD]: χ2 (df =1, N = 4,609, α = 0.05) = 0.35; 

Fisher’s Exact significance p = 0.56; effect size Cramér’s V < 0.01. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 160



WREB - Overview of 2021 Dental Hygiene 
Examination & Results for 2020 YTD

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 161



WREB Dental Hygiene   1 
 

WREB Dental Hygiene Examination 2021 
 

WREB has understood the need for alternatives to patient-based examination. In 2020, in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, WREB developed and administered a Dental Hygiene 
OSCE examination for states seeking licensure options for recent graduates. WREB has recently 
announced its development and finalization of a manikin examination as another initial licensure 
alternative for 2021. Dental Hygiene Examination alternatives available in 2021 are described 
below and followed by a brief overview of examination results for 2020 year-to-date. 

 
Dental Hygiene Clinical Examination. The Dental Hygiene Clinical Examination will be 
available in either a patient-based form or manikin-based form. The patient-based form is 
unchanged. The manikin exam is comprised of two sections: Assessment Detection and 
Removable Calculus. Each section is completed on a simulated quadrant that must be mounted in 
a typodont and positioned to simulate the treatment of a patient. WREB has worked to develop a 
more realistic colored calculus and periodontal assessment model.   
 

 The Assessment and Detection section requires the candidate to assess periodontal 
conditions, accurately record periodontal measurements, and note the presence of 
subgingival calculus on a maxillary quadrant.  
 

 The Removable Calculus has subgingival calculus (of various sizes) placed throughout the 
quadrant. Candidates must successfully remove the designated key surfaces using 
ultrasonic and/or hand instrumentation.  

 

Prior to the administration of the manikin examination, a series of field tests will be conducted 
to ensure the validity of the examination. Field testing for the Removable Calculus section will 
begin in October and continue with final field testing for the Assessment Detection section. The 
manikin exam will be ready for implementation in 2021.  

 

Dental Hygiene Objective Structured Clinical Examination (DH OSCE). The DH OSCE 
examination is a standardized, multiple-choice examination that employs images and radiographs 
to replicate authentic oral conditions and clinical situations. DH OSCE content focuses on the 
clinical aspects and knowledge-based skills necessary to safely treat a patient in a clinical setting. 
The content categories assessed are medical history, risk assessment, extraoral/intraoral 
examination, periodontal assessment, dental hygiene care/treatment plan, and instrumentation. The 
DH OSCE is tailored to specific clinical aspects of dental hygiene care in order to evaluate critical 
thinking skills that cannot be assessed comprehensively on the clinic-based examination. The 
examination is administered at dental hygiene schools by WREB personnel with social distancing 
and adherence to current COVID-19 guidelines. Site-based administration eliminates the need for 
students to wait for availability at a testing center. 

  

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 162



WREB Dental Hygiene   2 
 

 

WREB Dental Hygiene Examination Results 2020 Year-to-Date (YTD) 
 

In response to requests for alternatives to patient-based examination due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, WREB developed a computer-based alternative assessment that approximates the 
critical thinking and decisions involved in clinical practices since a sufficiently valid and 
defensible alternative typodont simulation was not yet available. WREB began administering the 
Dental Hygiene OSCE to dental licensure candidates in the June of 2020. The DH OSCE 
examination is a comprehensive, computer-based Objective Structured Clinical Examination 
(OSCE) format that employs images and radiographs to replicate authentic oral conditions and 
clinical situations. The examination has been administered at sixteen different sites for a total of 
617 exam attempts. Some examination sites have resumed patient-based examinations under 
enhanced infection-prevention conditions. Twenty-two patient-based examinations have taken 
place for a total of 690 exam attempts in 2020, so far. 

 

Results for 2020 year-to-date have been comparable to results from previous years. Figure 
1 shows passing percentages for the Dental Hygiene Examination for 2019 and 2020 YTD. The 
passing percentages for all attempts includes all attempts, including retakes. The first-attempt 
passing percentages reflect each candidate’s first attempt, only. The retakes passing percentages 
reflect re-examination results for candidates with previous failures, only. First attempts are higher, 
since most candidates are able to demonstrate competence the first time challenging the 
examination. Some candidates who fail upon first attempt, may be truly competent, but were 
unable to demonstrate competence on the day of the exam. Retakes allow a candidate the 
opportunity to demonstrate competence again. The likelihood that a truly competent candidate will 
continue to perform unsuccessfully after multiple retakes becomes lower with each subsequent 
attempt. Remediation is required after three failures of the examination.   

 

 
Figure 1. Dental Hygiene passing percentages for 2019 (1,806 exam attempts) and for 2020 
year to date (1,307 exam attempts by September 25, 2020). 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 163



WREB Dental Hygiene   3 
 

 

While the combined examination results are highly comparable, the results for the DH 
OSCE are slightly higher, (i.e., 95.8% passing), compared to the patient-based examination (i.e., 
91.0%) so far in 2020, than for the patient-based examination. However, the retake passing 
percentage for the DH OSCE (63.6%) is far lower than the retake passing percentage for the 
patient-based examination (between 75% and 80% for many years) which suggests that the DH 
OSCE is highly discriminating regarding demonstration of competence. 

 

Major indicators of technical quality for the DH OSCE remain consistent since the initial 
evaluation prior to operational administration. Estimated values of Cronbach’s alpha coefficient 
of internal-consistency reliability are 0.70 for each test form, which is reasonable for criterion-
referenced competency assessment since alpha reliability estimates depend upon sample 
variability and are attenuated due to the high level of candidate preparedness. Other indicators, 
such as the Brennan-Kane Ф(λ) index of dependability and Peng-Subkoviak P0 estimates of 
classification consistency provide insight into the reliability of pass-fail outcomes. Dependability 
index values, which take item variance into account, are high, with values of 0.92 for each test 
form. Classification consistency values are even higher, with values of 0.97 for each test form, 
given that mean scores are far enough above the passing cut-score to make misclassification less 
likely. The mean scale score and passing percentages for each form are identical and no significant 
difference in pass/fail outcome has been found between forms (χ2 (1, N=617) < 0.0001, Fisher’s 
Exact significance p = 1.00, Cramér’s V < 0.001). Candidates can expect no difference in level of 
challenge or test outcome regardless of test form assigned. 

 

Additional details of WREB Dental Hygiene Examination content, results, and technical 
quality are available upon request. 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 164



Agenda Item (7)(l):

ADEX:
Use of Manikin in Dental Hygiene and 

Dental Periodontal Scaling 

(See Board memorandum dated 9/18/2020 
regarding temporary approval and 

acceptance by Board)

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 165



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 166



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 167



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 168



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 169



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 170



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 171



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 172



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 173



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 174



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 175



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 176



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 177



Agenda Item (7)(m)

ADEX:
Restorative Exam & Letter from 

President of ADEX

(See Board memorandum dated 9/18/2020 
regarding temporary approval and 

acceptance by Board)

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 178



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 179



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 180



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 181



Agenda Item (7)(o)

Advisory Opinion: 
From Dr. Capurro - request to support inclusion 
of licensed dental providers in NAC 652.397 to 
allow providers to apply for certification and 

licensure needed to administer COVID-19 
waived tests

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 182



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 183



Helping People --  

It's Who We Are And What We Do 

Dear Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners, 

The practice of dental medicine has evolved as research established the relationship between oral health and 

systemic well-being. Dental professionals serve a fundamental role in providing health care, medical education, 

and public health improvement programs. During the current pandemic, all healthcare professionals are being 

called upon to practice at the top of their license to increase access to care.  

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is impacting medical and dental communities worldwide. Currently, 

95% of dental practices treat patients in their community while taking precautions and practicing safety during the 

pandemic1. Oral health is fundamental to general health, and this is illustrated by the fact that 9% of Americans 

annually visit their dentist but not their physician1. If patients could receive influenza and COVID-19 vaccines 

during their routine dental appointment, the spread of infectious communicable diseases could be reduced. 

Dentists and dental hygienists should have the opportunity to provide life-saving vaccinations to their patients and 

the community to bridge healthcare delivery gaps.  

According to Immunize Nevada, vaccines save more than 33,000 lives in the U.S., prevent 14 million disease 

cases, and save $43.3 billion in healthcare costs2. Vaccinations play a critical role in keeping individuals healthy 

and eradicating severe diseases for the entire community. The influenza vaccine will be more critical during the 

COVID-19 pandemic. However, Nevada is ranked 48th in the nation for annual flu vaccination amongst six 

months to 17-year-olds2.  

Adopting regulatory language that allows Nevada dentists and dental hygienists to administer vaccinations and 

provide pandemic vaccination support will increase access to life-saving vaccinations from highly trained 

practitioners. The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (NSBDE) has authority under NRS 631.190 to follow 

the administrative process outlined in NRS 233B and adopt either emergency or permanent regulations. An 

inclusion of dentists and dental hygienists into the community of vaccine capable providers will boost Nevada's 

vaccination rates. Healthcare workforce capacity will be of crucial importance when a COVID-19 vaccination 

becomes available. Furthermore, clarification and adoption of a regulation to permit Nevada's licensed dental 

professionals to administer vaccinations are prudent and a potentially significant component of Nevada's COVID-

19 response. 

Items for consideration: 

• The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention has notified Nevada that a coronavirus vaccine may be

available in late October or early November 2020 for healthcare workers and high-risk populations.

Since there will be a phased approach for vaccine administration, the vaccination may be available for

public inoculation by pharmacists and dental professionals(if scope of practice is expanded) in late

January/early February 2021.

STEVE SISOLAK 

Governor 

RICHARD WHITLEY, MS 

Director 

LISA SHERYCH 

Administrator 

IHSAN AZZAM, Ph.D., M.D. 

Chief Medical Officer DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

4150 Technology Way 
Carson City, Nevada 89706 

Telephone (775) 684-4200  •  Fax (775) 687-7570 
http://dpbh.nv.gov 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 184



September 29, 2020 
Page 2 
 

9/29/2020 
1. DPBH Letter to NSBDE_9.29.2020Immunize Nevada. (2018). Nevada Immunization Report Card. Retrieved from 

https://immunizenevada.org/sites/default/files/Advocacy/iz%20report%20card_2019_1.pdf   

• NRS 233B.0395-061 outlines the adoption of proposed permanent or temporary regulations. For the 

2020 calendar year, the deadline for proposed regulations was June 30th. The Legislative Counsel Bureau 

(LCB) will begin reviewing proposed permanent regulations after July 1st of 2021. Any regulations 

created now will be temporary as LCB review is not be possible until 2021.   

• NRS 233B.0613 outlines the process for the creation of emergency regulation. Emergency regulation is 

active for 120 days from adoption and is not typically renewed after the expiration date.  

• Model standing orders, as created by the Oregon Health Authority and outlined in Oregon's dental 

vaccination regulation, could be recreated for Nevada dental professionals. Model standing orders are 

prewritten orders and specific instructions for administration and frequency of a given vaccine. These 

orders provide a level of clarification and a foundation of immunization knowledge that protects the 

public's health and safety. It is recommended that NSBDE consider allowing the Division to create these 

informational guides.  

• NSBDE has an unprecedented opportunity to protect, promote, and improve Nevadans' public health by 

permitting dental professionals to administer vaccines. Oral health professionals can and should be part 

of Nevada's vaccine distribution task force.  

Additionally, NSBDE's review and ruling of advisory opinions submitted by Dr. Capurro, DPBH State Dental 

Health Officer, are requested. Advisory opinions on the inclusion of dental professionals into NAC 652.397 for 

in-office waive testing, and fluoride varnish distribution and application as part of the Nevada Action Network 

have been submitted.  

We urge NSBDE to consider adopting a scope of practice expansion for dental professionals to prescribe and 

administer vaccines as part of a safe and effective disease prevention strategy. Dental professionals can positively 

impact vaccination rates, improve population health, and encourage dental-medical integration. The Division of 

Public and Behavioral Health is available to assist NSBDE during the regulatory process.  

Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter. 

Respectfully,  

 

  

Lisa Sherych 

Administrator,  

Division of Public and Behavioral Health  

Ihsan Azzam, MD, PhD 

Chief Medical Officer, 

Division of Public and 

Behavioral Health 

Antonina Capurro, DMD, MPH, MBA 

State Dental Health Officer,  

Division of Public and Behavioral 

Health 

 
CC: Michele White, Chief of Staff, Office of the Governor 

       Nevada Dental Association 

       Nevada Dental Hygienists’ Association  

 

Enclosure:  

a. White paper: Opportunity for Dentistry to Provide Immunizations as Part of the Disease Prevention 

Strategy During the COVID-19 Pandemic 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 185

https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/VACCINESIMMUNIZATION/IMMUNIZATIONPROVIDERRESOURCES/Pages/stdgordr.aspx
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=266460
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/viewSingleRule.action?ruleVrsnRsn=266460
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/VACCINESIMMUNIZATION/IMMUNIZATIONPROVIDERRESOURCES/Pages/stdgordr.aspx


Opportunity for Dentistry to Provide Immunizations as Part of the Disease 

Prevention Strategy During the COVID-19 Pandemic 
Created for the Nevada Oral Health Program  

by Dr. Capurro, Nevada State Dental Health Officer and Ms. Gomez, Program Intern.  

 

Synopsis 

 

In 2019, Oregon became the first state to allow dentists to provide vaccinations to all patients. 

Minnesota and Illinois allow dentists to vaccinate against the flu for adults only. Vaccinations 

are an effective public health tool to reduce the spread of infectious diseases. 

According to Immunize Nevada, vaccines save more than 33,000 lives in the U.S., prevent 14 

million disease cases, and save $43.3 billion in healthcare costs (6). Vaccinations play a critical 

role in keeping individuals healthy and eradicating severe diseases for the entire community. The 

influenza vaccine will be more critical during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, Nevada is 

ranked 48th in the nation for annual flu vaccination amongst six months to 17-year-olds (6).  

Adopting regulatory language that allows Nevada dentists and dental hygienists to administer 

vaccinations and provide pandemic vaccination support will increase access to life-saving 

vaccinations from highly trained practitioners. The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

(NSBDE)  has authority under NRS 631.190 to follow the administrative process outlined in 

NRS 233B and adopt either emergency or permanent regulations. An inclusion of dentists and 

dental hygienists into the community of vaccine capable providers will boost Nevada's 

vaccination rates. Healthcare workforce capacity will be of crucial importance when a COVID-

19 vaccination becomes available. Furthermore, clarification and adoption of regulation to 

permit Nevada’s licensed dental professionals to administer vaccinations is not only prudent but 

also a potentially significant component of Nevada’s COVID-19 response. 

Overview 

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is impacting medical and dental communities 

worldwide. Currently, 95% of dental practices treat patients in their community while taking 

precautions and practicing safety during the pandemic (1). Oral health is fundamental to general 

health, and this is illustrated by the fact that more than 31 million people annually visit their 

dentist, but not their physician (1). If patients could receive influenza or COVID-19 vaccines 

during their routine dental appointment, the spread of infectious communicable diseases could be 

reduced. Dentists and dental hygienists should have the opportunity to provide life-saving 

vaccinations to their patients and the community to bridge healthcare delivery gaps.  

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 186



 2 

Recently the Nevada Board of Pharmacy expanded the scope of practice for pharmacy 

technicians. Initial and continuing education was stipulated, and a framework was created that 

NSBDE can follow to allow Nevada dentists and dental hygienists to administer vaccinations 

safely. As part of the pharmacy technician expansion, pharmaceutical technicians must complete 

a minimum of one-hour training related to vaccines, immunization, and their administration from 

one of the following: Immunize Nevada, ACPE- approved CPE, in-service training provided by 

the owner or managing pharmacist to the pharmaceutical technicians working in or for the 

pharmacy that ensures the competency of the technicians or other board-approved training (11). 

In addition, the pharmacy technician must complete one hour of continuing education in a course 

relating to vaccines, immunization, and administration from one of the resources listed above 

(11).  

Like pharmacists, dentists and dental hygienists are considered an essential healthcare provider. 

As healthcare professionals, they review medical histories, screen for blood pressure and 

systemic disease, and refer to primary care physicians as needed. Dental professionals are well 

equipped to provide vaccinations. They routinely provide injections in the head and neck and are 

trained in anatomy, microbiology, and pharmacology.  

There are many cross overs between oral and systemic health. Human papillomavirus (HPV) 

vaccination is linked to oral cancer prevention. HPV causes 70% of oropharyngeal cancers in the 

United States (4). The American Dental Association (ADA) recognizes the HPV vaccine as a 

means of preventing HPV infections, which are associated with oropharyngeal cancer (2). The 

HPV vaccine protects against HPV-associated oral cancers (2). The national goal for HPV 

vaccination is 80%. Nevada's level is well below 60% (6). The HPV vaccination rate could be 

improved if Nevada's dental professionals were part of the public health vaccination team.  

The administration of the influenza vaccine will be essential during the fall period of the 

COVID-19 pandemic. The influenza vaccination is necessary to protect communities from 

preventable illnesses and outbreaks and reduce unnecessary burdens to the health care system. 

Nevada is ranked 48th for annual flu vaccination amongst 6 months to 17-year olds (6). By 

allowing dentists to administer immunizations, avoidable illness could be curbed by providing 

convenient vaccinations to patients by their trusted dental team.   

Currently, three states have created legislation to allow dentists to administer specific vaccines. 

Illinois enacted legislation that permits dentists to administer influenza vaccines to adults upon 

completing state-defined training (3). Minnesota passed legislation in 2014 that allows dentists to 

provide the influenza vaccine after taking a Board-approved course. And, Oregon passed a bill in 

2019 to authorize trained and certified dentists to prescribe and administer vaccines.  

Dental Vaccination Statutes 

Minnesota 

Under the 2019 Minnesota Statutes 150A.055 Administration of Influenza Immunizations 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 187



 3 

licensed dentists can administer the influenza immunization to patients 19 years of age and older 

and only by a licensed dentists who have: immediate access to emergency equipment, including 

but not limited to oxygen administration equipment, epinephrine, and other allergic reaction 

response equipment, are trained in or have completed a program approved by the Minnesota 

Board of Dentistry; specifically the administration of immunizations. Any dentist giving 

influenza vaccinations must comply with guidelines established by the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices relating to vaccines and immunizations, which includes, but is not 

limited to, vaccine storage and handling, vaccine administration and documentation, and vaccine 

contraindications and precautions. Once a qualified dentist has administered an influenza vaccine 

to a patient, the dentist shall report the administration to the immunization to the Minnesota 

Immunization Information Connection or notify the patient’s primary physician or clinic of the 

administration of the immunization (9).  

Illinois 

Under the administrative code for Illinois dental practice act, dentists administering flu vaccines,  

vaccinations are limited to patients 18 years of age and older who consent to the administration 

of the vaccine and are administered under a valid prescription or standing order by a physician. 

Before being issued a vaccine, vaccine information statements must be provided to patients. 

Training courses include a minimum of four hours of: the recognition of contraindications and 

how to handle adverse reactions, the appropriate methods of storage, handling and disposal of 

vaccines and all used supplies or contaminated equipment, and proper administration and 

maintenance of written policies and procedures. Reporting requirements include any adverse 

events to be reported to the Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System (VAERS) and the 

patient's primary care provider's name. Any dentist who administers the influenza vaccine must 

enter all patient-level data on the vaccines in the immunization data registry (I-Care) maintained 

by the Department of Public Health. Within 30 days after administering the vaccine, the dentist 

must report the administration to the patient's primary care physician (7).  

Oregon 

The Oregon House Bill 2220 authorizes trained and certified dentists to prescribe and administer 

vaccines. The Oregon Board of Dentistry states that a certified dentist may prescribe and 

administer vaccines to a person with whom the dentist has established a patient relationship. The 

board may issue a vaccination certificate to a dentist who has completed a training course 

described in the subsection, pays the certification fee, and meets other board requirements. The 

dentist must report the prescription and administration of vaccines to the immunization registry 

created by the Oregon Health Authority (10).  

Dental Vaccination Precedent  

According to the Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO), there is a 

precedent of expanding the scope of practice for dental professionals during public health 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 188



 4 

emergencies. During the 2009 H1N1 Influenza Pandemic, the following scope of practice 

expansions occurred(3): 

1. Licensed or certified professionals authorized to administer seasonal and H1N1 vaccine 

as per state health agency instructions and completion of a training program. (I.L.) 

2. Commissioner of health authorized to permit dentists to administer seasonal and H1N1 

vaccine. (M.A.) 

3. Commissioner of health authorized to permit dentists to administer vaccinations if a local 

board of health requests state assistance to respond to a public health threat. (M.N.) 

4. Dentists could administer seasonal and H1N1 vaccinations at places of distribution under 

limited circumstances. (N.Y.) 

5. Dental hygienists could administer seasonal and H1N1 vaccinations at places of 

distribution under limited circumstances. (N.Y.) (3) 

Dentists are routinely called upon during emergencies to lend their skill and expertise to public 

health disaster relief initiatives. In 2012, New York Governor Andrew Cuomo signed an 

Executive Order (N.068) that allowed those affected by Hurricane Sandy to receive a tetanus 

shot from pharmacists, emergency medical technicians, and dentists. Governor Cuomo's 

Executive Order temporarily expanded the scope of practice of New York dentists during the 

declaration of a state of emergency. 

COVID-19 Related Dental Vaccination Proposals 

According to U.S. Public Health Service: Per Dr. Tim Ricks USPHS, Chief Dental Officer, 

approximately 50% of states are considering using oral health professionals to administer the 

COVID-19 vaccine.  

Maryland: The Maryland Board of Dentistry is proposing legislation to allow dentists to 

administer vaccinations. The Board of Dentistry petitioned Maryland Governor Hogan to 

approve an order declaring that during the pandemic COVID-19 testing and vaccinations are 

within dentistry's scope of practice. 

Illinois: Emergency directive adopted. DDS/DMD/RDHs will be involved in a mass vaccination 

effort to provide influenza and SARS CoV-2 vaccine when available.  

Missouri: Attempting to expand the dental practice act to allow dentists to provide vaccines. 

There has been a request to use dentists for mass emergency vaccinations. Dentists are permitted 

to volunteer to give vaccines within the local health department.   

Wisconsin: Dental board is reviewing COVID-19 scope of practice expansion. 

COVID-19 Vaccination Expansion in Nevada 

On September 11th, Governor Sisolak signed a regulation enabling pharmacy technicians to 

administer vaccines. The Nevada Board of Dental Examiners can follow the Nevada Board of 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 189



 5 

Pharmacy’s lead to follow similar legislative guidelines for dentists in Nevada to provide 

immunizations to their patients. Nevada WebIZ is Nevada’s statewide Immunization Information 

System. The system is a confidential system that stores vaccination histories throughout an 

individual's lifetime. Nevada dentists and dental hygienists could use this system to make 

informed vaccination decisions, exchange data electronically with medical doctors, and record 

vaccinations. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the American 

Immunization Registry Association (AIRA) work together to provide guidance and best practices 

to Nevada WebIZ (5). 

DPBH Survey  

The Nevada Division of Public and Behavior Health (DPBH) surveyed licensed Nevada dentists 

who hold a DEA license regarding their interest in providing immunizations. The questions 

included the following: 

Would you be interested in receiving and administering the COVID-19 vaccine in early 2021? 

Do you currently vaccinate with flu? 

Would you be interested in vaccinating for flu? 

Do you currently have a refrigerator to store vaccines? 

What type of refrigerator do you have? 

How large is the inside of your refrigerator? 

Is your refrigerator located in a secure area? 

Do you currently have a freezer to store vaccines? 

What type of freezer do you have? 

How large is the inside of your freezer? 

Is your freezer located in a secure area? 

Roughly how many patients would you be able to vaccinate in a month? 

Does your practice currently offer vaccines other than flu to patients in office? 

Is your practice currently enrolled in Nevada WebIZ? 

How many of your patients have insurance? 

How many staff members within the practice are able/approved to vaccinate? 

 

DPBH Survey Results 

The DPBH survey was completed by 141 dentists in Nevada. The counties include Carson City, 

Churchill, Clark, Douglas, Humboldt, Lyon, Washoe, and White Pine counties. 140 of the 141 

dentists stated that they would be interested in receiving and administering the COVID-19 

vaccine in early 2021.  

 

34% of the dentists reported that they currently vaccinate with the flu. This is most likely a 

misinterpreted question since dental offices are not authorized to administer vaccines, and 140 

participants stated that they do not offer the flu vaccine to their patients. The item may have been 

misinterpreted as to whether the office staff personally receiving a flu vaccine. Of the 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 190



 6 

respondents that stated they did not vaccinate for the flu, 78% said they would be interested in 

vaccinating for the flu.  

 

83% of the survey participants state that they have a refrigerator to store vaccines. 55% say that 

they have a secure area where the refrigerator is located (only accessible by medical staff). 38% 

have a somewhat secure area (close to non-medical and medical staff). 46% of participants state 

that have a freezer to store vaccines and 19% would be interested in purchasing a freezer to store 

vaccines. 57% state that they have a secure area for freezer storage (not accessible by medical 

staff). 

 

27% of survey respondents state they can vaccinate 50 patients a month. 23% state they can 

vaccinate 100 patients per month. 30% state they can vaccinate more than 100 patients a month, 

and 20% of respondents said they could vaccinate less than 20 patients per month. 

 

Patient Population Survey Results 

54% of the dental offices have patient populations that are healthcare personnel 

80% of the dental offices have patient populations is 65+ and older 

67% of dental offices have patient populations ages 26-64 with underlying medical conditions 

54% of the dental offices have a patient population of pregnant women 

22% of the dental offices have infant and toddler populations 6-35 months old 

63% of the dental offices have patient populations of children 8-10 years old 

79% of the dental offices have patient populations of adolescents 11-18 years old 

79% of the dental offices have patient populations of adults ages 19-25 

87% of the dental offices have patient populations of adults ages 26-64 

 

68% of the dentists surveyed stated that they are not enrolled in Nevada WebIZ, 30% were 

unsure, and 1 was enrolled in Nevada WebIZ. 

 

Dental Insurance 

77% of dental offices reported that over half of their patients have insurance, 12% stated less 

than half of their patients have insurance. 4 offices reported that all of their patients have 

insurance, 1 stated that none of their patients have insurance, 11 responded as unknown. 

 

89% of the dental offices stated that less than 5 staff members within the practice are 

able/approved to vaccinate.  

Conclusion 

Through immunizations, the Nevada dental community can serve an indispensable role as a 

public health team member to curb the COVID-19 pandemic. Expansion of Nevada dentists and 

dental hygienists’ scope of practice will increase access for patients to receive life-saving 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 191



 7 

vaccinations from highly trained practitioners. Many dental offices see patients who are most at 

risk for complications due to COVID-19, including the 65 and older population and patients with 

underlying medical conditions. Additionally, the inclusion of dental professionals into the 

community of vaccine capable providers will boost Nevada's low vaccination rates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 192



 8 

Addendum 

 

Example of Statuary and Regulatory Language  

 

Illinois  

Dental Practice Act (225 ILCS 25/54.3)  

 

    (Section scheduled to be repealed on January 1, 2026) 

    Sec. 54.3. Vaccinations. 

    (a) Notwithstanding Section 54.2 of this Act, a dentist may administer vaccinations upon 

completion of appropriate training set forth by rule and approved by the Department on 

appropriate vaccine storage, proper administration, and addressing contraindications and adverse 

reactions. Vaccinations shall be limited to patients 18 years of age and older pursuant to a valid 

prescription or standing order by a physician licensed to practice medicine in all its branches 

who, in the course of professional practice, administers vaccines to patients or  if  it  is  a  general 

policy or recommendation published by the Centers for Disease Control or the Director of Public 

Health. Methods of communication shall be established for consultation with the physician in 

person or by telecommunications. 

    (b) Vaccinations administered by a dentist shall be limited to influenza (inactivated influenza 

vaccine and live attenuated influenza intranasal vaccine). Vaccines shall only be administered by 

the dentist and shall not be delegated to an assistant or any other person. Vaccination of a patient 

by a dentist shall be documented in the patient's dental record and the record shall be retained in 

accordance with current dental recordkeeping standards. The dentist shall notify the patient's 

primary care physician of each dose of vaccine administered to the patient and shall enter all 

patient level data or update the patient's current record. The dentist may provide this notice to the 

patient's physician electronically. In addition, the dentist shall enter all patient level data on 

vaccines administered in the immunization data registry maintained by the Department of Public 

Health. 

    (c) A dentist shall only provide vaccinations under this Section if contracted with and 

credentialed by the patient's health insurance, health maintenance organization, or other health 

plan to specifically provide the vaccinations allowed under this Section. Persons enrolled in 

Medicare or Medicaid may only receive the vaccinations allowed for under this Section from 

dentists who are authorized to do so by the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services 

or the Department of Healthcare and Family Services. 

    (d) The Department shall adopt any rules necessary to implement this Section. 

    (e) This Section is repealed on January 1, 2026.  

(Source: P.A. 101-162, eff. 7-26-19.) 

 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 193

https://trackbill.com/bill/illinois-senate-bill-2965-dentist-vaccine-administration/1885286/


 9 

Minnesota  

150A.055 Administration of Influenza Immunization  

Subdivision 1.Practice of dentistry. 

A person licensed to practice dentistry under sections 150A.01 to 150A.14 shall be deemed 

to be practicing dentistry while participating in the administration of an influenza vaccination. 

Subd. 2.Qualified dentists. 

(a) The influenza immunization shall be administered only to patients 19 years of age and older 

and only by licensed dentists who: 

(1) have immediate access to emergency response equipment, including but not limited to 

oxygen administration equipment, epinephrine, and other allergic reaction response equipment; 

and 

(2) are trained in or have successfully completed a program approved by the Minnesota Board of 

Dentistry, specifically for the administration of immunizations. The training or program must 

include: 

(i) educational material on the disease of influenza and vaccination as prevention of the disease; 

(ii) contraindications and precautions; 

(iii) intramuscular administration; 

(iv) communication of risk and benefits of influenza vaccination and legal requirements 

involved; 

(v) reporting of adverse events; 

(vi) documentation required by federal law; and 

(vii) storage and handling of vaccines. 

(b) Any dentist giving influenza vaccinations under this section shall comply with guidelines 

established by the federal Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices relating to vaccines 

and immunizations, which includes, but is not limited to, vaccine storage and handling, vaccine 

administration and documentation, and vaccine contraindications and precautions. 

Subd. 3.Coordination of care. 

After a dentist qualified under subdivision 2 has administered an influenza vaccine to a 

patient, the dentist shall report the administration of the immunization to the Minnesota 

Immunization Information Connection or otherwise notify the patient's primary physician or 

clinic of the administration of the immunization. 

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 194

https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/150A.055
https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/150A.01
https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/150A.14


 10 

 

 

Oregon:  

House Bill 2220  

 

SECTION 1. Section 2 of this 2019 Act is added to and made a part of ORS chapter 679. 

SECTION 2. (1)(a) In accordance with rules adopted by the Oregon Board of Dentistry, a dentist 

may prescribe and administer vaccines to a person with whom the dentist has established a 

patient relationship. 

(b) The board shall approve a training course on the prescription and administration of vaccines. 

The board may approve a training course offered by the Centers for Disease Control and 

Prevention, the American Dental Association or its successor organization or other similar 

federal agency or professional organization. 

(c) The board may adopt other rules as necessary to carry out this section. 

(2) The board shall adopt rules relating to the prescription and administration of vaccines by 

dentists, including rules requiring dentists to: 

(a) Report the prescription and administration of vaccines to the immunization registry created 

by the Oregon Health Authority pursuant to ORS 433.094; 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 195

https://olis.leg.state.or.us/liz/2019r1/Downloads/MeasureDocument/HB2220/Enrolled


 11 

(b) Prior to administering a vaccine, review the patient’s vaccination history in the immunization 

registry described in this subsection; 

(c) Comply with protocols established by the authority for the prescription and administration of 

vaccines under subsection (1) of this section; and 

(d) Comply with any applicable rules adopted by the authority related to vaccines. 

(3) In consultation with the board, the authority may adopt rules related to vaccines prescribed 

and administered by dentists. 

SECTION 3. ORS 433.095 is amended to read: 

433.095. The Oregon Health Authority shall adopt rules requiring dentists and pharmacists to 

report information about the administration of vaccines to the immunization registry created 

under ORS 433.094. 

SECTION 4. ORS 679.010 is amended to read: 

679.010. As used in this chapter and ORS 680.010 to 680.205, unless the context requires other- 

wise:  (see link for full text) 

SECTION 5. ORS 679.020 is amended to read:  (see link for full text) 

SECTION 6. (1) Section 2 of this 2019 Act and the amendments to ORS 433.095, 679.010 and 

679.020 by sections 3 to 5 of this 2019 Act become operative on January 1, 2020. 

(2) The Oregon Board of Dentistry and the Oregon Health Authority may take any action before 

the operative date specified in subsection (1) of this section that is necessary to enable the board 

and the authority to exercise, on and after the operative date specified in sub- section (1) of this 

section, all of the duties, functions and powers conferred on the board and the authority by 

section 2 of this 2019 Act and the amendments to ORS 433.095, 679.010 and 679.020 by 

sections 3 to 5 of this 2019 Act. 

SECTION 7. This 2019 Act being necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, 

health and safety, an emergency is declared to exist, and this 2019 Act takes effect on its 

passage. 

 

 

References 

1. American Dental Association. (2020). Statement of the American Dental Association to 

the Committee on Equitable Allocations of Vaccine for the Novel Coronavirus. 

2. American Dental Association. (2020). FDA Adds Oropharyngeal Cancer Prevention as 

Indication for HPV Vaccine. Retrieved from https://www.ada.org/en/publications/ada-

news/2020-archive/june/fda-adds-oropharyngeal-cancer-prevention-as-indication-for-

hpv-vaccine.    

3. Association of State and Territorial Health Officials. (2012). Modified Scope of Practice 

Used by States in the 2009 H1N1 Influenza Pandemic Fact Sheet. Retrieved from 

https://www.astho.org/uploadedFiles/Programs/Preparedness/Public_Health_Emergency_

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 196



 12 

Law/Scope_of_Practice_Toolkit/03-SOP%20H1N1%20State%20SOP%20FS%203-

12%20Final.pdf  

4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). HPV and Oropharyngeal Cancer. 

Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/hpv/basic_info/hpv_oropharyngeal.htm 

5. Department of Health and Human Services Nevada Division of Public Health. (2019).  

Nevada WEBIZ- Our Statewide Immunization Information System. Retrieved from 

http://dpbh.nv.gov/Programs/WEBIZ/WEBIZ_-_Home/    

6. Immunize Nevada. (2018). Nevada Immunization Report Card. Retrieved from 

https://immunizenevada.org/sites/default/files/Advocacy/iz%20report%20card_2019_1.p

df   

7. Joint Committee on Administrative Rules (2016). Section 1220.403 Dentists 

Administering Flu Vaccines. Retrieved from 

https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/150A.055.   

8. Maryland State Dental Association. (2020). Frequently Asked Questions. Retrieved from: 

http://www.msda.com/covid-19.php   

9. Minnesota Legislature. (2019). 2019 Minnesota Statutes. 150A.055 Administration of 

Influenza Immunizations. Retrieved from 

https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/150A.055  

10. Oregon State Legislature. (2019). House Bill 2220. Retrieved from 

https://olis.leg.state.or.us/liz/2019r1/Downloads/MeasureDocument/HB2220/Enrolled.  

11. Proposed Regulation of the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy. (2020). Workshop.  

 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 197



Letters of Support regarding Advisory 
Opinion Request from Dr. Capurro - 

Waived Tests

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 198



Advisory Committee on the State Program 
for Oral Health (AC4OH)       

August 13, 2020 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Ste. A-1 

Las Vegas, NV 89118 

Re: Support for Dr. Capurro’s Request for an Advisory Opinion on NAC 652.397 

Dear Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

The Advisory Committee for Oral Health (AC4OH) appointed by Governor Steve 

Sisolak was formed to support the State of Nevada’s Department of Health and Human 

Services Oral Health Program with a mission to advocate for optimum oral health for all 

Nevadans. 

The Department of Health and Human Services is responsible for protecting, 

maintaining, and improving the health of all Nevadans, which includes oral health. As 

demonstrated through numerous studies, oral health is a vital component of overall 

health. The AC4OH is committed to collaborating with community dental providers and 

stakeholders to improve oral health throughout the state and specifically supports 

partners that can meet the needs of underserved, vulnerable populations. 

This letter endorses the request for an Advisory Opinion on NAC 652.397  made by Dr. 

Antonina Capurro, Nevada State Dental Health Officer. We urge the Nevada State Board 

of Dental Examiners to support alteration of NAC 652.397 to include licensed dental 

providers (both dentists and dental hygienists) which will allow dental practitioners to 

qualify to serve as a director of an exempt laboratory and apply for exempt laboratory 

license and federal CLIA certification needed to administer waive tests (COVID-19, 

blood glucose level test – in-office using a glucose meter, HbA1c in-office point of 

service testing, dip-stick test, etc). Furthermore, we ask the Nevada State Board of Dental 

Examiners to submit an application for variance to the Nevada State Board of Health for 

dentally related variances to NAC 652.397 regulations.  

In support of this request we offer data from a recent survey conducted by the American 

Association of Dental Boards. The survey found that 33.3% of survey respondents are 

allowing dental offices to conduct COVID-19 tests or order COVID-19 tests and an 

additional 33.3% of respondents are considering future approval for in-office COVID-19 

testing. In fact, Utah recently approved the use of D0140 for the administration of 

COVID-19 testing within a dental office. We urge the  Nevada State Board of Dental 

Examiners to make a similar recommendation.  

The AC4OH respectfully asks for your kind consideration of the aforementioned 

advisory opinion.  

Most Sincerely, 

Cathie Davenport 

AC4OH Chairperson 

Board Members 

Brandon Abbatangelo,Tina, 
DMD 

Capelli, David, DMD, PhD 

Chandler, Terri, RDH 

Coppes, Max J., MD, PhD, 

MBA, FAAP 

Davenport, Cathie  

Garvey, Christina, RDH 

Liveratti, Mary 

Mariano, Chris Elaine, APRN, 
CPNP-PC, MSN, RN 

Prohaska, Benjamin, PA-C, 

BC-ADM 

Putnam, Bryce, DMD 

Skelton, Judith, PhD 

Talley, Robert, DDS 

Taylor, Kelly, RDH 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 199



Additional Documentation regarding 
the inclusion of Dental Professionals 

in NAC 652.397

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 200



Additional Documentation for Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners Advisory 
Opinion  

INCLUSION OF DENTAL PROFESSIONALS INTO NAC 652.397

In Nevada, to perform a laboratory test that has been categorized by the Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA) as a Waived test (ie. blood glucose level test – in-office using a 

glucose meter, HbA1c in-office point of service testing, dip-stick test, etc.), a State of 

Nevada Exempt Laboratory License and a federal CLIA certificate is required. This 

requirement must be met before licensed dental professionals can perform COVID-19 

testing categorized as a waive test.  

In order to qualify for an exempt laboratory license, a laboratory director must qualify 

according to NAC 652.397 which lists qualifying professions for this distinction. 

Currently, the dental profession is not included as qualified persons to be exempt 

laboratory directors. The Board of Health has jurisdiction over Chapter 652. Support 
from NSBDE is required before regulations can be submitted to the Board of Health for 
adoption of changes to this chapter. I humbly request that NSBDE consider this matter 

and vote to support inclusion of licensed dental providers in NAC 652.397: Director of 

Exempt Laboratory. 

Example of NAC 652.397 change: 

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and NAC 652.395, to qualify to serve

as a director of an exempt laboratory, a person must be:

(a) A licensed physician;

(b) Qualified for a license as a director of a licensed laboratory pursuant to NAC

652.380; 

(c) Qualified for a license as a director of a registered laboratory pursuant to NAC

652.395; … 

(h) A dentists licensed pursuant to chapter 631 of NRS.

Please note: While public health dental hygienists could be added to NAC 652.397 as 

they are allowed to practice without direct supervision according to NAC 631.145, in 

order to manipulate, collect, or perform a waive laboratory test they must additionally 

either qualify under NRS 652.210 or obtain certification as an assistant in a medical 

laboratory pursuant to NRS 652.127. Dentists are specifically listed under NRS 652.210. 

Any changes to NRS would require legislative action.  

NRS 652.210  Manipulation of persons for collection of specimens; authorized 

practices of technical personnel. 

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and NRS 126.121 and 652.186, no

person other than a licensed physician, a licensed optometrist, a licensed practical nurse, 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 201



a registered nurse, a perfusionist, a physician assistant licensed pursuant to chapter 630 or 

633 of NRS, a certified advanced emergency medical technician, a certified paramedic, a 

practitioner of respiratory care licensed pursuant to chapter 630 of NRS, a licensed 

dentist or a registered pharmacist may manipulate a person for the collection of 

specimens. The persons described in this subsection may perform any laboratory test 

which is classified as a waived test pursuant to Subpart A of Part 493 of Title 42 of the 

Code of Federal Regulations without obtaining certification as an assistant in a medical 

laboratory pursuant to NRS 652.127. 

2. The technical personnel of a laboratory may collect blood, remove stomach

contents, perform certain diagnostic skin tests or field blood tests or collect material for 

smears and cultures. 

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 202



Proposed Regulation Changes:

NAC 631.028 through NAC 631.220

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 203



LICENSING 

     NAC 631.028  Applications for licensure; payment of fees. (NRS 631.190, 631.220, 
631.345) 

1. An application for licensure must be filed with the Executive Director on a form
furnished by the Board. The application must be sworn to before a notary public or other officer 
authorized to administer oaths and accompanied by the fee required pursuant to NAC 631.029. 

2. All such fees must be paid with an instrument which is immediately negotiable.
(Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 10-21-83; A 12-15-87; 4-3-89; 9-6-96; R169-

01, 4-5-2002; R026-05, 12-29-2005) 

     NAC 631.029  Schedule of fees. (NRS 631.190, 631.240, 631.345)  The Board will 
charge and collect the following fees: 

Application fee for an initial license to practice dentistry if the applicant has 
successfully passed a clinical examination administered by the Western 
Regional Examining Board or a clinical examination approved by the 
Board and the American Board of Dental Examiners and administered by a 
regional examination organization other than the Board............................  $1,200 

Application fee for an initial license to practice dental therapy......................              800  
Application fee for an initial license to practice dental hygiene.........................  600 
Application fee for a specialty license by credential..........................................  1,200 
Application fee for a temporary restricted geographical license to practice 

dentistry.........................................................................................................  600 
Application fee for a temporary restricted geographical license to practice 

dental hygiene................................................................................................  150 
Application fee for a specialist’s license to practice dentistry............................  125 
Application fee for a limited license or restricted license to practice dentistry 

or dental hygiene...........................................................................................  125 
Application and examination fee for a permit to administer general anesthesia, 

moderate sedation or deep sedation..............................................................  750 
Application and examination fee for a site permit to administer general 

anesthesia, moderate sedation or deep sedation............................................  500 
Fee for any reinspection required by the Board to maintain a permit to 

administer general anesthesia, moderate sedation or deep sedation..............  500 
Fee for the inspection of a facility required by the Board to ensure compliance 

with infection control guidelines...................................................................  250 
Fee for second or subsequent re-inspection of a facility required by the 

Board to ensure compliance with infection control guidelines……………        150     
Biennial renewal fee for a permit to administer general anesthesia, moderate 

sedation or deep sedation..............................................................................  200 
Fee for the inspection of a facility required by the Board to renew a permit to 

administer general anesthesia, moderate sedation or deep sedation..............  350 
Biennial license renewal fee for a general license or specialist’s license to 

practice dentistry...........................................................................................  600 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 204

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec220
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec345
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec029
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec240
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec345


Biennial license renewal fee for a restricted geographical license to practice 
dentistry.........................................................................................................                  600 

Biennial license renewal fee for a restricted geographical license to practice 
dental hygiene................................................................................................                  300 

Biennial license renewal fee for a general license to practice dental hygiene.....                  300 
Annual license renewal fee for a limited license to practice dentistry or dental 

hygiene...........................................................................................................                  200 
Annual license renewal fee for a restricted license to practice dentistry............                  100 
Biennial license renewal fee for an inactive dentist............................................                  200 
Biennial license renewal fee for an inactive dental hygienist.............................                    50 
Fee for second or subsequent audits to ensure compliance with Continuing 

Education requirements ………………………………………...…………        200     
Reinstatement fee for a revoked license to practice dentistry or dental 

hygiene                      500 
Reinstatement fee to return an inactive or retired dentist or dental hygienist or 

a dentist or dental hygienist with a disability to active status.......................                  300 
Fee for the certification of a license...................................................................                    25 
Fee for the certification of a license to administer nitrous oxide or local 

anesthesia.......................................................................................................                    25 
Fee for a duplicate wall certificate.....................................................................                    25 
Fee for a duplicate pocket card receipt...............................................................                    25 
Application fee for converting a temporary license to a permanent license.......                  125 
Fee for an application packet for an examination...............................................                    25 
Fee for an application packet for licensure by credentials..................................                    25 

  
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R026-05, eff. 12-29-2005; A by R159-08, 4-23-
2009; R066-11, 2-15-2012; R020-14, 6-23-2014; R119-15, 6-28-2016) 

     NAC 631.030  Provision of certain information and documentation by applicant for 
licensure; examination for certain licenses. (NRS 631.190, 631.220, 631.255, 631.272, 
631.274, 631.290, SB 366 (2019)) 
     1.  An applicant for licensure must provide the following information and documentation in 
his or her application: 
     (a) The date and place of his or her birth; 
     (b) Certification of graduation from an accredited dental school or college, from an 
accredited school or college of dental therapy, or from an accredited school or college of dental 
hygiene, whichever is applicable; 
     (c) Whether he or she has applied for similar licensure in another state or a territory of the 
United States or the District of Columbia and, if so, the name of the state or territory of the 
United States or the District of Columbia, the date and the result of his or her application; 
     (d) If he or she has practiced dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene in another state or a 
territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, certification from the licensing 
authority of each state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia in which he or 
she has practiced or is practicing that he or she is in good standing and that there are not any 
disciplinary proceedings affecting his or her standing pending against him or her in the other 
state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia; 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 205

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec220
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec255
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec272
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec274
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec290


     (e) Whether he or she has terminated or attempted to terminate a license from another state or 
territory of the United States or the District of Columbia and, if so, the reasons for doing so; 
     (f) If he or she is not a natural born citizen of the United States, a copy of his or her 
certificate of naturalization or other document attesting that he or she is legally eligible to reside 
and work in the United States; 
     (g) All scores obtained on the examination in which he or she was granted a certificate by the 
Joint Commission on National Dental Examinations and the date it was issued; 
     (h) Whether he or she has ever been convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude or has 
entered a plea of nolo contendere to a charge of such a crime and, if so, the date and place of the 
conviction or plea and the sentence, if any, which was imposed; 
     (i) Whether he or she has had any misdemeanor or felony convictions and, if so, any 
documents relevant to any misdemeanor or felony convictions; 
     (j) Whether he or she has been held civilly or criminally liable in this State, another state or 
territory of the United States or the District of Columbia/or misconduct relating to his or her 
occupation or profession; 
     (k) Whether he or she has a history of substance abuse and, if so, any documents relevant to 
the substance abuse; 
     (l) Whether he or she has been refused permission to take an examination for licensure by 
this State, any other state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, or any 
regional testing agency recognized by the Board and, if so, any documents relevant to the 
refusal; 
     (m) Whether he or she has been denied licensure by this State, any other state or territory of 
the United States or the District of Columbia and, if so, any documents relevant to the denial; 
     (n) Whether he or she has had his or her license to practice dentistry, dental therapy or dental 
hygiene suspended, revoked, been subject to mandatory supervision, or placed on probation, or 
has otherwise been disciplined concerning his or her license to practice dentistry, dental therapy 
or dental hygiene, including, without limitation, receiving a public reprimand, in this State, 
another state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia and, if so, any 
documents relevant to the suspension, revocation, supervision, probation or other discipline; 
     (o)  A copy of current certification in administering cardiopulmonary resuscitation; 
     (p) Whether he or she is currently involved in any disciplinary action concerning his or her 
license to practice dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene in this State, another state or 
territory of the United States or the District of Columbia and, if so, any documents relevant to the 
reprimand or disciplinary action; 
     (q) Two sets of certified fingerprint cards and an authorization form allowing the Board to 
submit the fingerprint forms to law enforcement agencies for verification of background 
information 
     (r) Whether he or she has any claims against him or her or has committed any actions that 
would constitute unprofessional conduct pursuant to NRS 631.3475, as amended by section 6 of 
Senate Bill No. 101, chapter 238, Statutes of Nevada 2017, at page 1256, and section 25 of 
Assembly bill No. 474, chapter 605, Statutes of Nevada 2017, at page 4414, or NAC 631.230; 

(s) An application form that he or she has completed and signed which: 
 (1) Is furnished by the Board; and 
 (2) Includes, without limitation, a properly executed request to release information; 
(t) If applicable, the statement and proof required by subsection 3; 
(u) Evidence that he or she is eligible to apply for a license to practice: 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 206



 (1) Dentistry pursuant to NRS 631.230; 
 (2) Dental hygiene pursuant to NRS 631.290; or 
 (3) Dental therapy pursuant to Senate Bill No. 366 (2019), Section 60.2; 
(v) The statement required by NRS 425.520; and 
(w) Any other information requested by the Board 

  
     2.  An applicant for licensure with examination must deliver to the Board, at least 45 days 
before the examination: 
     (a) The information and documentation listed in subsection 1; 
     (b) (x)If applicable, the certified statement and proof required by subsection 5 3.  
     (c)  (y) A completed and signed application form issued by the Board, including a properly 
executed request to release information; 
     (d) (z)A copy of current certification in administering cardiopulmonary resuscitation; and 
     (e)  (aa)A copy of his or her malpractice insurance policy showing the effective dates, which 
must cover his or her examination dates, and the limits of liability. 
     3.  An applicant for licensure pursuant to NRS 631.272 must deliver to the Board, at least 45 
days before the meeting of the Board to consider the applicant for licensure, the documents listed 
in subsection 2 and proof that the applicant has actively practiced dentistry for the 5 years 
immediately preceding the date of submission of the application. If the applicant fails to deliver 
to the Board, at least 45 days before the meeting of the Board to consider the applicant for 
licensure, any of the documents required pursuant to this subsection, the Executive Director or 
the Secretary-Treasurer shall reject the application and inform the applicant that he or she is not 
eligible for consideration for licensure pursuant to NRS 631.272 until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Board. 
     4.  (bb) Each applicant for licensure must, at least 45 days before the meeting of the Board to 
consider the applicant for licensure, pPass an examination on the contents and interpretation of 
this chapter and chapter 631 of NRS. The examination will be given on the first Monday of each 
month. If the first Monday of the month is a legal holiday, the examination will be given on the 
first Tuesday of the month.  
     5.  3. An applicant for licensure who wishes to use laser radiation in his or her practice of 
dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene must provide to the Board: 
     (a) A statement certifying that each laser that will be used by the licensee in the practice of 
dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene has been cleared by the Food and Drug 
Administration for use in dentistry; and 
     (b) Proof that he or she has successfully completed a course in laser proficiency that: 
          (1) Is at least 6 hours in length; and 
          (2) Is based on the Curriculum Guidelines and Standards for Dental Laser Education, 
adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 631.035. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § III, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 10-21-83; 12-15-87; 4-3-89; 9-6-96; 
R169-01, 4-5-2002; R139-05, 12-29-2005; R159-08, 4-23-2009) 

     NAC 631.033  Use of laser radiation in practice: Documentation required with 
application for renewal of license. (NRS 631.190, 631.330)  Each licensee who uses or wishes 
to use laser radiation in his or her practice of dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene must 
include with the application for renewal of his or her license: 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 207

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec272
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec272
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec035
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330


     1.  A statement certifying that each laser used by the licensee in his or her practice of 
dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene has been cleared by the Food and Drug 
Administration for use in dentistry; and 
     2.  Proof that he or she has successfully completed a course in laser proficiency that: 
     (a) Is at least 6 hours in length; and 
     (b) Is based on the Curriculum Guidelines and Standards for Dental Laser Education, 
adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 631.035. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R139-05, eff. 12-29-2005) 

     NAC 631.035  Use of laser radiation in practice: Adoption by reference of Curriculum 
Guidelines and Standards for Dental Laser Education. (NRS 631.190) 
     1.  The Board hereby adopts by reference the Curriculum Guidelines and Standards for 
Dental Laser Education, adopted by the Academy of Laser Dentistry. The Curriculum 
Guidelines and Standards for Dental Laser Education is available, free of charge, from the 
Academy of Laser Dentistry: 
     (a) By mail, at P.O. Box 8667, Coral Springs, Florida 33075; 
     (b) By telephone, at (954) 346-3776; or 
     (c) At the Internet address 
http://www.laserdentistry.org/prof/edu_curriculumguidelines.cfm. 
     2.  The Board will periodically review the Curriculum Guidelines and Standards for Dental 
Laser Education and determine within 30 days after the review whether any change made to 
those guidelines and standards is appropriate for application in this State. If the Board does not 
disapprove a change to an adopted guideline or standard within 30 days after the review, the 
change is deemed to be approved by the Board. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R139-05, eff. 12-29-2005) 

     NAC 631.045  Renewal of license: Certified statement required. (NRS 631.190)  A 
licensed dentist who owns an office or facility where dental treatments are to be performed in 
this State must, on the application for renewal of his or her license, execute a certified statement 
that includes: 
     1.  The location of each office or facility owned by the licensed dentist where dental 
treatments are to be performed; 
     2.  The name and address of each employee, other than a licensed dentist, dental therapist or 
dental hygienist, who assists at the office or facility in procedures for infection control and the 
date the employee began to assist in procedures for infection control at the office or facility;  
     3.  A statement that each employee identified in subsection 2: 
     (a) Has received adequate instruction concerning procedures for infection control; and 
     (b) Is qualified to: 
          (1) Operate sterilization equipment and other equipment in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178; and 
          (2) Perform all other applicable activities in compliance with the guidelines adopted by 
reference in NAC 631.178; and 
     4.  If the licensed dentist is registered to dispense controlled substances with the State Board 
of Pharmacy pursuant to chapter 453 of NRS, an attestation that the licensed dentist has 
conducted annually a minimum of one self-query regarding the issuance of controlled substances 
through the Prescription Monitoring Program of the State Board of Pharmacy. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 208

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec035
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-453.html#NRS453


     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R201-09, eff. 8-13-2010; A by R020-14, 6-23-
2014) 

     NAC 631.050  Rejection of application; reconsideration and review. (NRS 631.160, 
631.190, 631.230, 631.260, 631.290) 
     1.  If the Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer finds that: 
     (a) An application is: 
          (1) Deficient; or 
          (2) Not in the proper form; 
          (3) Delivered to the Board less than the 45 days required before the examination pursuant 
to subsection 2 of NAC 631.030 or less than the 45 days required before the meeting of the 
Board to consider the applicant for licensure pursuant to subsection 3 of NAC 631.030; or 
     (b) The applicant has: 
          (1) Provided incorrect information; 
          (2) Not attained the scores required by chapter 631 of NRS; or 
          (3) Not submitted the required fee, 
 the Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer shall reject the application and return it to the 
applicant with the reasons for its rejection. 
     2.  If the Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer finds that an applicant has: 
     (a) A felony conviction; 
     (b) A misdemeanor conviction; 
     (c) Been held civilly or criminally liable in this State, another state or territory of the United 
States or the District of Columbia for misconduct relating to his or her occupation or profession; 
     (d) A history of substance abuse; 
     (e) Been refused permission to take an examination for licensure by this State, any other state 
or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia; 
     (f) Been denied licensure by this State, any other state or territory of the United States or the 
District of Columbia; 
     (g) Had his or her license to practice dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene suspended, 
revoked, subject to mandatory supervision, or placed on probation, or has otherwise been 
disciplined concerning his or her license to practice dentistry or dental hygiene, including, 
without limitation, receiving a public reprimand,  in this State, another state or territory of the 
United States or the District of Columbia; 
     (h) Not actively practiced dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene, as applicable, for 2 
years or more before the date of the application to the Board; 
     (i) Is currently involved in any disciplinary action concerning his or her license to practice 
dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene in this State, another state or territory of the United 
States or the District of Columbia, 
 the Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer may reject the application. If rejected, the 
application must be returned to the applicant with the reasons for its rejection. 
     3.  If an application is rejected pursuant to subsection 2, the applicant may furnish additional 
relevant information to the Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer, and request that the 
application be reconsidered. If an application is rejected following reconsideration by the 
Executive Director or Secretary-Treasurer, the applicant may petition the Board for a review of 
the application at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § V, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 4-3-89; 9-6-96; R003-99, 4-3-2000; 
R169-01, 4-5-2002; R158-08, 12-17-2008; R159-08, 4-23-2009) 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 209

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec160
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec230
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec260
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec290
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec030
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec030
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631


     NAC 631.070  Reconsideration of application following request for postponement of 
action. (NRS 631.190, 631.220) 
     1.  If an applicant requests that the Board postpone its action on his or her application for 
licensure, he or she may later request the Board to reconsider the application. The request for 
reconsideration must be made on a form furnished by the Board. 
     2.  If an applicant requests the Board to reconsider the application within 1 year after filing 
the original application for licensure, the Board will not require the applicant to submit another 
application for licensure unless the information contained in the original application has 
changed. The applicant must update the information in the original application by furnishing the 
Board with a supplement when subsequent changes have taken place. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XI, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 4-3-89; R169-01, 4-5-2002) 

     NAC 631.090  Examination for license to practice dentistry. (NRS 631.190, 631.240)  
Except as otherwise provided in NRS 622.090, in fulfillment of the statutory requirements of 
paragraph (b) of subsection 1 of NRS 631.240, an applicant taking the clinical examination 
approved by the Board and the American Board of Dental Examiners or the clinical examination 
administered by the Western Regional Examining Board must: 
     1.  Pass the Dental Simulated Clinical Examination or a comparable examination 
administered by the Western Regional Examining Board, as applicable; 
     2.  Demonstrate proficiency in endodontics as the organization administering the clinical 
examination requires; 
     3.  Demonstrate proficiency in fixed prosthodontics as the organization administering the 
clinical examination requires; 
     4.  Demonstrate proficiency in restorative dentistry as the organization administering the 
clinical examination requires; 
     5.  Demonstrate proficiency in periodontics as the organization administering the clinical 
examination requires; and 
     6.  Perform such other procedures as the Board requires. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XII, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 12-15-87; R169-01, 4-5-2002; R159-
08, 4-23-2009) 

     NAC 631.140  Reexaminations; completion of failed clinical demonstration. (NRS 
631.190, 631.220, 631.240, 631.280, 631.300) 
     1.  Except as otherwise provided in NRS 622.090, an applicant who does not pass all 
sections of the clinical examination approved by the Board and the American Board of Dental 
Examiners or the clinical examination administered by the Western Regional Examining Board 
may apply for a reexamination. The application must be made on a form furnished by the Board. 
     2.  An applicant who does not pass the examination may not take another examination 
without completing such additional professional training as is required by the Board. 
     3.  An applicant who does not pass the examination solely because he or she fails one of the 
demonstrations required pursuant to NAC 631.090 may, at the next scheduled examination, 
complete the remaining demonstration. If the applicant does not successfully complete the 
remaining demonstration at the next scheduled examination or within the timeline approved by 
the American Board of Dental Examiners or by the Western Regional Examining Board for a 
person who takes the examination as part of an integrated curriculum, he or she must retake the 
entire examination. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 210

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec220
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec240
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-622.html#NRS622Sec090
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec240
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec220
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec240
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec280
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec300
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-622.html#NRS622Sec090
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec090


     4.  For the purposes of NRS 631.280, an applicant who attempts to complete successfully a 
demonstration pursuant to subsection 3 shall not be deemed to have failed the examination twice 
if he or she fails to complete that demonstration successfully. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § X, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 4-3-89; 9-6-96; R169-01, 4-5-2002; 
R159-08, 4-23-2009) 

     NAC 631.145  Dental hygienists: Renewal of special endorsement of license to practice 
public health dental hygiene. (NRS 631.190, 631.287) 
     1.  A special endorsement of a license that allows a dental hygienist to practice public health 
dental hygiene issued by the Board may be renewed biennially in accordance with NRS 631.287. 
     2.  A dental hygienist may apply to renew the special endorsement upon the renewal of his 
or her license by submitting a report summarizing the services performed by the dental hygienist 
under the authority of the special endorsement during the immediately preceding biennium. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R231-03, eff. 5-25-2004; A by R020-14, 6-23-
2014) 

     NAC 631.150  Filing of addresses of licensee; notice of change; display of license. (NRS 
631.190, 631.350) 
     1.  Each licensee shall file with the Board the addresses of his or her permanent residence 
and the office or offices where he or she conducts his or her practice, including, without 
limitation, any electronic mail address for that practice. 
     2.  Within 30 days after any change occurs in any of these addresses, the licensee shall give 
the Board a written notice of the change. The Board will impose a fine of $50 if a licensee does 
not report such a change within 30 days after it occurs. 
     3.  The licensee shall display his or her license and any permit issued by the Board, or a copy 
thereof, at each place where he or she practices. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XVI, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 9-6-96; R066-11, 2-15-2012; R119-
15, 6-28-2016) 

     NAC 631.155  Licensee to notify Board of certain events. (NRS 631.190)  Each licensee 
shall, within 30 days after the occurrence of the event, notify the Board in writing by certified 
mail of: 
     1.  The death of a patient during the performance of any dental procedure; 
     2.  Any unusual incident occurring in his or her dental practice which results in permanent 
physical or mental injury to a patient or requires the hospitalization of a patient; 
     3.  The suspension or revocation of his or her license to practice dentistry or the imposition 
of a fine or other disciplinary action against him or her by any agency of another state authorized 
to regulate the practice of dentistry in that state; 
     4.  The conviction of any felony or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or which relates 
to the practice of dentistry in this State or the conviction of any violation of chapter 631 of NRS; 
or 
     5.   The filing and service upon him or her of any claim or complaint of malpractice; or  

6. Being held civilly or criminally liable in this State, another state or territory of the United 
States or the District of Columbia for misconduct relating to his or her occupation or profession.  
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 9-16-85) 

     NAC 631.160  Voluntary surrender of license. (NRS 631.190) 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 211

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec280
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec287
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec287
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec350
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190


     1.  If a licensee desires voluntarily to surrender his or her license, he or she may submit to 
the Board a sworn written surrender of the license accompanied by delivery to the Board of the 
certificate of registration previously issued to him or her. The Board may accept or reject the 
surrender of the license. If the Board accepts the surrender of the license, the surrender is 
absolute and irrevocable. The Board will notify any agency or person of the surrender as it 
deems appropriate. 
     2.  The voluntary surrender of a license does not preclude the Board from hearing a 
complaint for disciplinary action filed against the licensee. 

1. If, following a voluntary surrender of license pursuant to this section, the former 
licensee wishes to again practice in Nevada, he or she must re-apply for a license pursuant to 
this chapter and NRS 631, and must meet all criteria required for licensure as of the date of 
his or her reapplication.  

2. If a licensee voluntary surrenders his or her license with discipline or during a pending 
investigation, the Board may require the dentist or hygienist to complete any terms of 
discipline or corrective action not completed as a result of the surrender, and/or may require 
additional terms as a condition of licensure as deemed necessary and appropriate by the 
Board. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XX, eff. 7-21-82] 

     NAC 631.170  Placement of license on inactive, retired or disabled status; 
reinstatement. (NRS 631.190, 631.335) 
     1.  A licensee may request the Board to place his or her license in an inactive or retired 
status. Such a request must be made in writing and before the license expires. 
     2.  The Secretary-Treasurer may reinstate an inactive license upon the written request of an 
inactive licensee who has maintained an active license and practice outside this State during the 
time his or her Nevada license was inactive. To reinstate the license, such an inactive licensee 
must: 
     (a) Pay the appropriate renewal fees; 
     (b) Provide a list of his or her employment during the time the license was inactive; 
     (c) Report all claims of unprofessional conduct or professional incompetence against him or 
her or any violation of the law which he or she may have committed, including administrative 
disciplinary charges brought by any other jurisdiction; 
     (d)  Report whether he or she has been served with any claim or lawsuit for dental 
malpractice, or has been held civilly or criminally liable in this State, another state or territory of 
the United States or the District of Columbia for misconduct relating to his or her occupation or 
profession; 

(e) Report any appearance he or she may have made before a peer review committee; 
     (f) Submit proof of his or her completion of an amount of continuing education, prorated as 
necessary, for the year in which the license is restored to active status; 
     (g) Provide certification from each jurisdiction in which he or she currently practices that his 
or her license is in good standing and that no proceedings which may affect that standing are 
pending; 
     (h) Satisfy the Secretary-Treasurer that he or she is of good moral character; and 
     (i) Provide any other information which the Secretary-Treasurer may require, 
 before the license may be reinstated. In determining whether the licensee is of good moral 
character, the Secretary-Treasurer may consider whether the license to practice dentistry in 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 212

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec335


another state has been suspended or revoked or whether the licensee is currently involved in any 
disciplinary action concerning the license in that state. 
     3.  If a person whose license has been on inactive status for less than 2 years has not 
maintained an active license or practice outside this State, or if a person’s license has been on 
retired status for less than 2 years, he or she must submit to the Board: 
     (a) Payment of the appropriate renewal fees; 
     (b) A written petition for reinstatement that has been signed and notarized; 
     (c) Proof of his or her completion of an amount of continuing education, prorated as 
necessary, for the year in which the license is restored to active status; and 
     (d) A list of his or her employment, if any, during the time the license was on inactive or 
retired status, 
 before the license may be reinstated. 
     4.  If a person whose license has been on inactive status for 2 years or more has not 
maintained an active license or practice outside this State, or if a person’s license has been on 
retired status for 2 years or more, he or she must: 
     (a) Satisfy the requirements set forth in paragraphs (a) to (d), inclusive, of subsection 3; and 
     (b) Pass such additional examinations for licensure as the Board may prescribe, 
 before the license may be reinstated. 
     5.  If the license of a person has been placed on disabled status, the person must: 
     (a) Satisfy the requirements of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of subsection 3; 
     (b) Submit to the Board a list of his or her employment, if any, during the time the license 
was on disabled status; 
     (c) Pass such additional examinations for licensure as the Board may prescribe; and 
     (d) Submit to the Board a statement signed by a licensed physician setting forth that the 
person is able, mentally and physically, to practice dentistry, 
 before the license may be reinstated. 

6. For purposes of the requirement for an examination as the Board may prescribe 
following two years of inactivity, “inactive” as used in subsections 3 and 4 of this section may 
refer to voluntary placement of a license on inactive status or to inactivity due to voluntary 
surrender of a licenses, and/or suspension or revocation of a license or other order by the 
Board of this State, another state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia. 

   
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XV, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 4-3-89; 11-28-90; 9-6-96; R004-99, 
4-3-2000) 

     NAC 631.173  Continuing education: Required hours; types of courses and activities; 
approval of provider or instructor. (NRS 631.190, 631.342, SB366 (2019)) 
     1.  Each dentist licensed to practice in this State must annually complete at least 20 hours of 
instruction in approved courses of continuing education or biennially complete at least 40 hours 
of instruction in approved courses of continuing education, as applicable, based on the renewal 
period set forth in NRS 631.330 for the type of license held by the dentist. Hours of instruction 
may not be transferred or carried over from one licensing period to another. 
     2.  Each dental hygienist licensed to practice in this State must annually complete at least 15 
hours of instruction in approved courses of continuing education or biennially complete at least 
30 hours of instruction in approved courses of continuing education, as applicable, based on the 
renewal period set forth in NRS 631.330 for the type of license held by the dental hygienist. 
Hours of instruction may not be transferred or carried over from one licensing period to another. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 213

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec342
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330


     3.   Each dental therapist licensed to practice in this State must annually complete at least 
18 hours of instruction in approved courses of continuing education or biennially complete at 
least 40 hours of instruction in approved courses of continuing education, as applicable, based 
on the renewal period set forth in NRS 631.330 for the type of license held by the dental 
therapist. Hours of instruction may not be transferred or carried over from one licensing 
period to another. 

4. In addition to the hours of instruction prescribed in subsections 1 and 2, each dentist, 
dental therapist and dental hygienist must maintain current certification in administering 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation or another medically acceptable means of maintaining basic 
bodily functions which support life. Any course taken pursuant to this subsection must be taught 
by a certified instructor. 
     4. 5. Any provider of or instructor for a course in continuing education relating to the 
practice of dentistry, dental therapy or dental hygiene which meets the requirements of this 
section must be approved by the Board, unless the course is for training in cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation or is approved by: 
     (a) The American Dental Association or the societies which are a part of it; 
     (b) The American Dental Hygienists’ Association or the societies which are a part of it; 
     (c) The Academy of General Dentistry; 
     (d) Any nationally recognized association of dental or medical specialists; 
     (e) Any university, college or community college, whether located in or out of Nevada; or 
     (f) Any hospital accredited by The Joint Commission. 
     5. 6.To be approved as a provider of a course in continuing education, the instructor of the 
course must complete a form provided by the Board and submit it to the Board for review by a 
committee appointed by the Board not later than 45 days before the beginning date of the course. 
Upon receipt of the form, the committee shall, within 10 days after receiving the form, approve 
or disapprove the application and inform the applicant of its decision. 
     6. 7. Study by group may be approved for continuing education if the organizer of the group 
complies with the requirements of subsection 5 6 and furnishes the Board with a complete list of 
all members of the group, a synopsis of the subject to be studied, the time, place and duration of 
the meetings of the group, and the method by which attendance is recorded and authenticated. 
     7. 8. Credit may be allowed for attendance at a meeting or a convention of a dental and 
dental hygiene society. 
     8. 9. Credit may be allowed for courses completed via home study, on-line study, self-study 
or journal study which are taught through correspondence, webinar, compact disc or digital video 
disc. 
     9. 10. Credit may be allowed for dental and dental hygiene services provided on a voluntary 
basis to nonprofit agencies and organizations approved by the Board. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 9-16-85; A 12-15-87; 9-6-96; R231-03, 5-25-
2004; R063-05, 12-29-2005; R159-08, 4-23-2009; R020-14, 6-23-2014) 

     NAC 631.175  Continuing education: Approved subjects; minimum requirements for 
clinical subjects; maximum credit for certain types of courses and activities. (NRS 631.190, 
631.342, SB 366 (2019)) 
     1.  Approved subjects for continuing education in dentistry, dental therapy and dental 
hygiene are: 
     (a) Clinical subjects, including, without limitation: 
          (1) Dental and medical health; 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 214

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec342


          (2) Preventive services; 
          (3) Dental diagnosis and treatment planning; and 
          (4) Dental clinical procedures, including corrective and restorative oral health procedures 

and basic dental sciences, dental research and new concepts in dentistry; and 
     (b) Nonclinical subjects, including, without limitation: 
          (1) Dental practice organization and management; 
          (2) Patient management skills; 
          (3) Methods of health care delivery; and 
          (4) Teaching methodology.  
     2.  In completing the hours of continuing education required pursuant to NAC 631.173, a 
dentist must annually complete at least 15 hours in clinical subjects approved pursuant to 
subsection 1 or biennially complete at least 30 hours in clinical subjects approved pursuant to 
subsection 1, as applicable, based on the renewal period set forth in NRS 631.330 for the type of 
license held by the dentist. 
     3.  In completing the hours of continuing education required pursuant to NAC 631.173, a 
dental hygienist must annually complete at least 12 hours in clinical subjects approved pursuant 
to subsection 1 or biennially complete at least 24 hours in clinical subjects approved pursuant to 
subsection 1, as applicable, based on the renewal period set forth in NRS 631.330 for the type of 
license held by the dental hygienist. 
     4.   In completing the hours of continuing education required pursuant to NAC 631.173, a 
dental therapist must annually complete at least 15 hours in clinical subjects approved 
pursuant to subsection 1 or biennially complete at least 30 hours in clinical subjects approved 
pursuant to subsection 1, as applicable, based on the renewal period set forth in NRS 631.330 
for the type of license held by the dental therapist. 
 

5.  In completing the hours of continuing education required pursuant to NAC 631.173, a 
dentist who is registered to dispense controlled substances pursuant to NRS 453.231 must 
complete at least 2 hours of training relating specifically to the misuse and abuse of controlled 
substances, the prescribing of opioids or addiction during each period of licensure. 

     5. 6.  In completing the hours of continuing education required pursuant to NAC 
631.173, a dentist, dental therapist or dental hygienist must annually complete at least 2 hours in 
the clinical subject of infection control in accordance with the provisions of the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 or biennially complete at least 4 hours in the clinical 
subject of infection control in accordance with the provisions of the guidelines adopted by 
reference in NAC 631.178, as applicable, based on the renewal period set forth in NRS 631.330 
for the type of license held by the dentist, dental therapist or dental hygienist. 

6. 7.  The Board will credit, as a maximum in any one year of an annual or biennial licensing 
period, the following number of hours of instruction for the following types of courses or 
activities: 
     (a) For approved study by a group, 3 hours. 
     (b) For attendance at a meeting or convention of a dental, dental therapy or dental hygiene 
society, 1 hour for each meeting, but not more than 3 hours, exclusive of hours of continuing 
education offered in conjunction with the meeting. 
     (c) For courses completed via home study, on-line study, self-study or journal study through 
correspondence, webinar, compact disc or digital video disc, not more than 50 percent of the 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 215

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330


number of hours of continuing education required by subsection 1 or 2 of NAC 631.173, as 
applicable. 
     (d) For all other courses conducted by an approved instructor, the number of hours completed 
by the dentist or dental hygienist. 
     (e) For approved dental, dental therapy or dental hygiene services provided in approved 
nonprofit settings, 6 hours, except that not more than 3 hours will be allowed for any day of 
volunteer services provided. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 9-16-85; A 12-15-87; 4-3-89; 9-6-96; R231-
03, 5-25-2004; R063-05, 12-29-2005; R149-06, 9-18-2006; R159-08, 4-23-2009; R201-09, 8-13-
2010; R020-14, 6-23-2014) 

     NAC 631.177  Continuing education: Renewal or reinstatement of license; records; 
unprofessional conduct; audits. (NRS 631.190, 631.330, 631.335, 631.342, SB 366 (2019)) 
     1.  When requesting a renewal or reinstatement of his or her license, each: 
     (a) Dentist shall submit a signed, written statement in substantially the following language 
for each year since his or her last renewal: 
  

     I, ................, hereby certify to the Board of Dental Examiners of Nevada that I have 
obtained at least 20 approved hours of instruction in continuing education during the 
period July 1, ......, through and including June 30, ...... I also certify to the Board of Dental 
Examiners of Nevada that I am currently certified in administering cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation or another medically acceptable means of maintaining basic bodily functions 
which support life. 
     Dated this ........ (day) of ......... (month) of ......... (year) 

  
                                                                              .............................................................................  
                                                                                                     Signature of Dentist 
  
     (b) Dental hygienist shall submit a signed, written statement in substantially the following 
language for each year since his or her last renewal: 
  

     I, ................, hereby certify to the Board of Dental Examiners of Nevada that I have 
obtained at least 15 approved hours of instruction in continuing education during the 
period July 1, ......, through and including June 30, ...... I also certify to the Board of Dental 
Examiners of Nevada that I am currently certified in administering cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation or another medically acceptable means of maintaining basic bodily functions 
which support life. 
     Dated this ........ (day) of ......... (month) of ......... (year) 

  
                                                                              .............................................................................  
                                                                                             Signature of Dental Hygienist 
  
     (c)  Dental therapist shall submit a signed, written statement in substantially the following 
language for each year since his or her last renewal: 
  

     I, ................, hereby certify to the Board of Dental Examiners of Nevada that I have 
obtained at least 18 approved hours of instruction in continuing education during the 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 216

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec335
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec342


period July 1, ......, through and including June 30, ...... I also certify to the Board of 
Dental Examiners of Nevada that I am currently certified in administering 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation or another medically acceptable means of maintaining 
basic bodily functions which support life. 
     Dated this ........ (day) of ......... (month) of ......... (year) 

  
                                                                              .............................................................................  
                                                                                             Signature of Dental Therapist 
 

 (d)  Dentist, dental therapist or dental hygienist shall submit proof of his or her current 
certification in administering cardiopulmonary resuscitation or other medically acceptable means 
of maintaining basic bodily functions which support life. 
     2.  Legible copies of all receipts, records of attendance, certificates and other evidence of 
attendance by a dentist, dental therapist or dental hygienist at an approved course in continuing 
education must be retained by the dentist, dental therapist or dental hygienist and made available 
to the Board for inspection or copying for 3 years after attendance at the course is submitted to 
meet the continuing education requirements of the Board. Proof of attendance and completion of 
the required credit hours of instruction must be complete enough to enable the Board to verify 
the attendance and completion of the course by the dentist, dental therapist or dental hygienist 
and must include at least the following information:  
     (a) The name and location of the course; 
     (b) The date of attendance; 
     (c) The name, address and telephone number of its instructor; 
     (d) A synopsis of its contents; and 
     (e) For courses designed for home study, the number assigned to the provider by the Board at 
the time the course was approved and the name, address and telephone number of the producer 
or author of the course. 
     3.  The second or subsequent failure of a dentist, dental therapist and or dental hygienist to 
obtain or file proof of completion of the credit hours of instruction required by this section and 
NAC 631.173 and 631.175 is unprofessional conduct. 
     4.  The Board will conduct random initial audits of dentists, dental therapists, or dental 
hygienists, and additional follow-up audits as necessary to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of this section and NAC 631.173 and 631.175. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 9-16-85; A 12-15-87; 4-3-89; 9-6-96; R231-
03, 5-25-2004; R159-08, 4-23-2009) 
 
     NAC 631.178  Adoption by reference of certain guidelines; compliance with guidelines 
required. (NRS 631.190) 
     1.  Each person who is licensed pursuant to the provisions of chapter 631 of NRS shall 
comply with: 
     (a) The provisions of the Guidelines for Infection Control in Dental Health-Care Settings-
2003 adopted by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention which is hereby adopted by 
reference. The publication is available, free of charge, from the Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention at the Internet address 
http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5217a1.htm; and 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 217

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec175
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec173
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec175
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631


     (b) As applicable to the practice of dentistry, the provisions of the Guideline for Disinfection 
and Sterilization in Healthcare Facilities, 2008, adopted by the Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention which is hereby adopted by reference. The publication is available, free of charge, 
from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention at the Internet address 
http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dhqp/pdf/guidelines/Disinfection_Nov_2008.pdf. 
     2.  The Board will periodically review the guidelines adopted by reference in this section 
and determine within 30 days after the review whether any change made to the guidelines is 
appropriate for application in this State. If the Board does not disapprove a change to the 
guidelines within 30 days after the review, the change is deemed to be approved by the Board. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 9-6-96; A by R025-05, 11-17-2005; R201-09, 
8-13-2010) 

     NAC 631.1785  Inspection of office or facility. (NRS 631.190, 631.363) 
     1.  Not later than 30 days after a licensed dentist becomes the owner of an office or facility 
in this State where dental treatments are to be performed, other than a medical facility as defined 
in NRS 449.0151, the licensed dentist must request in writing that the Board conduct an initial 
inspection of the office or facility to ensure compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference 
in NAC 631.178. 
     2.  Not later than 90 days after receiving a written request pursuant to subsection 1: 
     (a) The Executive Director shall assign one or more agent(s) of the Board to conduct the 
inspection; and 
     (b) The agent(s) shall conduct the inspection utilizing the infection control 
inspection/survey form provided by the Board. 
     3.  Not later than 30 days after agent(s) of the Board have completed the initial inspection of 
an office or facility pursuant to subsection 2, the agent(s)  shall issue a report to the Executive 
Director indicating whether the office or facility is equipped in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178. If the report indicates that the office or facility: 
     (a) Is equipped in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility.  
     (b) Is not equipped in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 
and/or has infection control inspection deficiencies as noted on the infection control 
inspection survey utilized by the Board,  the Executive Director or other agent of the Board 
shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice which identifies critical the 
deficiencies to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility.  Receipt of a copy of the 
completed infection control inspection survey form is sufficient to satisfy the requirement for 
written notice of deficiencies. 

(c) If the notice pursuant to Subsection (b) notes that there is a finding of one or more 
critical or “Level 1” deficiencies: 

(i) No patients may be treated in the office or facility until those deficiencies are 
corrected, as critical deficiencies indicate a potential danger to the public health, safety 
or welfare, and requires immediate action. 
(ii) The owner and any employed or independent contracting dentists may 
voluntarily agree to suspend patient care and treatment at the office or facility pending 
confirmation of correction of the critical deficiencies. Once correction has been 
confirmed and acknowledged by the Board or its agent, pursuant to subsection (iv) of 
this section, patient care may resume at that office or facility. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 218

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-449.html#NRS449Sec0151
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178


(iii) If the owner and any employed or independent contracting dentists do not agree 
to voluntarily suspend patient care and treatment at the office or facility pending 
confirmation of correction of the critical deficiencies, pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 
233B.127, the President of the Board may, without any further action by the Board, 
issue an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed dentist who owns 
the office or facility and the licenses of any or all of the other licensees employed or 
independently contracted at the office or facility pending proceedings for revocation or 
other action. An order of summary suspension issued by the President of the Board 
must contain findings of the exigent circumstances which warrant the issuance of the 
order of summary suspension. The President of the Board shall not participate in any 
further proceedings relating to the order. The owner and any employed or independent 
contracting dentists will not be permitted to resume patient care and treatment pending 
further proceedings mandated pursuant to this section and NRS 233B.127(3), which 
must be instituted and determined within 30 days after the date of the order unless the 
agency and the licensee mutually agree in writing to a longer period. 
Acknowledgement of the correction of critical deficiencies pursuant to subsection (iv) 
of this section will not reverse, revoke, void or otherwise rescind any summary 
suspension issued pursuant to this paragraph. 
(iv) Not later than 72 hours after notification to the Board by the owner and/or any 
employed or independently contracting dentists of the correction of critical 
deficiencies, a re-inspection of the office or facility will be conducted to verify that the 
licensed dentist9s) and the personnel supervised by the dentist(s) have corrected the 
critical deficiencies. The fees for a first re-inspection are included in the fees charged 
for the initial inspection.  Any subsequent re-inspection(s) will incur additional fees as 
stated in NAC 631.028. 
(v) If critical deficiencies remain following two (2) re-inspections after the initial 
inspection, even if there has been a voluntary cessation of patient care and treatment at 
the deficient location, the President of the Board may, without any further action by 
the Board, issue an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed dentist 
who owns the office or facility and/or the licenses of any or all of the other licensees 
employed or independently contracted at the office or facility pending proceedings for 
revocation or other action. An order of summary suspension issued by the President of 
the Board must contain findings of the exigent circumstances which warrant the 
issuance of the order of summary suspension. The President of the Board shall not 
participate in any further proceedings relating to the order. The owner and any 
employed or independent contracting dentists will not be permitted to resume patient 
care and treatment pending further proceedings mandated pursuant to this section and 
NRS 233B.127(3), which must be instituted and determined within 45 days after the 
date of the order unless the agency and the licensee mutually agree in writing to a 
longer period.  
 

(d) If the notice pursuant to Subsection (b) notes that there is a finding of one or more 
remedial or “Level 2” deficiencies 

(i) Not later than 7 business days after issuing a written notice of deficiencies, the 
Executive Director shall assign an agent(s) of the Board to conduct a reinspection of 
the office or facility to determine if the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 219



the dentist have taken corrective measures. The agent(s) assigned pursuant to this 
paragraph shall issue a report to the Executive Director indicating whether the 
licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the 
guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection 
survey as noted on the infection control inspection survey utilized by the Board. 
(ii) If the re-inspection pursuant to subsection (i) indicates that the licensed dentist 
and the personnel supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection survey as 
noted on the infection control inspection survey utilized by the Board, the Executive 
Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility.  
(iii) If the re-inspection pursuant to subsection (i) indicates that the licensed dentist 
and the personnel supervised by the dentist are not in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection survey as 
noted on the infection control inspection survey utilized by the Board, the Executive 
Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. In the event 
deficiencies are noted pursuant to this section, the President of the Board may, without 
any further action by the Board, issue an order to the licensed dentist who owns the 
office or facility and all other licensees employed or independently contracted at the 
office or facility that any or all of those licensees or personnel must immediately cease 
and desist from some or all dental treatments at the office or facility until a hearing is 
held before the Board. An order to cease and desist issued by the President of the 
Board must contain findings of the circumstances which warrant the issuance of the 
order. The President of the Board shall not participate in any further proceedings 
relating to the order. The hearing before the Board must be convened not later than 30 
days after the President issues the order to cease and desist.  
(vi) If Level 2 deficiencies remain following two (2) re-inspections after the initial 
inspection, the President of the Board may, without any further action by the Board, 
issue an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed dentist who owns 
the office or facility and/or the licenses of any or all of the other licensees employed or 
independently contracted at the office or facility pending proceedings for revocation or 
other action or may request that the Board authorize an investigation as a result of the 
repeated inspection deficiencies. An order of summary suspension issued by the 
President of the Board must contain findings of the exigent circumstances which 
warrant the issuance of the order of summary suspension. The President of the Board 
shall not participate in any further proceedings relating to the order. The owner and 
any employed or independent contracting dentists will not be permitted to resume 
patient care and treatment pending further proceedings mandated pursuant to this 
section and NRS 233B.127(3), which must be instituted and determined within 45 days 
after the date of the order unless the agency and the licensee mutually agree in writing 
to a longer period.  
 

(e) If the notice pursuant to Subsection (b) notes that there is a finding of one or more 
“Level 3” deficiencies 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 220

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178


(i) Not later than 30 business days after issuing a written notice of deficiencies, the 
Executive Director shall assign agents of the Board to conduct a reinspection of the 
office or facility to determine if the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the 
dentist have taken corrective measures, and the agents assigned pursuant to this 
paragraph shall issue a report to the Executive Director indicating whether the 
licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the 
guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection 
survey as noted on the infection control inspection survey utilized by the Board. 
(ii) If the re-inspection pursuant to subsection (i) indicates that the licensed dentist 
and the personnel supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection survey as 
noted on the infection control inspection survey utilized by the Board, the Executive 
Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agent’s findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility.  
(iii) If the re-inspection pursuant to subsection (i) indicates that the licensed dentist 
and the personnel supervised by the dentist are not in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection survey as 
noted on the infection control inspection survey utilized by the Board, the Executive 
Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agent’s findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. In the event 
deficiencies are noted pursuant to this section, the President of the Board may, without 
any further action by the Board, issue an order to the licensed dentist who owns the 
office or facility and all other licensees employed or independently contracted at the 
office or facility that any or all of those licensees or personnel must immediately cease 
and desist from some or all dental treatments at the office or facility until a hearing is 
held before the Board. An order to cease and desist issued by the President of the 
Board must contain findings of the circumstances which warrant the issuance of the 
order. The President of the Board shall not participate in any further proceedings 
relating to the order. The hearing before the Board must be convened not later than 30 
days after the President issues the order to cease and desist.  
(iv) If Level 3 deficiencies remain following two (2) re-inspections after the initial 
inspection, the President of the Board may, without any further action by the Board, 
issue an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed dentist who owns 
the office or facility and/or the licenses of any or all of the other licensees employed or 
independently contracted at the office or facility pending proceedings for revocation or 
other action or may request that the Board authorize an investigation as a result of the 
repeated inspection deficiencies. An order of summary suspension issued by the 
President of the Board must contain findings of the exigent circumstances which 
warrant the issuance of the order of summary suspension. The President of the Board 
shall not participate in any further proceedings relating to the order. The owner and 
any employed or independent contracting dentists will not be permitted to resume 
patient care and treatment pending further proceedings mandated pursuant to this 
section and NRS 233B.127(3), which must be instituted and determined within 45 days 
after the date of the order unless the agency and the licensee mutually agree in writing 
to a longer period. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 221

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178


(v) The fees for a first re-inspection are included in the fees charged for the initial 
inspection.  Any subsequent re-inspection(s) will incur additional fees as stated in NAC 
631.028. 
 

 
       4.  Not later than 72 hours after issuing a written notice of deficiencies pursuant to 
paragraph (b) of subsection 3  
     (a) The Executive Director shall assign agents of the Board to conduct a reinspection of the 
office or facility to determine if the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist 
have taken corrective measures; and 
     (b) The agents assigned pursuant to paragraph (a) shall conduct the reinspection and issue a 
report to the Executive Director indicating whether the licensed dentist and the personnel 
supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 
631.178. If the report indicates that the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the 
dentist: 
          (1) Are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. 
          (2) Are not in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director may, without any further action by the Board, issue an order to the licensed 
dentist who owns the office or facility and all other licensees employed at the office or facility 
that any or all of those licensees or personnel must immediately cease and desist from 
performing dental treatments and that some or all dental treatments must cease to be performed 
at the office or facility until a hearing is held before the Board. The hearing before the Board 
must be convened not later than 30 days after the Executive Director issues the order to cease 
and desist. 
 
     5.  Not later than 72 hours after receiving material evidencing critical deficiencies by a 
licensed dentist who owns an office or facility in this State where dental treatments are to be 
performed, other than a medical facility as defined in NRS 449.0151, the Executive Director may 
assign agents of the Board to conduct an inspection of an office or facility to ensure that the 
licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178. An inspection conducted pursuant to this subsection may 
be conducted during normal business hours with notice to the licensed dentist who owns the 
office or facility. 
     6.  Not later than 3 days after a dentist receives a written notice pursuant to subsection 5: 
     (a) The Executive Director shall assign agents of the Board to conduct the inspection; and 
     (b) The agents shall conduct the inspection. 
     7.  Not later than 72 hours after agents of the Board have completed the inspection of an 
office or facility pursuant to subsection 6, the agents shall issue a report to the Executive 
Director indicating whether the office or facility is equipped in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178. If the report indicates that the office or facility: 
     (a) Is equipped in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 222

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-449.html#NRS449Sec0151
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178


     (b) Is not equipped in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, 
the Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice 
which identifies all critical deficiencies to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility.  
 
     8.   Not later than 72 hours after issuing a written notice of deficiencies pursuant to 
paragraph (b) of subsection 7 
     (a) The Executive Director shall assign agents of the Board to conduct a reinspection of the 
office or facility to determine if the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist 
have taken corrective measures; and 
     (b) The agents assigned pursuant to paragraph (a) shall conduct the reinspection and issue a 
report to the Executive Director indicating whether the licensed dentist and the personnel 
supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 
631.178. If the report indicates that the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the 
dentist: 
          (1) Are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. 
          (2) Are not in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director may, without any further action by the Board, issue an order to the licensed 
dentist who owns the office or facility and all other licensees employed at the office or facility 
that any or all of those licensees or personnel must immediately cease and desist from 
performing dental treatments and that some or all dental treatments must cease to be performed 
at the office or facility until a hearing is held before the Board. The hearing before the Board 
must be convened not later than 30 days after the Executive Director issues the order to cease 
and desist. 
 
     9.  Pursuant to Nothing in subsection 3 of this section shall prevent the President of the 
Board, pursuant to of NRS 233B.127, if an initial inspection of an office or facility conducted 
pursuant to this section indicates that the public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires 
emergency action, the President of the Board may, without any further action by the Board, from 
issueing an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed dentist who owns the 
office or facility and the licenses of any or all of the other licensees employed at the office or 
facility pending proceedings for revocation or other action if any inspection pursuant to this 
section indicates that the public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires emergency 
action. An order of summary suspension issued by the President of the Board must contain 
findings of the exigent circumstances which warrant the issuance of the order of summary 
suspension. The President of the Board shall not participate in any further proceedings relating to 
the order. 
 

10. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Board from investigating a verified complaint 
or authorizing an investigation pursuant to this chapter concerning allegations of infection 
control violations by a licensee or office or facility owned by a licensee or from initiating 
disciplinary or other action against the licensee for infection control violations. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R201-09, eff. 8-13-2010; A by R020-14, 6-23-
2014; R119-15, 6-28-2016) 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 223

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-233B.html#NRS233BSec127


     NAC 631.179  Random inspection of office or facility; subsequent action by Executive 
Director. (NRS 631.190, 631.363) 
     1.  The Executive Director may assign agents of the Board to conduct a random inspection 
of an office or facility in this State where dental treatments are to be performed to ensure that the 
licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines 
adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection guidelines 
pursuant to the Infection Control Inspection/Survey Form utilized by the Board. Random 
inspections conducted pursuant to this subsection may be conducted during normal business 
hours without notice to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility to be inspected. 

2.  The inspection and re-inspection procedures and regulations applicable to initial 
inspections pursuant to NAC 631.1785, are incorporated herein by reference and shall apply 
equally to random inspections pursuant to this section. 

3. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Board from investigating a verified complaint 
or authorizing an investigation pursuant to this chapter concerning allegations of infection 
control violations by a licensee or office or facility owned by a licensee or from initiating 
disciplinary or other action against the licensee for infection control violations. 
 
Not later than 30 days after agents of the Board have completed a random inspection of an office 
or facility in this State where dental treatments are to be performed to ensure compliance with 
the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the agents shall issue a report to the 
Executive Director indicating whether the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the 
dentist are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178. If the report 
indicates that the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist: 
     (a) Are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. 
     (b) Are not in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice which 
identifies deficiencies to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. 
     3.  Not later than 72 hours after a licensed dentist receives a written notice of deficiencies 
issued pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection 2: 
     (a) The Executive Director shall assign agents of the Board to conduct a reinspection of the 
office or facility to determine if the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the dentist 
have taken corrective measures; and 
     (b) The agents assigned pursuant to paragraph (a) shall conduct the reinspection and issue a 
report to the Executive Director indicating whether the licensed dentist and the personnel 
supervised by the dentist are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 
631.178. If the report indicates that the licensed dentist and the personnel supervised by the 
dentist: 
          (1) Are in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director shall, without any further action by the Board, issue a written notice of the 
agents’ findings to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility. 
          (2) Are not in compliance with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, the 
Executive Director may, without any further action by the Board, issue an order to the licensed 
dentist who owns the office or facility and all other licensees employed at the office or facility 
that any or all of those licensees or personnel must immediately cease and desist from 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 224

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178


performing dental treatments and that some or all dental treatments must cease to be performed 
at the office or facility until a hearing is held before the Board. The hearing before the Board 
must be convened not later than 30 days after the Executive Director issues the order to cease 
and desist. 
     4.   Pursuant Nothing in this section shall prevent the President of the Board, pursuant to 
to subsection 3 of NRS 233B.127, if a random inspection of an office or facility conducted 
pursuant to this section indicates that the public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires 
emergency action, the President of the Board may, without any further action by the Board, from 
issueing an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed dentist who owns the 
office or facility and the licenses of any or all of the other licensees employed at the office or 
facility pending proceedings for revocation or other action if any inspection pursuant to this 
section indicates that the public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires emergency 
action. An order for summary suspension issued by the President of the Board must contain 
findings of the exigent circumstances which warrant the issuance of the order for summary 
suspension. The President of the Board shall not participate in any further proceedings relating to 
the order. 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R201-09, eff. 8-13-2010) 

NAC 631.____  Inspection of office or facility during investigation; subsequent action by 
Executive Director. (NRS 631.190, 631.360, 631.363) 
     1.  During the investigation of a verified or authorized complaint pursuant to NRS 
631.360 and/or 631.363, at the request of the investigator or Review Panel, the Executive 
Director may assign an agent(s) of the Board to conduct an inspection of an office or facility 
in this State where dental treatments are performed or are to be performed to ensure that the 
licensed dentist(s) and the personnel supervised by the dentist(s) are in compliance with the 
guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178 and/or the infection control inspection 
guidelines pursuant to the Infection Control Inspection/Survey Form utilized by the Board. 
Inspections conducted pursuant to this subsection may be conducted during normal business 
hours with notice to the licensed dentist who owns the office or facility to be inspected.  

2. The inspection and re-inspection procedures and regulations applicable to initial 
inspections pursuant to NAC 631.1785, are incorporated herein by reference and shall apply 
equally to inspections pursuant to this section. 

3.  Pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 233B.127, if an inspection of an office or facility 
conducted pursuant to this section indicates that the public health, safety or welfare 
imperatively requires emergency action, the President of the Board may, without any further 
action by the Board, issue an order of summary suspension of the license of the licensed 
dentist who owns the office or facility and the licenses of any or all of the other licensees 
employed at the office or facility pending proceedings for revocation or other action. An order 
for summary suspension issued by the President of the Board must contain findings of the 
exigent circumstances which warrant the issuance of the order for summary suspension. The 
President of the Board shall not participate in any further proceedings relating to the order. 

 
NAC 631.____ Inspection of Records 
1. During the investigation of a verified or authorized complaint pursuant to NRS 

631.360 and/or NRS 631.363, if the licensee under investigation fails to provide a copy of 
records requested pertaining to the investigation, or at the request of the investigator or 
Review Panel, the Executive Director, the investigator, and/or an agent(s) of the Board 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 225

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-233B.html#NRS233BSec127
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-233B.html#NRS233BSec127


assigned by the Executive Director, may appear at the office at which the records are located 
to inspect and copy the requested records pursuant to NRS 629.061. Inspection of records 
pursuant to this section shall take place during normal business hours and the licensee 
and/or custodian of records shall be given notice in accordance with NRS 629.061. 

 
     NAC 631.1795  Provisions governing inspections do not preclude Board from initiating 
disciplinary proceedings. (NRS 631.190)  Nothing in NAC 631.1785, and 631.179 and/or 
NAC 631. ____ prevents the Board from initiating disciplinary proceedings or additional 
disciplinary proceedings against a licensed dentist who owns an office or facility in this State 
where dental treatments are to be performed or against other licensees or personnel of the office 
or facility for failure to comply with the guidelines adopted by reference in NAC 631.178, 
and/or the infection control inspection guidelines pursuant to the Infection Control 
Inspection/Survey Form 
     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs by R201-09, eff. 8-13-2010) 

     NAC 631.190  Specialties. (NRS 631.190, 631.250, 631.255)  The only specialties for 
which the Board will issue licenses are: 
     1.  Oral and maxillofacial pathology;  
     2.  Oral and maxillofacial surgery; 
     3.  Orthodontia; 
     4.  Periodontia; 
     5.  Prosthodontia; 
     6.  Pediatric dentistry; 
     7.  Endodontia; 
     8.  Public health; and 
     9.  Oral and maxillofacial radiology.; and, 

10. Dental Anesthesiology. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XXI, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 10-7-85; R158-08, 12-17-2008) 

     NAC 631.200  Delegation of duty to supervise dental hygienists and dental assistants. 
(NRS 631.190, 631.313)  The supervisory duties prescribed in NRS 631.313 may be delegated 
by one licensed dentist to another. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XXIV, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 12-15-87) 

NAC 631.____  Dental therapists: Authorization to perform certain services; nspection of 
office or facility during investigation; subsequent action by Executive Director. (NRS 631.190, 
631.3122, 631.3123, 631.3124, 631.3125; 631.3126; 631.3127)      
     1.  A dentist who is licensed in this State may enter into a written practice agreement with a 
dental therapist who is licensed in this State, pursuant to NRS 631.3122. In accordance with the 
written practice agreement required pursuant to NRS 631.3122, a dental therapist may perform 
the following acts:  
    (a) Expose radiographs.  
    (b) Conduct an assessment of the oral health of the patient through medical and dental 
histories, radiographs, indices, risk assessments and intraoral and extraoral procedures that 
analyze and identify the oral health needs and problems of the patient.  
    (c) After conducting an assessment pursuant to paragraph (b), develop a dental hygiene care 
plan to address the oral health needs and problems of the patient.  

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 226

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec1785
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec179
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec178
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec250
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec255
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec313
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec313
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190


   (d) Take the following types of impressions:  
          (1) Those used for the preparation of diagnostic models;  
          (2) Those used for the fabrication of temporary crowns or bridges; and  
          (3) Those used for the fabrication of temporary removable appliances, provided no 
missing teeth are replaced by those appliances.  
    (e) Remove stains, deposits and accretions, including dental calculus.  
    (f) Smooth the natural and restored surface of a tooth by using the procedures and instruments 
commonly used in oral prophylaxis, except that an abrasive stone, disc or bur may be used only 
to polish a restoration. As used in this paragraph, “oral prophylaxis” means the preventive 
dental procedure of scaling and polishing which includes the removal of calculus, soft deposits, 
plaques and stains and the smoothing of unattached tooth surfaces in order to create an 
environment in which hard and soft tissues can be maintained in good health by the patient.  
    (g) Provide dental hygiene care that includes:  
          (1) Implementation of a dental hygiene care plan to address the oral health needs and 
problems of patients pursuant to paragraph (c).  
          (2) Evaluation of oral and periodontal health after the implementation of the dental 
hygiene care plan described in subparagraph (1) in order to identify the subsequent treatment, 
continued care and referral needs of the patient.  
     (h) Perform subgingival curettage.  
     (i) Remove sutures. 
     (j) Place and remove a periodontal pack. 
     (k) Remove excess cement from cemented restorations and orthodontic appliances. A dental 
therapist may not use a rotary cutting instrument to remove excess cement from restorations or 
orthodontic appliances.  
     (l) Train and instruct persons in the techniques of oral hygiene and preventive procedures.  
    (m) Recement and repair temporary crowns and bridges.  
    (n) Recement permanent crowns and bridges with nonpermanent material as a palliative 
treatment.  
    (o) Place a temporary restoration with nonpermanent material as a palliative treatment.  
    (p) Administer local intraoral chemotherapeutic agents in any form except aerosol, including, 
but not limited to:  
            (1) Antimicrobial agents; 
            (2) Fluoride preparations;  
            (3) Topical antibiotics;  
            (4) Topical anesthetics; and  
            (5) Topical desensitizing agents.  
    (q) Apply pit and fissure sealant to the dentition for the prevention of decay.  
 After performing any of the services set forth in subsection 1, the dental therapist shall refer 
the patient to the authorizing dentist for follow-up care or any necessary additional procedures 
that the dental therapist is not authorized to perform.  
    2.    In accordance with the written practice agreement, a dental therapist may provide any of 
the following additional care or services:  
     (a) Identifying oral and systemic conditions that require evaluation or treatment by dentists, 
physicians, or other health care professionals and managing referrals to such persons.  
     (b) Providing oral health instruction and disease prevention education, including nutritional 
counseling and dietary analysis.  

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 227



     (c) Dispensing and administering via the oral or topical route nonnarcotic analgesics and 
anti-inflammatory and antibiotic medications as prescribed by a health care professional.  
    (d) Pulp and vitality testing.  
    (e) Applying desensitizing medication or resin.  
    (f) Fabricating mouth guards  
    (g) Changing periodontal dressings.  
    (h) Simple extraction of erupted primary teeth.    
    (i) Emergency palliative treatment of dental pain related to a care or service described in this 
section.  
    (j) Preparation and placement of direct restoration in primary and permanent teeth.  
    (k) Fabrication and placement of single tooth temporary crowns.  
    (l) Preparation and placement of preformed crowns on primary teeth.  
    (m) Indirect and direct pulp capping on permanent teeth.  
    (n) Suturing and suture removal.  
    (o) Minor adjustments and repairs on removable prostheses.       
    (p) Placement and removal of space maintainers.  
    (q) Nonsurgical extractions of periodontally diseased permanent teeth with tooth mobility. 
However, a dental therapist shall not extract a tooth for any patient if the tooth is unerupted, 
impacted, or fractured or needs to be sectioned for removal. 
     (r) Performing other related services and functions authorized and for which the dental 
therapist is trained. 
    (s) Administer vaccinations pursuant to NAC 652.___.  
      3.     A dental therapist shall not prescribe a controlled substance that is included in 
schedules II, III, IV or V of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act.  
      4.    A dental therapist may supervise dental assistants and dental hygienists to the extent 
permitted in a written practice agreement.  
 
     NAC 631.210  Dental hygienists: Authorization to perform certain services; referral of 
patient to authorizing dentist for certain purposes. (NRS 631.190, 631.310, 631.313, 
631.317) 
     1.  A dentist who is licensed in this State may authorize a dental hygienist in his or her 
employ and under his or her supervision to: 
     (a) Place and secure orthodontic ligatures. 
     (b) Fabricate and place temporary crowns and bridges. 
     (c) Fit orthodontic bands and prepare teeth for orthodontic bands if the bands are cemented or 
bonded, or both, into the patient’s mouth by the dentist who authorized the dental hygienist to 
perform this procedure. 
     (d) Perform nonsurgical cytologic testing.  
     (e) Apply and activate agents for bleaching teeth with a light source. 
     (f) Use a laser that has been cleared by the Food and Drug Administration to perform 
intrasulcular periodontal procedures or tooth whitening procedures if: 
          (1) The use of such a laser for those purposes is within the scope of the education, 
experience and training of the dental hygienist; 
          (2) Before operating the laser, the dental hygienist has provided proof to the supervising 
dentist that the dental hygienist has successfully completed a course in laser proficiency that: 
               (I) Is at least 6 hours in length; and 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 228

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec310
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec313
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec317


               (II) Is based on the Curriculum Guidelines and Standards for Dental Laser Education, 
adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 631.035; and 
          (3) The supervising dentist has successfully completed a course in laser proficiency that: 
               (I) Is at least 6 hours in length; and 
               (II) Is based on the Curriculum Guidelines and Standards for Dental Laser Education, 
adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 631.035. 
     (g) Administer vaccinations pursuant to NAC 652.___.  
 The dental hygienist must obtain authorization from the licensed dentist of the patient on 
whom the services authorized pursuant to this subsection are to be performed. 
     4.  If a dentist who is licensed in this State has in his or her employ and under his or her 
supervision a dental hygienist who has: 
     (a) Successfully completed a course of continuing education in the administering of local 
anesthetics or nitrous oxide-oxygen analgesia, or both, which has been approved by the Board; or 
     (b) Graduated from an accredited program of dental hygiene which includes the 
administering of local anesthetics or nitrous oxide-oxygen analgesia, or both, in its curriculum, 
 the dentist may authorize the dental hygienist to administer local anesthetics or nitrous oxide-
oxygen analgesia, or both, as appropriate, if the dental hygienist has received from the Board a 
certificate or permit certifying the hygienist for this level of administration. The dental hygienist 
must obtain the authorization from the licensed dentist of the patient on whom the services are to 
be performed. 
     5.  A dental hygienist in a health care facility may administer local intraoral 
chemotherapeutic agents and, if he or she has complied with paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 4, 
may administer local anesthetics or nitrous oxide-oxygen analgesia, or both, as appropriate, if he 
or she first: 
     (a) Obtains written authorization from the licensed dentist of the patient to whom the local 
anesthetics, nitrous oxide-oxygen analgesia or local intraoral chemotherapeutic agents are to be 
administered; and  
     (b) Submits to the Secretary-Treasurer a written confirmation from the director of the health 
care facility that the facility has licensed medical personnel and necessary emergency supplies 
and equipment that will be available when the local anesthetics, nitrous oxide-oxygen analgesia 
or local intraoral chemotherapeutic agents are administered. 
     6.  The Board may authorize a dental hygienist to perform the services set forth in subsection 
1 and paragraphs (a) to (n), inclusive, of subsection 2 without supervision by a dentist and 
without authorization from the licensed dentist of the patient on whom the services are to be 
performed, at a health facility, a school or a place in this State approved by the Board after the 
Board: 
     (a) Issues a special endorsement of the dental hygienist’s license. 
     (b) Approves the treatment protocol submitted by the dental hygienist which includes an 
explanation of the methods that the dental hygienist will use to:  
          (1) Treat patients; and 
          (2) Refer patients to a dentist for: 
               (I) Follow-up care;  
               (II) Diagnostic services; and 
               (III) Any service that the dental hygienist is not authorized to perform. 
     7.  The Board may revoke the authorization described in subsection 6 if the: 
     (a) Dental hygienist fails to renew his or her license or it is cancelled, suspended or revoked; 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 229

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec035
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec035


     (b) Board receives a complaint filed against the dental hygienist; 
     (c) Dental hygienist commits an act which constitutes a cause for disciplinary action; or 
     (d) Dental hygienist violates any provision of this chapter or chapter 631 of NRS. 
 Nothing in this subsection prohibits a dental hygienist from reapplying for authorization to 
perform the services described in subsection 6 if the Board revokes the authorization pursuant to 
this subsection. 
     8.  As used in this section: 
     (a) “Health care facility” has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 162A.740. 
     (b) “Health facility” has the meaning ascribed to it in subsection 6 of NRS 449.260. 
     (c) “School” means an elementary, secondary or postsecondary educational facility, public or 
private, in this State. 

1. To the extent that a dental hygienist with a special health endorsement pursuant 
subsection 6 of this section includes placement of silver diamine and glass ionomer in his or 
her treatment protocol pursuant to subsection 6(b), the dental hygienist must obtain ___ hours 
of education from the Nevada Division of Public and Behavioral Health, Oral Health 
Program prior to use of this treatment protocol regarding the proper placement of silver 
diamine and glass ionomer and must follow the Nevada Policy for the Application of Silver 
Diamine Fluoride by Licensed Public Health Endorsed Dental Hygienists, including the use 
of the informed consent contained therein, prepared by the Nevada Division of Public and 
Behavioral Health, Oral Health Program. 

 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XXIII, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 7-30-84; 4-3-89; 3-11-96; R154-
97, 1-14-98; R217-99, 4-3-2000; R231-03, 5-25-2004; R139-05, 12-29-2005; R066-11, 2-15-
2012; R119-15, 6-28-2016) 

     NAC 631.220  Dental assistants: Authorization to perform certain services; 
supervision by dental hygienist for certain purposes. (NRS 631.190, 631.313, 631.317) 
     1.  A dentist who is licensed in the State of Nevada may authorize a dental assistant in his or 
her employ and under his or her supervision to perform the following procedures before the 
patient is examined by the dentist: 
     (a) Expose radiographs; and  
     (b) Take impressions for the preparation of diagnostic models. 
     2.  A dentist who is licensed in the State of Nevada may authorize a dental assistant in his or 
her employ and under his or her supervision only to do one or more of the following procedures 
after the patient has been examined by the dentist: 
     (a) Retract a patient’s cheek, tongue or other tissue during a dental operation. 
     (b) Remove the debris that normally accumulates during or after a cleaning or operation by 
the dentist by using mouthwash, water, compressed air or suction. 
     (c) Place or remove a rubber dam and accessories used for its placement. 
     (d) Place and secure an orthodontic ligature. 
     (e) Remove sutures. 
     (f) Place and remove a periodontal pack. 
     (g) Remove excess cement from cemented restorations and orthodontic appliances. A dental 
assistant may not use a rotary cutting instrument to remove excess cement from restorations or 
orthodontic appliances. 
     (h) Administer a topical anesthetic in any form except aerosol.  
     (i) Train and instruct persons in the techniques of oral hygiene and preventive procedures. 

PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 230

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-162A.html#NRS162ASec740
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-449.html#NRS449Sec260
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec313
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec317


     (j) Take the following types of impressions: 
          (1) Those used for the preparation of counter or opposing models; 
          (2) Those used for the fabrication of temporary crowns or bridges; and 
          (3) Those used for the fabrication of temporary removable appliances, provided no 
missing teeth are replaced by those appliances. 
     (k) Fabricate and place temporary crowns and bridges. This procedure must be checked and 
approved by the supervising dentist before dismissal of the patient from the office of the dentist. 
     (l) Retract gingival tissue if the retraction cord contains no medicaments that have potential 
systemic side effects. 
     (m) Remove soft plaque and stain from exposed tooth surfaces, utilizing an appropriate 
rotary instrument with a rubber cup or brush and a suitable polishing agent. A licensed dentist or 
dental hygienist shall determine that the teeth to be polished are free of calculus or other 
extraneous material. 
     (n) Administer a topical fluoride. 
     (o) Apply pit and fissure sealant to the dentition for the prevention of decay. This procedure 
must be checked and approved by the supervising dentist before dismissal of the patient from the 
office of the dentist. 
     (p) Fit orthodontic bands and prepare teeth for orthodontic bands if the bands are cemented 
or bonded, or both, into the patient’s mouth by the dentist who authorized the dental assistant to 
perform this procedure. 
     3.  A dentist who is licensed in the State of Nevada may authorize a dental hygienist to 
supervise a dental assistant in the assistance of the hygienist’s performance of one or more of the 
following: 
     (a) Retract a patient’s cheek, tongue or other tissue during a dental operation. 
     (b) Remove the debris that normally accumulates during or after a cleaning or operation by 
the dental hygienist by using mouthwash, water, compressed air or suction. 
     (c) Train and instruct persons in the techniques of oral hygiene and preventive procedures. 
     (d) Remove soft plaque and stain from exposed tooth surfaces, utilizing an appropriate rotary 
instrument with a rubber cup or brush and a suitable polishing agent. A licensed dentist or dental 
hygienist shall determine that the teeth to be polished are free of calculus or other extraneous 
material. 
     (e) Administer a topical fluoride. 
     4.  A dental hygienist, who is authorized by the Board to perform the services described in 
subsection 6 of NAC 631.210, may authorize a dental assistant under his or her supervision to 
assist the hygienist in the performance of the services described in paragraphs (a) to (e), 
inclusive, of subsection 3. 
     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XXII, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 10-21-83; 10-7-85; PROPOSED

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 231

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec210


Agenda Item (7)(r):

Voluntary Surrender of License

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 232



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 233



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 234



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 235



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 236



Agenda Item (7)(s)(1)

Application to Reactivate License:
- Dr. Michael Husbands

Board Meeting - Public Book Page 237



Board Meeting - Public Book Page 238


	Item (4)(a): Draft Mins - CE Committee Mtg 8/25/20
	Item (4)(a): Draft Mins - IC Committee Mtg 8/26/20
	Item (6)(a): Advisory Opinion - DA's administering SDF
	Item (6)(b): OMS Residency Training Requirements NAC 631.257(1)
	Item (7)(b): Advisory Opinion - can a dentist inject neuromodulators & dermal fillers in neck/head region
	Item (7)(d): Advisory Opinion - provider to ask a parent/guardian to administer single use fluoride on child 
	item (7)(e): Senior Smiles
	Item (7)(f): Heavenly Smiles
	Item (7)(g)(1): IC Inspector App - Stacia Dimmitt, RDH
	Item (7)(g)(2): IC Inspector App - Jennifer Nightingale, RDH
	Item (7)(h): Proposed Changes to IC Inspector Application
	Item (7)(h): Current Application for IC Inspector
	Untitled
	Item (7)(i)(1): 8/04/20 CDC Guidelines
	Item (7)(i)(2): 8/28/20 CDC Guidelines
	Item (7)(j)(1): Dr. Kerry Davis CE Course - Dental Records
	Item (7)(j)(2): Dr. Davis  CE Course - Risk Management
	Item (7)(j)(3): Dr. Davis CE Course - Substance Abuse Prevention
	Item (7)(k): WREB - Interim Clinical Dental Exam
	WREB: Overview of 2021 Dental Exam & results of 2020 YTD
	WREB: Overview of 2021 Dental Hygiene Exam & Results for 2020 YTD
	Item (7)(l): ADEX Manikin in DH and Dental Perio Scaling
	Item (7)(m): ADEX Restorative Exam & Ltr from President of ADEX
	Item (7)(o) Advisory Opinion: Request for inclusion of dental providers to administer waived tests 
	Ltr of Support
	Additional information

	Item (7)(p): Proposed Regulation Changes
	item (7)(r): Voluntary Surrender
	Item (7)(s)(1): Reactivation Application - Dr. Michael Husbands



